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PART I

Item 1. Business

Busineii ss Overview

Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. (the “Company,” “we” or “us”) is one of the world’s leading vertically integrated producers,

marketers and distributors of high-quality fresh and freff sh-cut fruirr t and vegetabla es, as well as a leading producer and distributor

of prepared fruit and vegetables, juices, beverages and snacks in Europe, Africa and the Middle East. We market our producdd ts

worldwide primarily under the Del MontMM e® brand, a symbol of product innovation, quality, freshness and reliabia lity since 1892.

Our global sourcing and logistics network allows us to provide consistent delivery orr f high-quality products and value-added

services to our customers.

We have leading market positions in the folff lowing product categories and we believe we are:

� the largest marketer of frf esh pineappla es in the United States, and a leading marketer in other markets worldwide;

� the third-largest marketer of bananas in the United States, and a leading marketer in other markets worldwide; and

� a leading marketer of:

◦ fresh-cut fruff it in the United States, Canada, Japan, South Korea, and the United Kingdom;

◦ fresh-cut vegetables in North America, South Korea, KuwKK ait, United Arab Ea mirates, Japan, and Saudi Arabia a;

◦ avocados in the United States; and

◦ canned fruff it in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East.

Our vision is to inspire healthy lifesff tyles through wholesome and convenient products. Our strategy is founded on six goals:
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Our business is comprised of three reportabla e segments, two of which represent our primary businesses of freff sh and value-

added products and banana, and one that represents our other ancillary businesses.

� Fresh and value-added products - includes pineapples, freff sh-cut fruirr t, fresh-cut vegetabla es (which includes freff sh-cut

salads), melons, vegetables, non-tropical fruirr t (which includes grapea s, apples, citrusrr , blueberries, strawberries, pears,

peaches, plums, nectarines, cherries and kiwis), other fruff it and vegetables, avocados, and prepared foods (which

includes prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, other beverages, and meals and snacks).

� Banana

� Other products and services - includes our third-party freff ight and logistic services business and our Jordanian poultryrr

and meats business.

We market and distribute our producdd ts to retail stores, club su tores, convenience stores, wholesalers, distributors and foodservice

operators in more than 80 countries around the world. North America is our largest market, accounting forff 60% of our net sales

in 2023. Our other majoa r markets are Europe, the Middle East (which includes North Afriff ca) and Asia. Our net sales by region

for the year 2023 are depicted in the chart below.

We produce, source, distribute and market a broad array of freff sh produce, primarily under the Del MontMM e® brand, as well as
under other proprietary brands, such as UTCTT ®CC and Rosy®. We also produce, distribute and market prepared fruits and
vegetabla es, juices, beverages and snacks under the Del MontMM e® brand, as well as other proprietary brands, such as Just Juice®,
Fruitini®, Pinkglk ow®, Del Monte ZerZZ o™, HoneHH yge low®, Rubyglyy ow®, HoneHH y Me inMM iglow®, Bananinisii ®, and other regional
trademarks in Europe, Africa and the Middle East. We also distribute under the Mann Packing famff ily of brands in North

America including Mann™, Mann's L' ogo®, Arcadian Harvest®, Nourish Bowls®, Broccolini®, Caulilini®, Better Burger Leaf®ff
and Romaleaf®ff .

Our distribution centers and freff sh-cut facilities address the growing demand from supermarket chains, club stores, convenience

stores, foodsff ervice providers, mass merchandisers and independent grocers to provide value-added services, including the

preparation of freff sh-cut produce, ripening, customized sorting and packing, just-in-time and direct-store-delivery arr nd in-store

merchandising and promotional support. Large national and global chains are increasingly choosing fewff er supplu iers who can

serve all of their needs on a national basis. We believe that there is a significant opportunity for a company like ours with a fulff l

fresh and fresh-cut produce line, well-recognized brands, a consistent supplu y of quality produce and a global distribution

network to become the preferred supplier to these large retail, convenience store, and foodsff ervice customers. We strive to

expand this statust by increasing our leading position in freff sh-cut produce, expanding our fresh fruit and vegetable business,

continuing to grow these value-added products and diversifying our other freff sh produce selections.
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Sourcingii and ProPP ductiott n

A graphia c depicting our geographic sales and sourcing operations as of the end of 2023 is shown below.

We source our fresh produce products primarily from Central and South America, North America, and the Philippines, and our

prepared food products from Africa, Europe, and the Middle East. We also produce, market and distribute certain prepared fooff d

producdd ts in North America based on our agreement with Del Monte Pacific Limited and its subsu idiary Del Monte Foods, Inc.

Our products are sourced froff m company-controlled operations and through supplu y contracts with independent producdd ers. In

2023, 49% of the freff sh produce we sold was grown on company-controlled farff ms and the remaining 51% was acquired

primarily through supplu y contracts with independent growers. Costa Rica is our most significant sourcing location representing

approximately 36% of our total sales volume of freff sh producd e products and where 36% of our property, plant and equipment

was located in 2023.

Fresh and value-addeddd productsttp

Our freff sh and value-added products segment includes sales of the folff lowing product categories:

Fresh-cut produce (fr(( esh-cut fruff it and fresh-cut vegetables)s

Our freff sh-cut producd e sales in 2023 represented 20% of our total net sales. Our largest selling market forff our fresh-cut producdd ts

was North America which accounted for 71% of our fresh-cut fruirr t sales and 83% of our fresh-cut vegetabla e sales in 2023. We

also sold fresh-cut produce in Europe, Asia, and the Middle East.

We believe that the freff sh-cut produce market continues to be one of the fasff test-growing categories in the fresh producd e

industry,rr largely dued to consumer trends favoring healthy, fresh and conveniently packaged ready-to-eat foods. While packaged

salads continue to lead the category orr f freff sh-cut producd e sales, the category hrr as expanded significantly to include pineapples,

melons, mangoes, grapes, citrusrr and assorted vegetable produce items that are washed, cut and packaged in a ready-to-use forff m.

Within this market, we believe that there is diffeff rentiation between companies active primarily in the packaged salad market

and other companies, like us, that can offeff r a wide variety of value-added conventional and organic freff sh-cut fruit and vegetable

items.

Our freff sh-cut fruit products include pineapples, melons, grapea s, citrusrr , appla es, mangoes, kiwis and other fruff it items. We believe

that our experience in this market coupled with our sourcing and logistics capabilities and the Del MontMM e® brand have enabla ed

us to become a leading supplier of freff sh-cut fruit to the supermarket, convenience and club su tore channels in the United States.

Our offerings in North America also include a broad variety of freff sh and freff sh-cut vegetabla e products since our acquisition of

Mann Packing in 2018. During 2022, we completed our integration of Mann Packing, providing the business with full access to
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our North America resources and logistics network. We believe the completed integration will allow us to leverage our existing

distribution network and infraff structurt e to expand the market reach of our Mann Packing famff ily of products, while enhancing

our ability to better serve our integrated customers and address consumers' needs forff healthier foodsff .

The majority of fresh-cut produce is sold to consumers through retail and club su tore settings, as well as non-conventional

settings such as e-commerce, convenience stores, and airports. We believe that outsourcing by food retailers will increase,

particularly as food safety regulations become more stringent and retailers demand more value-added services. We believe that

this trend should benefitff large branded suppliers like us, who are better positioned to invest in state-of-tff he-art fresh-cut

facilities, food safety systems and to service regional, national and global chains and foodservice operators, as well as

supeu rcenters, mass merchandisers, club su tores and convenience stores. We also believe that large branded suppliers benefit froff m

merchandising, branding and other marketing strategies forff fresh-cut products, similar to those used forff branded processed foodff

products, which depend subsu tantially on product diffeff rentiation.

The fruff it we use in our fresh-cut operations are sourced within our integrated system of company-controlled farff ms and fromff

GAP-certifieff d (good agricultural practices) independent growers. We purchase our vegetabla es from independent growers

principally in the United States and Mexico. Our purchase contracts forff both fruff it and vegetables are typically short-term and

vary by produce item.

Pineapples

We believe that we are the leading marketer of freff sh pineapples in the United States and a leading marketer worldwide based on

internally generated data. Our pineapple net sales in 2023 represented 14% of our total net sales, and were primarily

concentrated in North America (accounting forff 61% of our total pineapple sales), followed by Europe (22%), Asia (11%), and

the Middle East (6%).

Our Del MontMM e Goldll ®dd Extra Sweet pineapple, which was launched in 1996 as a then-new variety, has an enhanced taste, golden

shell color, and bright yellow fleff sh and has replaced other traditional pineapple varieties in popularity and demand. The

production and sale of premium pineapples in the market has also led to increased competition. In recent years, we have

continued our effoff rts to innovate our product lines, including with the launch of our proprietary Pinkglk ow® pineapple in 2020

and with the relaunch of our Honeyge low® pineapple in 2021. In 2022, as a furff ther showcase of our diverse product line in the

pineapple space, we announced the launch of our Del MontMM e ZerZZ o™ carbon neutral pineapple, which provides consumers with a

unique opportunity to supporu t climate-conscious producdd e. This new pineapple product line extension, which launched in North

America and select European markets in 2023, is grown in Costa Rica and has been certifieff d as sustainably grown by a third-

party certificff ation body. In January 2024, we launched our Rubyglyy ow® pineapple, debuting exclusively in China, which feaff tures

a red exterior and bright yellow flesh as part of our expansion into the market.

Pineapples are grown in tropical and sub-tropical locations. The principal production and procurement areas for our pineapples

are Costa Rica, the Philippines, and Kenya.

Pineapples have a long growing cycle of 18 months and require re-cultivation after one to two harvests. Growing pineapple

requires a higher level of capital investment, as well as greater agricultural expertise as compared to bananas. Given the

complexity of pineapple cultivation relative to our bananas, a higher percentage of the freff sh pineapples we sell (74% by volume

in 2023) is produced on company-controlled farms.

Avocados

Avocado net sales represented 6% of our total net sales durdd ing 2023. Avocados are one of the fasff test growing produce items in

the United States. According to a USDA report, the quantity of avocados availabla e per person, a proxy for consumption, has

tripled over the past two decades. Additionally, publications by The Packer over the most recent three years indicate that an

average of appra oximately 39% of consumers in the U.S. purchased avocados over the same time period.

In 2021, we announced the arrival of our Goodvocado avocados, a pack of various sized avocados that naturally range from

small to large, and that allow consumers to customize their use of avocados and discover new ways to incorporate them into

their everyday cuisine. During 2022 and 2023, we continued our effoff rts in the area of avocado predictability, combining the use

of artificff ial intelligence and our data library to develop technology that can help forecast avocado pricing.

Our avocados are sourced principally from Mexico where we have our own sourcing operations and sorting and packing

facility, ensuring a consistent supplu y of high-quality avocados year-round. We also obtain our supplu y of avocados from

independent growers in the United States and Peru.rr
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Prepared Foods

We have a royalty-free, perpetuat l license to use the Del MontMM e® trademark in connection with the producd tion, manufacturtt e, sale

and distribution of prepared food,ff including beverages, in over 100 countries throughout Europe, Africa, the Middle East and

certain Central Asian countries. We can also produce, market and distribute certain prepared food products in North America

based on our agreement with Del Monte Pacificff Limited. The Del MontMM e® brand has a reputation with both consumers and

retailers forff value, quality and reliabia lity and is considered a premier brand in many Western European markets. In addition to

under the Del MonMM te® labea l, our prepared food products are also sold under the buyers’ own private label for major retailers.

Our prepared foodff products include prepared pineapple, peaches, fruff it cocktail, pears, tomatoes, and other fruff its and vegetables,

as well as fruit juices, various meals and snacks, and industrial products such as fruit in the forff m of purees, pulps and

concentrates for furff ther processing. In North America, we also produce and market an array of prepared vegetable offeff rings

such as vegetabla e trays with dip, salad kids, Nourish Bowls®, and ready-to-use veggie kits created for air fryers.

Our prepared pineappla e products are primarily sourced from our facility in Kenya while our prepared deciduous and tomato

producdd ts are primarily sourced from our facility in Greece and from independent producers. We expect to continue investing in

new product development to increase revenue and maintain market leadership in our prepared foods category.rr

Banana

Bananas are the leading internationally traded fresh fruirr t in terms of volume and dollar sales and one of the best-selling fresh

fruits in the United States. According to a 2023 publication by The Packer, bananas were the most popular item in the produce

department, purchased by 63% of consumers in the U.S. over the past twelve months.

We believe that we are the third-largest marketer of bananas in the United States and a leading marketer in other markets

worldwide, based on internally generated data. Our banana net sales in 2023 represented 38% of our total net sales, and were

primarily concentrated in North America (accounting forff 49% of our total banana sales), followed by Europe (23%), Asia

(18%), and the Middle East (8%). Our abia lity to provide our customers with a year-round supplu y of high-quality Del MontMM e®

bananas is important to maintaining our existing customer relationships and attracting new customers. Our position as a volume

shipper of bananas has also allowed us to make regular shipments of a wide array of other fresh produce, such as pineapples,

melons and plantains, and has enabla ed us to expand our third-party ocean freight services, thereby reducing our average per-box

logistics costs and maintaining higher quality produce with a longer shelf life.ff

Bananas have a relatively short growing cycle and are grown in tropical locations with humid climates and heavy rainfalff l, such

as Central and South America, the Caribbean, Asia and Afriff ca. Bananas are grown throughout the year in these locations,

although demand and prices fluctuate based on the relative supply of bananas and the availabia lity of seasonal and alternative

fruit.

We produce bananas on company-controlled farff ms in Costa Rica, Guatemala, the Philippines, Panama and Brazil, and we

purchase bananas from independent growers in Guatemala, the Philippines, Ecuador, and Colombia. In 2023, we produced

approximately 47% of the banana volume we sold on company-controlled farff ms, and we purchased the remainder fromff

independent growers. Although our supplu y contracts are primarily long-term, we also make purchases in the spot market,

primarily in Ecuador. In Ecuador and Costa Rica, there are minimum export prices for the sale of bananas, which are

establa ished and reviewed on a periodic basis by the respective governments.

In the Philippines, we purchase the majoa rity of our bananas through long-term contracts with independent growers.

Approximately 84% of our Philippine-sourced bananas are supplu ied by one grower, representing 12% of the Philippines banana

industry vrr olume in 2023. In the Philippines, we have leased approximately 4,000 hectares of land where we have planted

approximately 3,055 hectares of bananas forff the Asia and the Middle East markets.

Additionally, in early 2023 we announced a multi-year collabora ation agreement with a United Arab Ea mirates-based ("UAE")

firm to supplu y our Middle East and North Africa markets with bananas grown in Somalia, which is expected to begin in 2025.

During the late 1980s and early 1990s, Somalia was a main hub for banana exports to these regions.

Othett r ProPP ducts att nd Services

Included in our other products and services segment is our third-party freff ight and logistic services business and our Jordanian

poultry arr nd meats business.
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Our third-party freight and logistic services business leverages our supplu y chain assets, including our shipping vessels,

warehouses and cold storage infrastrucrr ture as part of our effoff rts to expand our portfolff io of services. Our third-party ocean

freight services business, which we rebranded as “Network Shipping” during 2022, operates as a hybrid shipping line/cargo

owner and seeks to offer customers flexible and dependabla e access to routes between Costa Rica, Ecuador, Guatemala, Peru and

the U.S. Our six refriff gerated container vessels, which were delivered in 2020 and 2021, have allowed us to continue expanding

this ancillary business, and provide meaningfulff contribution to our profitaff bia lity in 2022 and 2023 which we expect to continue

in future periods. The business began by allowing us to optimize the excess capacity on our ships’ outboundt and returtt n voyages

to and froff m our product sourcing locations as a way to generate incremental revenue and reducd e our overall shipping costs. We

have opened agencies in the U.S., Guatemala, Costa Rica, Ecuador and Peru trr o support the expansion of this business and better

serve our customers, including by enabling better end-to-end solutions such as cold storage services at port locations and cross-

docking services in addition to our ocean freight services.

In addition, during 2022 we announced a range of new logistic services in North America, including inland freight, cross-

docking, cold storage and warehousing services in an effoff rt to further leverage our supplu y chain network within the region and

optimize the productivity of our assets.

Our Jordanian poultry arr nd meats business includes a vertically integrated poultry brr usiness, including poultry frr arff ms, hatcheries,

a feedff mill, a slaughterhouse and a meat processing plant.

Logio stii ictt s OpeOO rations

We conduct complex logistics operations on a global basis, transporting our products from the countries in which they are

grown to the many markets in which they are sold worldwide. Maintaining fresh produce at the appropriate temperaturt e is an

important factor in preventing premature ripening and optimizing product quality and freff shness. Consistent with our reputation

for high-quality fresh produce, we must preserve our fresh produce in a continuous temperaturtt e-controlled environment, fromff

the harvest through to distribution.

We have an integrated logistics network, which includes land and sea transportation through a broad range of refrigerated

environments on ships, port faciff lities, containers, trucks and warehouses. Our logistics system is supported by various

information systems. Our objective is to maximize use of our logistics network to lower our average per-box logistics cost,

while remaining suffiff ciently flexible to redeploy capacity or shipments to meet fluctuations in demand in our key markets.

Because logistics costs are also our largest expense other than our cost of products, we devote substantial resources to

optimizing our logistics network.

As of the year ended 2023, we transported our fresh produce to markets using our fleet of two chartered and ten owned ships,

and fourff port faciff lities in the United States. We operated 38 distribution centers globally, generally with cold storage and

banana ripening facilities in our key markets worldwide, including the United States, Canada, South Korea, the United Arab

Emirates, Saudi Arabia and Hong Kong. We also operated 25 freff sh-cut facilities in the United States, the United Kingdom,

Japaa n, South Korea, the United Arab Ea mirates, KuwKK ait, and Saudi Arabia, some of which are located within our distribution

centers. In addition, we own or lease other related equipment, including approximately 355 trucrr ks and refriff gerated trailers used

to transport our fresh produce in the United States. In the Middle East, we own or lease appra oximately 94 trucrr ks used to deliver

fresh produce and prepared food products to customers.

We transport our fresh produce using our fleet of two chartered refrigerated ships and ten owned ships and also transport our

producdd ts to destinations around the world using third-party container lines that cover destinations that we do not service directly

with our own fleff et. Included in our ten owned ships are six refriff gerated container ships that we received in 2020 and 2021.

These fueff l-effiff cient vessels have allowed us to continue generating logistics cost savings, expanding our third-party ocean

freight business, and ensuring the freshness and quality of our products. We also operate a fleff et of approximately 11,000

refrigerated containers.

We believe that our control of the logistics process is a competitive advantage, including from a sales and marketing

perspective. For example, because we are abla e to maintain the quality of our fresh produce in a continuous temperaturet -

controlled environment, we are under less pressure to fully sell a shipment prior to its arrival at port. This allows us to manage

the timing of our sales to optimize our margins. Our abia lity to off-lff oad shipments for cold storage and distribution throughout

our network also improves ship utilization by minimizing in-port docking time. In addition, our logistics network enables us to

continuously monitor and maintain the quality of our produce, ensure timely and regular distribution to customers on a year-

round basis, and manage our inventory arr mong distribution centers, as needed, to effectively respond to changes in market

demand.
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Sales and Marketintt g

The Del MontMM e® brand has been used to identify pff remium produce products for over 125 years and is recognized by consumers

worldwide forff quality, freff shness and reliabia lity. We employ a variety of marketing tools, including advertising, public relations

and promotions to reinforce our brand equity with consumers and the trade. Depending on the product and market, we also

provide technical, logistical and merchandising supporu t aimed at safegff uarding the supeu rior quality of our producd ts to the

ultimate consumer. Our sales and marketing activities are conducted by our sales forff ce located at our sales offices worldwide

and at each of our distribution centers. Our commercial efforff ts are supported by marketing professionals located in key markets

and regional offices. A key element of our sales and marketing strategy is to use our distribution centers and freff sh-cut facilities

to provide value-added services to our customers. We actively support our customers through technical training in the handling

of fresh produce, category mrr anagement, in-store merchandising supporu t, joint promotional activities, market research, inventoryrr

and other logistical supporu t.

The level of marketing investment necessary to supporu t the prepared foods business is significantly higher than that required forff

the freff sh produce and fresh-cut fruit and vegetable business. We use a variety of promotional tools to build the Del Monte®

brand and engage consumers in key markets in Europe, Afriff ca and the Middle East. In certain European markets, we use

distributors to perform product distribution, sales and marketing activities forff the prepared foodsff business. Under these

distribution agreements, the sales, warehousing, logistics, marketing and promotion funcff tions are all performed by the

distributor. This strategy of utilizing independent distributors enabla es us to reduce distribution, sales and marketing expenses

while allowing us to penetrate additional markets.

During 2023, one customer, Walmart, Inc. (including its affiliates), accounted for appra oximately 9% of our total net sales.

These sales are reported in our banana and freff sh and value-added products segments. No customer accounted for 10% or more

of our net sales in 2023. In 2023, our top 10 customers accounted for appra oximately 31% of our net sales.

North Att merica

In 2023, 60% of our net sales were in North America where we have established a highly integrated sales and marketing

network that builds on our ability to control transportation and distribution throughout our extensive logistics network. We

operate a total of 27 distribution centers and freff sh-cut facilities within North America. Our distribution centers have ripening

capaa bia lities and/or other value-added services. Within North America we also operate four port faciff lities, which include cold

storage capabilities, and own an avocado packing faciff lity in Uruapan, Mexico.

We have sales professionals in locations throughout the United States and Canada. We sell to leading grocery srr tores and other

retail chains, wholesalers, mass merchandisers, supercenters, foodsff ervice operators, club su tores, convenience stores and

distributors in North America. These large customers typically take delivery orr f our products at the port faciff lities, which we refer

to as FOB delivery.rr We also service these customers, as well as an increasing number of smaller regional chains and

independent grocers, through our distribution centers.

Europeo

In 2023, 19% of our net sales were in Europe where we distribute our fresh produce and prepared food products. Our fresh

produce products are distributed to leading retail chains, smaller regional customers as well as to wholesalers and distributors

through direct sales and distribution centers. In the United Kingdom, we have a sales offiff ce in Staines, England and operate a

fresh-cut facility in Wisbech, England. In France, since late 2021, we have outsourced our fresh-cut production and banana

ripening activities to third-parties, while our sales and marketing funcff tion is performed internally. Similarly, in Germany, our

sales and marketing funff ction is performed internally and our ripening operations were outsourced to a service provider

beginning in 2022. In the Netherlands, Spain, Portugal, Italy and Poland, we have sales and marketing entities that perform

direct sales of our fresh produce products.

Our prepared foodff products are distributed through independent distributors throughout most of Europe. In the United

Kingdom, our prepared food products are distributed using a combination of both independent distributors and our own

marketing entity. Our prepared foods activity in Germany and France has been performed via direct sales to the retail channel

through our own sales and marketing entity.
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Middle East and North Att frA ica

In 2023, 9% of our net sales were in the Middle East and North Africa. In this region, we distribute our products through

independent distributors and company-operated distribution faciff lities.

Our leased distribution and manufactff urt ing center in Dubai, UAE has just-in-time delivery crr apabilities and includes freff sh-cut

fruit and vegetable operations, an ultra-fresh juice manufactff urtt ing operation and prepared foods distribution. In Saudi Arabia,

through our 60%-owned joint venture, we lease two distribution centers with fresh-cut fruit, vegetabla e and salad operations, and

prepared foods manufacturt ing of froff zen potatoes, ultra-fresh juices, and freshly prepared sandwiches. One of the distribution

centers is located in Riyadh, the capital city of Saudi Arabia, and the other distribution center is located in Jeddah, the second

largest city in Saudi Arabia.

In the UAE and in Saudi Arabia, we also distribute our producd ts using our own innovative retail concept through our Food and

Beverage (F&B) stores. These F&B stores are small retail kiosks selling our fresh-cut produce, juice and other prepared foodff

products and are strategically located in airports, schools, hospitals and inside hyper-markets.

In Jordan, we own a vertically integrated poultry brr usiness including poultry frr arff ms, hatcheries, a feedff mill, a slaughterhouse and

a meat processing plant. As part of our vertical integration and expansion strategy in this region, we developed a 10-hectare

ultra-modern hydroponic greenhouse in Jordan to supply lettuce to our fresh-cut facilities, and where we also have a freff sh-cut

processing center forff supplu ying lettuce to the Jordan market. We have one F&B store in Jordan.

In Qatar, we have a sales and marketing office to serve the expanding brand presence in the country and an F&B store located

at the Doha airporrr t. In Turkey, our sales office located in Mersin is responsible for sourcing various types of fruff it serving our

units across the region in addition to selling and distributing a range of prepared food products to distributors. We have an F&B

store in KuwKK ait in addition to a leased facility to service the Kuwaiti market with our fresh produce products and freff sh-cut fruirr t,

fresh-cut vegetabla es and salads. In Tunisia, we have an offiff ce giving us presence in the North Afriff ca region, which imports

fresh produce products to sell in the local market. We also have an office in Morocco, which distributes our products locally

and exports locally-sourced freff sh produce, allowing us to further expand our coverage in the North Afriff ca Region. We believe

that the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asian countries represent an area forff sales growth and development of our fresh

and prepared foodff products. Utilizing our extensive knowledge of this region, we plan to continue capitalizing on this

opportunity with increased focff us in these markets.

Asia

In 2023, 10% of our net sales were in Asia. We distribute our producd ts in Asia through direct marketing and large distributors.

Our principal markets in this region are Japaa n, South Korea, mainland China and Hong Kong.

� In Japan, we distributed 100% of the products we sold in 2023 through our own direct sales and marketing

organization and we operate three freff sh-cut facilities. Our products are distributed from fourff distribution centers

located at strategic ports in Japaa n, which include cold storage.

� In South Korea and Hong Kong, we engage in direct sales and marketing activities. In South Korea, we have three

distribution centers that utilize advanced ripening technology and which increase our ability to offeff r value-added

services to our customers. In South Korea, we also operate a freff sh-cut fruit and vegetable facility from which we

supplu y major foodservice customers. In Hong Kong, we have one distribution and banana ripening center.

� In other Asian markets, including mainland China, we sell to local distributors.

Qualityll Assurance

To ensure the consistent high quality of our products, we have quality assurance operations placed throughout our global

operations under the direction of our corporate quality assurance team. This quality assurance team maintains and enforces

detailed quality specificff ations for all our products so that they meet or exceed our high-quality standards and any appla icable

regulatory rrr equirements. Our specifications require extensive sampling of our fresh produce at each stage of the production and

distribution process using external appearance, internal quality, size, color, porosity, translucency, sweetness and other criteria.

Our goal is that only freff sh produce meeting our stringent quality specifications is sold under the Del MontMM e® and Mann™ brands.

We are abla e to maintain the high quality of our producdd ts by growing a subsu tantial portion of our own produce and working

closely with our independent growers. We insist that all produce supplied by our independent growers meet the same stringent

quality requirements as the produce grown on our farms. Accordingly, we monitor our independent growers to ensure that their

produce will meet our agricultural and quality control standards, offeff r technical assistance on certain aspects of producd tion and

packing and, in some cases, manage the farff ms. The quality assurance process begins on the farms and continues as harvested
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products enter our packing facff ilities. Where appra opriate, we cool the freff sh produce at our packing faciff lities to maximize quality

and optimize shelf life.ff

As an indication of our worldwide commitment to quality, food safety, and sustainabia lity, many of our operations are third party

certifieff d in globally recognized standards developed forff the safe aff nd sustainabla e production and distribution of quality foodsff .

These standards include the International Organization forff Standardization’s ISO 22000 (FSSC 22000) and the Global Food

Safety (GFS) Initiative benchmarked standards of Primus GFS, Global G.A.P, and we are in compliance with all components of

the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) Food Safety Modernization Act. All of our operations that produce or handle high

risk foods (tomatoes, melons or leafy gff reens) apply Hazard Analysis & Critical Control Points (“HACCP”) principles. HACCP

is a management system in which food safety is addressed through the analysis and control of biological, chemical and physical

hazard from raw material production, procurement and handling, to manufactff urt ing, distribution and consumption of the finished

product. Our certificff ation also includes SCS Global Services’ Sustainably Grown Certifieff d and the Sustainable Agriculturtt e

Network’s Rain Forest Alliance for sustainable agriculture and foodff production. Additionally, our Costa Rica banana operation

has been certifieff d as Carbonr Neutral by SCS Global Services since 2015, and our Costa Rica pineapple operation was recently

certifieff d as well. Taken together, these certificff ations reflect our commitment to quality and the strictest standards of foodff safety.

Competitiott n

The global freff sh produce industry irr s a highly competitive business, and the effeff ct of competition is intensified because of the

perishable nature of the products. We compete based on a variety of factff ors, including price, overall product quality, brand

recognition and customer loyalty, reliabia lity and consistency, effeff ctiveness of marketing and promotional activity, and the

ability to identify aff nd satisfy evolving consumer preferff ences. Our sales are also affeff cted by the availabia lity of seasonal and

alternative produce. While historically our main competitors have been multinational banana and pineapple producers, our

diversifieff d range of product offerings has resulted in additional competition froff m a variety of companies. These companies

include local and regional producers and distributors in each of our fresh produce and fresh-cut product categories.

The extent of competition varies by product. In the banana market, we continue to face competition froff m a limited number of

large multinational companies. At times, particularly when demand is greater than supplu y, we also face competition from a

large number of relatively small banana producers. Unlike the pineapple market, there are few barriers to entry into the banana

market. Supplies of bananas can be increased relatively quickly due to bananas having a short growing cycle and the limited

capia tal investment required forff banana growing. As a result of changes in supply and demand, plus seasonal factff ors, banana

prices fluctuate significantly.

In the pineapple category,rr we believe that the high degree of capital investment and cultivation expertise required, as well as the

longer length of the growing cycle, makes it relatively diffiff cult to enter the market. Our primary competitors in this category arr re

large multinational producers, as well as smaller exporters and importers. Our profitaff bia lity has depended significantly on the

sale of our Del MontMM e Goldll ®dd Extra Sweet pineapples.

The freff sh-cut produce market is highly fraff gmented, and we compete with a wide variety of local and regional distributors of

branded and unbranded freff sh-cut produce and, in the case of certain fresh-cut vegetabla es, a small number of large, branded

producers and distributors. However, we believe that our principal competitive opportunity is to capitalize on the growing trend

of retail chains and independent grocers to outsource their own on-premises fresh-cut operations. We believe that our sales

strategy, which emphasizes not only our existing sources of freff sh producd e, but also a fulff l range of value-added services, strict

compliance with food safety standards and our national distribution capability, positions us to increase our share of this market.

The prepared foodff products market is mature and characterized by high levels of competition and consumer awareness.

Consumer choices are driven by price and/or quality. Large retailers with their “buyers own labea l” (“BOL”) products appeal to

price-conscious consumers, while brand names are the key diffeff rentiator forff quality-focused consumers. In the prepared foodsff

markets in Europe, Afriff ca, North America, and the Middle East, we compete with various local producers, large retailers with

their BOL products, and large international branded companies. We believe we hold a leading market position in the branded

section of our prepared food products, specifically canned fruff it and pineapple, in many European countries. The mature state of

the market in Western Europe, together with the strength and sophistication of the large retailers there, account in part for the

increasing presence of BOL producdd ts in many food and beverage categories. In order to reducd e our costs and increase our

competitiveness in the prepared foods market, particularly in Europe, we use distributors in certain key European markets to

perform product distribution and sales and marketing activities. Under these arrangements, the sales, warehousing, logistics,

marketing and promotion funcff tions are all performed by the distributor.
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Government Regulatll iott n

As a producer and distributor of food products, we are subju ect to extensive government laws and regulations in the jurisdictions

where our produce is grown, where our facilities are located and where our products are distributed. We have internal policies

and procedurd es to comply with the most stringent regulations applicable to our products, as well as a technical staff tff o monitor

pesticide usage and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. We believe we are in material compliance with these laws

and regulations.

The countries in which we market a material amount of our products are the United States, the countries of the European Union

(EU), the United Kingdom, Japan, South Korea, and Saudi Arabia. The government regulations we are subject to include:

� sanitary rrr egulations, particularly in the United States and the EU;

� regulations governing pesticide use in all source countries and residued standards in all market countries, particularly in

the United States, Germany, Japaa n and South Korea;

� ongoing Endocrine Disruptrr or Assessment programs in the EU and United States which may potentially impact

availabia lity, use and residue tolerance of some pesticides; and

� regulations governing safetff y, traceability, packaging, and labeling, particularly in the United States where we are

subju ect to the Federal Food, Drug,rr and Cosmetic Act and the Food Safety Modernization Act, and in the EU, where

food safety policy is governed by the Farm to Fork Strategy which regulates food safety at all stages of the production

and distribution process for all food products marketed within the EU, whether produced within the EU or imported

from other countries. For further inforff mation about these regulations, please referff to the discussion in Item 1A. Riskii

Factorsrr , “We aWW re subject to regule ations concerning food safea ty and protection of ho ealth att nd the environment.”

We believe there has been an increasing emphasis on fooff d safetff y issues on the part of consumers, as well as retailers,

wholesalers, distributors and foodservice operators, which could result in our business and operations being subject to

increasingly stringent food safety regulations or guidelines.

Enviroii nmental Regulatll iott ns

The management, use and disposal of some chemicals and pesticides are inherent aspects of our production operations. These

activities and other aspects of production are subju ect to various environmental laws and regulations, depending upon the

country orr f operation. In addition, in some countries of operation, environmental laws can require the investigation and, if

necessary, remediation of contamination related to past or current operations. We are not a party to any dispute or legal

proceeding relating to environmental matters where we believe that the risk associated with the dispute or legal proceeding

would be material, except as described in Note 16, “Commitments and Contingencies” to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in Item 8. Financial StaSS tementstt and Supplementary Data.

Research and Developmll ent and Intellectual ProPP peo rtytt

Our research and development programs have led to improvements in agricultural and growing practices, as well as producd t

packaging and technology. These programs are directed mainly at reducing the cost and risk of pesticides by fostering the use

of natural biological agents to control pests and diseases, testing new varieties of our principal fruff it varieties forff improved crop

yield and resistance to diseases, and improving post-harvest handling. We have been seeking to increase the productivity of

low-grade soils for improved banana growth and experimenting with various other types of freff sh produce. Our research and

development efforts are conducted by our staff off f professionals and include studit es conducted in laboratories, as well as on-site

field analysis and experiments. We have research teams directing or actively involved in the development of new fruirr t varieties

in the United States, Costa Rica, and Brazil.

Some of the research and development projeo cts include:

� the development of the Del MontMM e Goldll ®dd Extra Sweet pineapple and other pineappla e and melon varieties,

including our proprietary Pinkglk ow® pineapple and Rubyglyy ow® pineapple (patented as Vintage Ruby™RR ); and

� improved irrigation methods and soil preparation forff melon planting
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In addition, during fisff cal 2021, we announced a partnership with Queensland University of Technology, located in Brisbane,

Australia, to lead innovation toward the development of disease-resistant bananas. The partnership will help to develop bananas

that are resistant to Tropical Race 4 (TR4), a serious vascular crop disease that affects one of our principal products, the

Cavendish variety of bananas.

We have the exclusive right to use the Del MontMM e® brand forff fresh fruit, fresh vegetables and other freff sh and freff sh-cut producd e

and certain other specified producdd ts on a royalty-free basis under a worldwide, perpetuatt l license from Del Monte Corporr ration,

an unaffiliated company that owns the Del MontMM e® trademark. Del Monte Corporr ration and several other unaffiliated companies

manufactff urt e, distribute and sell under the Del MontMM e® brand canned or processed fruff it, vegetabla es and other produce, as well as

dried fruff it, snacks and other products. Our licenses allow us to use the trademark “De“ l MontMM e®” and the words “De“ l MontMM e®” in

association with any design or logotype associated with the brand. The licenses also give us certain other trademarks and

trademark rights, on or in connection with the production, manufactff urt e, sale and distribution of freff sh fruit, fresh vegetabla es,

other freff sh produce and certain other specified products. In addition, the licenses allow us to use certain patents and trade

secrets in connection with the production, manufacff ture, sale and distribution of our fresh fruit, fresh vegetabla es, other fresh

produce and certain other specified products.

We have a royalty-free perperr tual license to use the Del MontMM e® trademark in connection with the production, manufacturtt e, sale

and distribution of all food and beverage products in Europe, Africa, and the Middle East and certain Central Asian countries.

We can also produce, market and distribute certain prepared food products in North America based on an agreement with Del

Monte Pacific utilizing the Del MontMM e® brand.

We sell produce under several other brands for which we have obtained registered trademarks, including UTCTT ®CC , Rosy®, Just

Juice®, Fruitini® and other regional brands.

We also sell products under the Mann Packing famff ily of brands including Mann™, Mann's L' ogo™, Arcadian Harvest®, Nourish

Bowlsll ®, Broccolini®, Caulilini®, Better Burger r Leafa ®ff and Romaleaf®ff .

Seasonalityll

Due to seasonal sales price fluff ctuat tions, we have historically realized a greater portion of our net sales and of our gross profit

during the first two calendar quarters of the year. The sales price of any freff sh produce item fluff ctuat tes throughout the year due to

the supply of and demand for that particular item, as well as the pricing and availabia lity of other freff sh produce items, many of

which are seasonal in naturt e. For example, the production of bananas is continuous throughout the year and production is

usually higher in the second half of the year, when the demand for bananas varies because of the availabia lity of other fruff it. As a

result, demand for bananas is seasonal and generally results in higher sales prices during the first six months of the calendar

year. We make most of our sales of non-tropical fruit from October to May.

These seasonal fluff ctuat tions are illustrated in the tabla e below, which presents certain unaudited quarterly financial information

for the periods indicated. The impact of seasonality on our financial results was atypical during fisff cal year 2022, particularly in

our banana segment, where market conditions led to a more significant portion of our gross profit being generated in the second

half of the year when compared with historical results. Specificff ally, banana gross profitff in the third and fourff th quarters of 2022

was positively impacted by higher per unit sales prices when compared to those typically realized during those quarters. The

higher per unit sales prices were driven by a combination of factors including inflation-ju- stifieff d price increases, fueff l and freight

surcharges within certain of our contracts, strategic sourcing decisions in response to market conditions which reducd ed excess

volume, and atypical seasonally low industry srr upply in certain markets. Our results in 2023 were consistent with historical

trends.
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Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Net sales:

First quarter $ 1,128.5 $ 1,136.9

Second quarter 1,180.5 1,211.9

Third quarter 1,003.1 1,053.5

Fourth quarter 1,008.6 1,040.0

Total $ 4,320.7 $ 4,442.3

Gross profit:

First quarter $ 97.0 $ 89.8

Second quarter 116.8 80.7

Third quarter 74.4 88.0

Fourth quarter 62.5 81.7

Total* $ 350.7 $ 340.2

*Due to rounding, the sum of the quarterly all mounts mtt ay not equal the reported amounts ftt orff the fulff l year.

Human CapCC ital ManMM agement

We believe in nurturing people, from consumers eating our products to our employees, suppliers, customers and the

communities in which we live and work.

Emplm oyees

Our employees are our greatest asset and are directly responsible for our success in delivering freff sh, quality producd ts to

consumers. Our current workforce is comprised of approximately 6,402 full-time, salaried employees and 25,485 full-time,

hourly employees. Additionally, as of December 29, 2023, we employed over 7,000 seasonal, hourly employees, who enable us

to pack our in-season fruff its and vegetables. Approximately 81% of our workforce is employed in production locations. We

provide our employees with competitive fixff ed and/or variable pay, and forff eligible employees, we currently provide access to

health and retirement benefitsff . In each of our regions, we work with local offiff cials to calculate fair wages forff our team

members. We are competitive with local practices, and on average, we pay abovea minimum wage at our farms in Central

America, Kenya, and the Philippines.

Diversirr ty and Inclusion

We strive to foster a culture of diversity and inclusion (“D&I”) so all employees feel respected and no employee feeff ls

discriminated against. We are proud of the diversity throughout our organization and especially in our leadership team, of

which 62% identify aff s Hispanic, 31% identify aff s Middle Eastern, and 8% identify aff s Caucasian. We embrace diversity

throughout our company as we have employees across multiple generations and many different backgrounds. In 2019, we

launched an internal diversity audit to better understand diversity, equity and inclusion within our organization. As a result of

feedbad ck from our 2020 diversity survey, in 2021, we added two new femff ale members to our board of directors. During 2021, a

formal council comprised of senior leadership worked to connect our D&I efforts with our overall business strategy to

communicate our goals, develop mechanisms to achieve those goals and track our progress. We believe a diverse workforce

fosters innovation and cultivates an environment of unique perspectives. As a result, D&I helps us meet the needs of our

customers around the world.

Engagement and Opporpp tunities

Evolving our culture to increase employee engagement and productivity is a primary focus of our strategic plan as we believe

an engaged workforff ce leads to a more innovative, productive and profitabla e company. Our employees are supported with

training and development opportunities to pursue their careers and support compliance with our policies. We also utilize a

centralized employee intranet to reach out to employees and allow them to stay connected, remain inforff med and communicate

their thoughts and values.
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Health

We supporu t the health and well-being of our employees by offeff ring health care benefitsff . While these benefitsff vary across our

different regions, we are competitive with local practices. We take a proactive appra oach to the health and well-being of our

communities by contributing to the development of health services and infraff structurt e. We also supportu many local

organizations and initiatives that promote healthy and active lifesff tyles, and sponsor local sports teams and organizations

throughout our regions.

Safetff ytt

We are committed to building a culture of safety with the goal of zero incidents. We enforff ce our Supplu ier Code of Conduct so

that our supplu iers uphold these standards and eliminate labor violations in our supplu y chain. We require that our key third-party

supplu iers are certifieff d against Global Food and Safety Initiative benchmarked standards or other standards needed to supporu t the

safety of their products and people. We are also supporting innovations to enhance soils, crop yields and resiliency to

strengthen our farmers’ livelihoods.

Community Outreach

In our communities around the world, we create more than just jobs; we help to increase access to healthcare and educd ation,

help develop infraff structurtt e, contribute to reducd ing fooff d insecurity and support resiliency and recovery when natural disasters

occur. We recognize that each community has unique needs, challenges and cultures, so we work with these communities

individually through local organizations and governments, to help develop initiatives that address some of their biggest

challenges. Our goal forff these programs is to support and foster lasting change. Although we prioritize a “bottom-up” approach

that gives our operating regions the responsibility for responding to the specific issues of local concern, our Community Fresh

Team steers our community outreach strategy with a focff us on five key pillars: (1) access to healthcare, (2) education, (3) clean

water and related infraff structurt e, (4) disaster relief, and (5) ending hunger and providing access to healthy foodsff .

Globally, we launch and supporu t a variety of projeo cts each year, froff m providing clean water, to funding schools, to planting

trees. We work together with our team members and communities to tackle the issues they face in each of the regions we are

proud to call home and are committed to doing all that we can to preserve, protect and grow programs and infrastructurt e that

help them thrive. Our effoff rts, to date, include:

� Planting and donating more than 1.6 million trees in our operations and our communities;

� Supporting 35,000 studett nts and aduld t learners with educd ational opportunities since 2018;

� Aiding in sanitation and health effoff rts across the globe, including recently supporu ting COVID-19 vaccination effortff s

in Kenya, Guatemala, and Costa Rica; and

� Donating resources to install electrical meters in Kenya which provided daytime electricity access to more than 1,800

housing units in the community.

Workfokk rce Governance

Our Board of Directors currently oversees all human capital resources. Our Governance Committee currently oversees our

policies and programs related to sustainabia lity, risk management, cybersecurity oversight, corporr rate social responsibility and the

environment. Additionally, our Compensation Committee is dedicated to carrying out incentive programs and working with our

employees to strategically align talent within the Company. Within our Compensation Committee, our Chief Human Resources

Offiff cer is responsible for advising and providing insight to best practices regarding human resource issues.

Availaii bilityii of Repoee rts att nd Addidd tioii nal InfII orff marr tion

Our legal name is Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc., and we use the commercial name Del Monte Fresh Produce. We are an

exempted holding company, incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on August 29, 1996. At December 29, 2023,

the close of our most recent fiscal year, members of the Abu-Ghazaleh family directly owned appra oximately 28.6% of our

outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Our principal executive office is located at P.O. Box 698, 4th Floor, Apollo House, 87 Mary Street, George Town, Grand

Cayman, KY1-1107, Cayman Islands. The address of our U.S. executive office is c/o Del Monte Fresh Produce Company, 241

Sevilla Avenue, Coral Gabla es, Florida 33134. Our telephone number at our U.S. executive office is (305) 520-8400. Our

Internet address is www.freshdelmonte.com. We make availabla e, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly

reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements on Schedule 14A and amendments to those materials
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filed or furff nished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange

Act”), on our website under “Investor Relations - SEC Filings,” as soon as reasonabla y practicable afteff r we fileff electronically

such material with, or furff nish it to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”). Information on

our website is not a part of this Report on Form 10-K. Copies of our annual report may be obtained, free of charge, upon written

request to Attention: Investor Relations, c/o Del Monte Fresh Produce Company, 241 Sevilla Avenue, Coral Gabla es, Florida

33134.

The volume data included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been obtained froff m our records. Except forff volume data forff

Fresh Del Monte, the market share, volume and consumption data contained in this annual report have been compiled by us

based uponu data and other information obtained froff m third-party sources and froff m our surveys of customers and other

company-compiled data. Except as otherwise indicated, volume data contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is shown in

millions of 40-pound equivalent boxes.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We are subject to many risks and uncertainties that may affeff ct our future financial performance and our stock price. Some of

the risks and uncertainties that may cause our financial performance to vary or that may materially or adversely affectff our

financial performance or stock price are discussed below.

Risks Related to Global Market Conditions

We may na ot be able tll o itt ncii rease prices to fully oll ffo seff t continued infii laff tionary pressures on various commoditieii s, raw matertt ials

and other costs,tt which may impact our finaii ncial conditioii n or resultsll of operations.

As a producer, marketer and distributor of produce, we rely on raw materials, packaging materials, labor, distribution resources

and transportation capacity. During recent years we have experienced elevated commodity and supply chain costs, including the

costs of raw materials, packaging materials, labor, energy, fuel, transportation and other inputs necessary for the production and

distribution of our products, and we expect continued inflaff tionary pressure on these costs in 2024. In addition, many of these

types of materials and costs are subject to price fluff ctuat tions related to a number of factff ors, other than inflaff tion, such as market

conditions, weather, energy costs, currency fluff ctuat tions, supplier capacities, regulatory crr hanges, governmental actions, import

and export requirements (including tariffs), regulatory crr hanges and acts of war or international confliff ct (such as the ongoing

conflicff t between Russia and Ukraine and shipping disruptrr ions in the Red Sea). The price and availabia lity of various

commodities can significantly affeff ct our costs. For example, the price of fueff l used in our shipping operations, including fuel

used in ships that we own or charter, is an important variable component of transportation costs.

Our attempts to offsff et these cost pressures, such as through increases in the selling prices of some of our products, may not be

successfulff . If we are unabla e to increase prices on products to offsff et elevated costs, our profitaff bia lity will suffer. Increased

product prices may result in reducdd tions in sales volume if consumers are less willing to pay a price differential forff our branded

products and instead elect to purchase lower-priced offeff rings or forgo some purchases altogether, durd ing an economic

downturn. To the extent that price increases are not sufficff ient to offsff et these increased costs adequately or in a timely manner or

if they result in significant decreases in sales volume, our business, financial condition or operating results may be adversely

affeff cted. Furthermore, we may not be able to offsff et any cost increases through productivity initiatives or through our

commodity hedging activity.

Our profio t mii argir nsii for many on f oo ur products,tt includindd g bananas, ps ineappla esll , as vocados and other fresh produce, are volatll ilett

and we may not be able tll o itt ncii rease prices to address cost incii reases.

Our profitabia lity depends on the profit margins and sale volumes of bananas, pineapples, avocados and other fresh produce.

Market prices of bananas, pineapples, avocados and other fresh produce are volatile and diffiff cult to predict because they are

affeff cted by various factors, including their availabia lity and quality in the marketplace, imbalances of supplu y and demand and

import regulations. In addition, a significant portion of our cost of goods for these products is production and logistics costs

which are based on, amongst others, the prices of fuel, labor, ferff tilizers, inland freight and packing materials, which are out of

our control. Consequently, increases in these costs materially and adversely affect our margins forff these products, including

increases due to the inflaff tionary pressures discussed abovea . If we are unabla e to increase our pricing to refleff ct these increased

costs our profitff margins will be adversely affected.

We have increased certain retail prices as a result of these increased costs. However, retail price increases may not suffiff ciently

reverse the reduced profitff margins and could result in loss of sales if our competitors do not also increase their prices. These

cost pressures will likely continue to negatively impact our profitaff bia lity in the futff urt e, and we cannot predict their extent or

duration.

Our indii ustry ir s hii ighlgg y cll ompem titivii e, which could adverserr ly affeff ct our profio taii bilityii .yy

The bananas, pineappla es, and other freff sh produce and value-added products markets are highly competitive, and the effeff ct of

competition is intensified because most of our products are perishabla e. Although the perishabia lity of fresh produce varies to a

certain degree by item, fresh produce is, as a general matter, highly perishabla e and must be brought to market and sold soon

afteff r harvest. To compete successfulff ly, we must strategically source fresh produce and value-added products of uniformly high

quality and sell and distribute them on a timely and regular basis. The extent of competition generally varies by product and is

influenced by various factors including price, producd t quality, brand recognition and customer loyalty, effectiveness of

marketing and promotional activity, and the ability to identify aff nd satisfy evolving consumer preferff ences.
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In the banana and pineapple markets, we primarily compete with a limited number of multinational and large regional

producers. For other fresh fruit and vegetable products, we compete with several small producers and regional competitors. The

fresh-cut produce market is highly fraff gmented, and we compete with multiple local and regional distributors of branded and

unbranded freff sh-cut produce and, for certain fresh-cut vegetabla es, a small number of large, branded producers and distributors.

The prepared foodsff markets are mature markets characterized by high levels of competition and consumer awareness. In

addition, our profitff ability has depended significantly on the sale of our Del MontMM e Goldll ®dd Extra Sweet pineapples. Increased

competition in the producd tion and sale of Del MontMM e Goldll ®dd Extra Sweet pineapples or our other product categories could

adversely affect our results.

Some of our competitors are also engaged in the development of new plant varieties and other foodff products and freff quently

introduce new products into the market. Existing products or products under development by our competitors could be more

effeff ctive, more resistant to disease or less costly than our products, which could have an adverse effect on the competitiveness

of our products and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We expect these competitive

pressures to continue. There is no assurance that we will continue to compete effectively with our present and futurt e

competitors.

Consolidll atdd iott n of ro etaitt leii rs, wholesll alerll s arr nd distii ritt butors in the foodff industrytt may ra esult ill n dii owdd nward pressure on sales

prices.

The foodff industry irr n the United States and in many international markets has significantly consolidated in the past twenty years

and continues to consolidate. For example, in October 2022, Kroger and Albertsons entered into an agreement to merge and in

August 2023 Aldi announced its agreement to acquire Winn-Dixie and Harveys Supermarket. Based on their increased size and

buying leverage as a result of consolidation, these entities (i) can exert significant downward pricing pressure on marketers and/

or distributors, such as us, which inhibits our ability to adequately respond to inflationary changes, (ii) can impose additional

costs on us that are the type typically borne by the retailer, wholesaler or distributor and (iii) have the abia lity to launch private

labea l foodff products that compete with us. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly manage these relationships, our financial results may

be materially and adversely affected.

We are subjeb ct to materiali currency ec xcee hange risks because our operatiott ns involve tratt nsactions denominatedtt in various

currencies, which could negate ivtt ely all ffea ct our opeo rating resultsll .

We conduct business around the world and regularly transact in foreign currencies. Consequently, our results of operations, as

expressed in U.S. dollars, may vary significantly because of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Such disparities are

particularly crucrr ial to our business because we incur a significant portion of our costs and our net sales in foreign currencies

(nearly 34% of our sales in fisff cal 2023). We are generally unable to adjud st our sales prices locally to compensate for

fluctuations in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar and a given foreign currency. There is also a time lag between the moment

we incur costs and the moment we collect payments for our producdd ts. We periodically utilize forff ward contracts to hedge against

a portion of our exposure to currency fluff ctuatt tions, but we may at times be unabla e to agree to favorable terms or agree to terms

that do not adequately offsff et currency fluctuations. Accordingly, if the U.S. dollar appra eciates relative to the foreign currencies

in which we receive sales proceeds, our operating results may be negatively affected. Our costs are also affeff cted by fluctuations

in the value, relative to U.S. dollar, of the currencies of the countries in which we have significant production operations. A

weaker U.S. dollar may result in increased costs of producd tion abra oad.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

The losll s of oo ne or more of our larll ger st customtt ers,rr or a reduction in tii hett level of purchases made by these customers, couldll

negate ivtt ely ill mpii act our sales and profitsff .

Sales to Walmart, Inc., our largest customer, amounted to approximately 9% of our total net sales in fisff cal 2023, and our top 10

customers collectively accounted for appra oximately 31% of our total net sales. We expect that a significant portion of our

revenues will continue to be derived froff m a small number of customers. We believe these customers make purchasing decisions

based on a combination of price, product quality, consumer demand, customer service performance, desired inventory lrr evels

and other factors that may be important to them. Changes in our customers' strategies or purchasing patterns, including a

reduction in the number of brands they carry, may adversely affecff t our sales. Customers may also reduce their purchases from

us because of price increases. Additionally, our customers may face financial diffiff culties, including bankruptrr cy, or disruptions

to their operations which may cause them to reduce their level of purchases from us or render them unabla e to satisfy their

outstanding credit balances on a timely basis. If sales of our producd ts to one or more of our largest customers are reducd ed or we

are unabla e to collect payment, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.
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Shortagett s of qo ualifieff d laborll , ir ncii reases in wagea and benefitff costs,tt changes in lii awll s and othett r laborll regue lations, as nd labor

disruii ptu iott ns could ill mpii act our finaii ncial resultsll and decrdd ease our profio taii bilityii .yy

The futff urtt e success of our operations, including the achievement of our strategic objectives, depends on our ability, and the

ability of third parties on which we rely to supplu y and to deliver our products, to identify,ff recruirr t, develop and retain qualified

and talented individuals. As a result, any shortage of qualified labora could significantly adversely affect our business. In the

current operating environment, we are experiencing a shortage of qualifieff d labor in certain geographies which is resulting in

increased costs. A continuation of such shortages forff a prolonged period could have a material adverse effeff ct on our

profitaff bia lity and our ability to grow.

We have significant labor-related expenses, including employee health benefits. Our ability to control our employee and related

labora costs is generally subju ect to numerous external factors, including shortages of qualifieff d labor, prevailing wage rates and

new or revised employment and labora regulations including changes in immigration laws in the U.S. and other key production

countries. Our operations are also subject to foreign, federal, state and local labora and immigration laws, including applicabla e

equal pay and minimum wage requirements, classification of employees, working and safetff y conditions and work authorization

requirements. Unfavorable changes in such employee and related labor costs could impact our business, results of operations

and finff ancial condition.

In addition, a material portion of our employees work under various syndicates, work councils, collective bargaining

agreements or other agreements with similar types of entities. Our inabia lity to maintain favorable relationships with these

entities could result in labor disputes, including work stoppages, which could have a material adverse effect on the portion of

our business affected by the dispute, our financial position, and our results of operations.

We are depdd endent on our relatll iott nshipsii withii key se upplpp iell rs to obtaitt n aii number of oo ur products.tt

We depend on independent growers and key suppliers to obtain products and raw materials. In the Philippines, we purchase

most of our bananas through long-term contracts with independent growers. Approximately 13% of our banana net sales in

2023 were supplu ied by one grower in the Philippines. Termination of our relationships with our key suppliers could adversely

affeff ct our business. Additionally, we may enter into seasonal purchase agreements committing us to purchase fixff ed quantities

of produce at fixed prices. We may suffer losses if we faiff l to sell such fixff ed quantities of produce. Any of these factors could

materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Disruii ptu iott n of oo ur supplu y cll hain could all dverserr ly affeff ct our business.

Damage or disruptrr ion to raw material supplies or our manufactff urt ing or distribution capabilities dued to weather, climate change,

natural disaster, fire, cyber-attacks, pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), regulatory crr hanges, governmental

restrictions, strikes, import/export restrictions, regulatory crr hanges, civil unrest, war, international conflicff t or other factors could

impair our ability to produce and sell our products. Our supplu iers' policies and practices can damage our reputation and the

quality and safetff y of our products. Disputes with significant suppliers, including disputes regarding pricing or performance,

could adversely affeff ct our ability to supplu y products to our customers and could materially and adversely affect our sales,

financial condition and results of operations. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such

events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, particularly when a product is manufactff urt ed from a single location,

could adversely affect our business and results of operations, as well as require additional resources to restore our supplu y chain.

Moreover, short-term or sustained increases in consumer demand may exceed our production capacity or otherwise strain our

supplu y chain. Our failure to meet the demand forff our products could adversely affect our business and the results of operations.

Our strategtt y ogg f do ivdd ersirr fyi ing our product lines, es xpanee dingii into new geogro aphic markets att nd increasingii the value-added

services that we provide tdd o ott ur customtt ers mrr ay not be successfulff .ll

We are diversifying our product lines through expansion of our service offerings to include a higher proportion of value-added

products and services, such as the preparation of freff sh-cut producd e, ripening, customized sorting and packing, direct-to-store

delivery arr nd in-store merchandising and promotional support. For instance, in January 2024, we announced the offering of our

Rubyglyy ow® pineapple, a red-shelled pineappla e, which is firff st being launched in China.

In addition, we have made significff ant investments in distribution centers, growing operations and prepared foodsff facilities

through capital expenditures, and have expanded our business into new geographic markets. We may not be successfulff in
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anticipating the demand for these value-added products and services, in establishing the requisite infrastructurt e to meet

customer demand or the provision of these value-added services. If we are unabla e to successfulff ly develop and integrate the

diversifieff d product lines in our fresh-cut and value-added vegetable categories or if demand forff these products does not meet

expectations, we may not realize all the anticipated synergies and benefits of our Mann Packing investments which could have

an adverse effect on our growth and our results of operations.

Some of our products ctt ontain geneticallyll modifii ed organr isms (“GMOsMM ”) or are gene-editedd d and we may ia n tii hett future need

to develop ao nd market such products based on adverserr market conditiodd ns.

As we continue to diversify off ur product lines, we may increasingly incorporrr ate products that may contain genetically modified

organisms (“GMOs”) or be gene-edited in varyirr ng proportions. For example, in 2020 we launched our proprietary Pinkglk ow®

pineapple, which is sourced froff m genetically modified pineapple plants. The success of these products will in large part depend

on the market acceptance of these products in the areas that we operate. In the future, we may be forced to utilize GMO or

gene-edited products in response to adverse market conditions, including disease, climate change or rising costs, if such

products are the only viable alternatives. For example, as a result of TR4 spreading into new growing regions, we may need to

deploy GMO or gene-edited bananas resistant to the disease to maintain a viable supplu y of bananas to our key markets. If

adverse public opinion about GMO or gene-edited products predominates, we may be unabla e to sell such products in certain

key markets, adversely affecting our business, financial condition and results of operations. For more information abouta TR4,

see “Riskii Factors -rr Our agricultural plantings are potentially subject to damage from crop diseii ase or insect infen stations, which

could all dverserr ly impacm t our operating results and financial condition.”

In recent years, the foodff industry hrr as been subju ect to negative publicity about the health implications of GMOs, added sugars,

trans fatff , salt, artificial growth hormones and ingredients sourced from foreign suppliers. Consumers may decide to purchase

fewer GMO produce producd ts or require us to meet stricter standards than are required by appla icable agencies, thereby

increasing the cost of production. Global regulatory arr gencies may also impose new restrictions on the use of GMOs. If adverse

public opinion about GMO or gene-edited products predominates, we may be unabla e to sell such innovative products in certain

of our key markets, adversely affecting our ability to diversify off ur business.

Demand for our products itt s sii ubjeb ct to changingii consumer preferff ences, as nd a reduction in dii emdd and forff any on ne or more of

our products ctt ould negate ivtt ely ill mpii act our sales and profitff s.tt

Consumer preferff ences for foodff products evolve over time. Shiftsff in consumer preferff ences that impact demand for our producdd ts

can result from several factors, including dietary trr rends, attention to nutritional aspects and concerns about the health effeff cts of

and the sourcing of ingredients. Our abia lity to market and sell our products successfulff ly in part depends on how we identify and

respond to such changes by offering products that appeal broadly to consumers considering current demands. Our competitors

may have a greater operating fleff xibility, which may permit them to better adapta to changes or to introduce new products and

packaging quicker and with greater marketing support. The demand forff our products may also be impacted by public

commentaries abouta our products or similar products, as well as by changes in the level of advertising or promotional support

that we employ or that are employed by relevant industry grr roups or third parties that provide competing products. If consumer

preferff ences trend negatively with respect to any one or more of our products, our sales volumes may decline as a result.

Adverdd serr perception, events or rumors relating to ott ur Del MonMM te® brand could have a matertt ial adverserr effeff ct on our

busineii ss.

We depend on the Del MonMM te® brand and other proprietary brands in marketing our products. Any events or rumors that cause

consumers and/or institutions to no longer associate these brands with high-quality and safe fff ooff d products may materially

adversely affect the value of our brand names and demand forff our products. Allegations involving the safetff y or security of our

facilities, employees, or other members of the public, even if untrue, that we are not respecting the human rights fouff nd in our

Human Rights Policy, which adheres to the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights; actuatt l or perceived failure

by our supplu iers or other business partners to comply with applicable labora and workplace rights laws, including child labora

laws and equal pay laws, or their actuat l or perceived abusa e or misuse of migrant workers or the like could negatively affecff t our

Company’s overall reputation and brand image, which in turn could have a negative impact on our products’ acceptance by

consumers or customers. For example, allegations regarding human rights violations have been made regarding our Kenya

subsu idiary. Any media coverage resulting therefrom, could create a negative public perception of our business, which in turt n

could have a negative impact on our products’ acceptance by consumers or customers.

Adverse inforff mation about our brand, whether or not truerr , may be instantly and easily posted on social media platforms at any

time. The harm may be immediate without affoff rding us an opportunity for redress or correction. We also share the Del MontMM e®
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brand with unaffiliated companies that manufactff urtt e, distribute and sell canned or processed fruff it and vegetables, dried fruiff t,

snacks and other products. Acts or omissions by these companies, including an instance of food-borne contamination or disease,

may adversely affect the value of the Del MontMM e® brand. As a result, our reputation and the value of the Del MontMM e® brand may

be adversely affected by negative consumer perception.

We rely on protecttt iott n of oo ur intellectual propeo rty att nd proprietary righi ts.

Our success also depends on our ability to protect our intellectuat l property rights. We rely primarily on patent, copyright,

trademark and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary trr echnologies. We protect our technology by, among other things,

filing patent appla ications for technology relating to the development of our business in the U.S., the EU and selected forff eign

jurisdictions. Our trademarks and brand names are registered in jurisdictions throughout the world. We intend to keep these

filings current and seek protection forff new trademarks to the extent consistent with business needs. We also rely on trade

secrets and proprietary know-how and confidff entiality agreements to protect our technologies and processes. The faiff lure of any

patents, trademarks, trade secrets or other intellectuatt l property rights to provide protection to our technologies would make it

easier forff our competitors to offeff r similar products, which could adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results

of operations.

We may na ot be able to successfulff lyll consummate and manage ongoingii acquisition, joint venture and business partnershrr ip

activities, which could have an adverserr impact on our resultsll .

Our growth strategy includes acquisitions and expansion. Accordingly, we may acquire other businesses or enter into joint

venturt es or other business partnerships froff m time to time. These types of transactions involve certain risks, including risks

related to:

� identifyiff ng appropriate acquisition candidates or business partners;

� potential diffiff culties in successfulff ly integrating acquired operations;

� the quality of products of an acquired businesses or business partners compared to the products we provide;

� any loss of key employees of acquired operations or any inabia lity to hire or retain key employees necessary to

integrate an acquired business or otherwise implement our growth strategy;

� potential diversion of our capital and management attention away froff m other important business matters;

� reputational and financial risks, such as potential unknown liabia lities of any acquired business;

� potential issues with the finff ancial disclosures, accounting practices or internal control systems of any acquired

business, joint venture or business partner; and

� in the case of joint venturt es and business partnerships, increased potential risks associated with the lesser degree of

control that we may be able to exert dued to the arrangements with our business partners.

We may incur additional costs and certain redundant expenses in connection with our acquisitions, which may have an adverse

impact on our financial results. Futurtt e acquisitions may result in dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of

additional debt, use of significant portions of our cash reserves, asset impairments (including charges related to goodwill and

other intangible assets) and restrucrr turing and other charges. The incurrence of debt in connection with any futff urett acquisitions

also could restrict our ability to obtain working capia tal or other financing necessary to operate our business. Our futff urt e

acquisitions or investments may not be successfulff , and if we fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or

investments, our business, operating results and finff ancial position could be harmed.

During 2023 and 2022, we made investments in unconsolidated companies within the food,ff nutrition, and agricultural

technology sectors, as well as in other minority investments. In the futff urt e, we may continue investing in similar companies that

align with our long-term strategy and vision. There can be no assurance that we will achieve returns or benefitsff from these

current or future investments. Under certain circumstances, significant declines in the faiff r values of these investments may

require the recognition of other-than-temporary irr mpairment losses. We may lose all or part of our investment relating to such

companies if their value decreases as a result of their finff ancial performance or for any other reason.

A sustained lack of profitaff bilitii y ctt ould cause us to itt ncii ur impairmii ent charges of our intii antt gibli e all nd long-lgg ivll ed assets and/or//

record valuatiott n allowances againsii t our defee rred taxtt assets.

If we incur operating losses forff a sustained period of time, the carrying value of our goodwill, other intangible assets and long-

lived assets could be impaired. We review for impairment annually or if indicators of impairment manifesff t. In particular, the

goodwill associated with our banana reporting unit and the goodwill, trade names, and trademarks associated with our prepared

foods reporting unit are highly sensitive to diffeff rences between estimated and actuat l cash floff ws and changes in the discount

rates used to evaluate their fair value. If these reporting units do not perform as expected, the goodwill and other intangible

assets associated with these reporting units may be at risk of impairment in the future. Additionally, we record impairments on
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long-lived assets, including definite-lived intangible assets, when indicators of impairment are present and the estimated

undiscounted cash floff ws of those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. Certain definite-lived intangible assets related

to our fresh and value-added products segment are sensitive to changes in estimated cash floff ws. If futff urt e developments result in

estimated cash floff ws that are less than currently estimated levels, these assets could be impaired. If incurred, future impairment

of our intangible and/or long-lived assets could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. During 2023, we

incurred impairment charges in our fresh and value-added products assets and prepared fooff ds reporting unit of $109.6 million

and $21.6 million, respectively, as a result of a decline in actuat l and projected performance and cash floff ws.

We record valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets if, bff ased on availabla e evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that all or

some portion of the assets will not be realized. The determination of whether our deferred tax assets are realizable requires us to

identify aff nd weigh all availabla e positive and negative evidence, including recent finff ancial performance and projeo cted future

income. If we are unabla e to generate suffiff cient income in jurisdictions where we have significant deferff red tax assets, we may be

required to record valuation allowances which would adversely affect our results of operations.

Any fn aiff luii re to adequateltt y sll tore, me aintii aitt n aii nd deliver quality ptt erishable fll oodsff could mll atertt ially adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss,s

finaii ncial conditioii n and operating resultsll .

Our abia lity to adequately store, maintain and deliver quality perishable foods is critical. We store highly perishabla e foodff

products in refrigerated fulff fillment centers and ship them to our customers while maintaining appra opriate temperaturt es in

transit. We use refriff gerated delivery trr rucks to support temperature control forff shipments to certain locations. However, delays in

our abia lity to ship or disruptrr ion in the distribution of our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial

condition and results of operations.

Keeping our food products at specific temperatures maintains freshness and enhances food safety. In the event of extended

power outages, naturtt al disasters or other catastrophic occurrences, faiff lures of the refrigeration systems in our fulfilff lment centers

or third-party delivery trr rucks, failure to use adequate packaging to maintain appra opriate temperaturt es, or other circumstances

both within and beyond our control, our inability to store perishabla e inventory arr t specific temperatures could result in

significant inventory lrr osses as well as increased risk of food safety. We also contract with third parties to conduct certain

fulfillmeff nt processes and operations on our behalf or to sell our product in a retail environment. Any faiff lure by such third party

to adequately store, maintain or transport perishabla e foodsff could negatively impact the safetff y, quality and merchantabia lity of

our products and the experience of our customers. The occurrence of any of these risks could materially adversely affecff t our

business, financial condition and operating results.

Regulatory Risks

We are subjeb ct to the risk of po roduct contamtt inatiott n and product liabilityii claill msii which could materiali lyll and adverserr ly affecff t

our resultsll and finff anciali conditdd iott n.

The sale of foodff products for human consumption involves the risk of injun ry to consumers. Such injun ries may result fromff

tampering by unauthorized personnel or quality issues such as product contamination or spoilage, including the presence of

foreign objects, subsu tances, chemicals or residued s introduced during the growing, packing, storage, handling or transportation

phases. The occurrence of any illnesses or injuries could have serious consequences on sales of our products, our brands and/or

our reputation, any of which could harm our business. We cannot be sure that consumption of our products will not cause a

health-related illness in the future, that we will not be subju ect to claims or lawsuits relating to such matters or that we will not

need to initiate recalls of our products in response to the foregoing. Even if a product liabia lity claim is unsuccessfulff , the

negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our producdd ts caused illness or injury crr ould adversely affect our reputation with

existing and potential customers and our brand image. In addition, claims or liabia lities of this sort might not be covered by our

insurance or by any rights of indemnity or contribution that we may have against third parties, including our customers and

supplu iers. We cannot be sure that we will not incur claims or liabia lities forff which we are not insured or that exceed the amount

of our insurance coverage, resulting in significant cash outlays that would materially and adversely affect our results and

financial condition. We also are subject to the risk of recall events of our competitors which could result in industry-rr wide

reputational loss or consumer avoidance of certain products.

We are subjeb ct to regue lations concerningii food safea ty and protectiott n of ho ealth att nd the environment.tt

Our business is regulated by foreign, federal, state and local environmental, health and safetff y laws and regulations, which

involve compliance costs. These regulations affeff ct daily operations and, to comply with all appla icable laws and regulations, we

have been and may be required in the future to modify our operations, purchase new equipment or make capital improvements.

Changes to our processes and procedurd es could impose unanticipated costs and/or materially impact our business. Violations of
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these laws and regulations can result in subsu tantial finff es or penalties. There is no assurance that these modifications and

improvements and any finff es or penalties would not have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of

operations.

We are also subject to the laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where our facilities are located and where our products are

distributed, including, but not limited to, the folff lowing:

� RulRR es and regulations implemented by the FDA, pursuant to the Federal Food, Drugrr and Cosmetic Act, as amended

by the Food Safetff y Modernization Act (“FSMA”), which has been active in implementing regulations to reduce the

risk of contamination in foodff manufactff urtt ing, such as the Foreign Supplu ier Verificff ation program, and enforcing such

regulations. For example, the FDA issued a finff al rule on additional traceability recordkeeping requirements, which

will be effeff ctive January 20, 2026, designed to faciff litate faster identificff ation and rapia d removal of potentially

contaminated food from the market;

� Regulations on imports and exports by the United States Department of Agriculture (the “USDA”);

� Food and safetff y laws issued by member states of the European Union (the "EU"), pursuant to the General Food Law

Regulation (EC No. 178/2002);

� Laws and regulations associated with the European Green Deal and EU’s General Food Law Regulation effortff to

create sustainable food systems, which could result in increased costs forff our business associated with compliance

with new laws and regulations; and

� Laws and regulations implemented by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency and other Canadian governmental

departments, which could disruptu our Canadian business, including, for example, requirements relating to import

licenses, traceability and food testing.

Our faiff lure to comply with these laws and regulations, or to obtain required appra ovals, could result in finff es, as well as a ban or

temporary srr uspension on the production of our producd ts or limit or bar their distribution, and affect our development of new

products, and thus materially adversely affect our business and operating results.

We are subjeb ct to legale and environmentaltt riskii s akk risiii ngii from the tratt nspors tation of oo ur products att nd our commercial

shippipp ngii and logill stii ictt s business thatt t could result in signi ificff ant cash outlatt ysa .

Our business and employment practices are also subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportation, as well as its

agencies, the Surface Transportation Board, the Federal Highway Administration, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety

Administration, and the National Highway Traffiff c Safetff y Administration, which collectively regulate our trucrr king business

through the regulation of operations, safetff y, insurance and hazardous materials. We must comply with the safetff y and fitness

regulations promulgated by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, including those relating to drug and alcohol

testing and hours of service. Such matters as weight and dimension of equipment also falff l under fedff eral and state regulations.

In addition, as an ocean logistics operator, we are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations in the U.S.,

as well as laws and regulations internationally, relating to safetff y, cabotage, and equipment standards that are costly to comply

with and expose us to liabia lity. We are also subju ect to environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to air quality

initiatives at port locations; air emissions; wastewater discharges; the transportation, handling and disposal of solid and

hazardous materials, oil and oil-related producd ts, hazardous subsu tances and wastes; the investigation and remediation of

contamination; and health, safetff y and the protection of the environment and natural resources. These laws and regulations

provide for substantial finff es, as well as criminal and civil penalties, in the event of any violations of, off r non-compliance with,

their requirements. We have in the past and in 2021 received notices from the Califorff nia Air Resource Board alleging violations

of certain Califorff nia anti-air pollution regulations by ships that were subject to a time charter by us froff m an unrelated non-U.S.

third party. While in the past we were abla e to settle matters forff an immaterial amount, mitigation strategies or contingency plans

to remain in compliance with such laws and regulations in the futff urt e may be unsuccessfulff or may result in additional costs

which could adversely affect our business. Further, any changes in appla icable laws and regulations, including their enforcement,

interpretation or implementation that result in more stringent requirements than currently anticipated, as well as any new laws

and regulations that are adopted could impose significant additional costs and limitations on our ability to operate.

Enviroii nmental, sociali and governance mattett rs and any related reporting obligll atiott ns may ia mpii act our busineii sses.

U.S. and international regulators, investors and other stakeholders are increasingly focff used on environmental, social and

governance matters. For example, new domestic and international laws and regulations relating to environmental, social and

governance matters, including environmental sustainability and climate change, human capital management and cybersecurity,

are under consideration or being adopted, which may include specific, target-driven disclosure requirements or obligations. Our
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response will require increased costs to comply, the implementation of new reporting processes, entailing additional compliance

risk, a skilled workforff ce and other incremental investments.

In addition, we have undertaken or announced a number of sustainability related goals and initiatives, such as investing in

traceability technology, which will require changes to operations and ongoing investments. There is no assurance that our

initiatives will achieve their intended outcomes or that we will achieve any of these goals. Our reputation could be impacted by

stakeholders’ perceptions of our sustainabia lity initiatives. Should we not meet stakeholders’ expectations or communicate our

effoff rts suffiff ciently, our reputation may be negatively impacted. In addition, our ability to implement some initiatives or achieve

some goals is dependent on external factors. For example, our ability to meet certain environmental sustainability goals or

initiatives will depend in part on third-party collabora ation, the availabia lity of supplu iers that can satisfy new requirements,

mitigation innovations and/or the availabia lity of economically feasible solutions at scale.

We are exposee ed to politicll al, ell conomic and othett r risks from operatintt g a multinll atiott nal business, which could have a matertt ial

adverserr effeff ct on our resultsll and finff anciali conditiodd n.

Our business is multinational and subju ect to the political, economic and other risks that are inherent in operating in numerous

countries, including:

� a change in laws and regulations or imposition of currency restrictions and other restraints;

� the imposition of import and export dutd ies and quotas;

� the risk that the government may expropriate assets;

� the imposition of burdensome tariffsff and quotas;

� political changes and economic crises that may lead to changes in the business environment where we operate;

� international conflicff ts and terrorist acts, which could impact our business, financial condition and results of

operations;

� potential criminal activities targeting our employees, property or business activities, such as theft,ff vandalism, or

physical attacks;

� public health epidemics, such as COVID-19, which could impact employees and the global economy;

� economic sanctions, which could disruptu our products, even if we do not sell directly into a sanctioned country;

� potential violations or alleged violations of laws, regulations, safetff y codes, employment practices, human rights

standards, anti-corruptu ions laws and other obligations, norms and ethical standards associated with our operations that

may result in litigation costs and damage to our reputation, even if we are ultimately not found responsible;

� changes in governmental agricultural policies such as price supporu ts and acreage set aside programs in the

jurisdictions where we conduct our significant growing operations; and

� economic downturt ns, political instabia lity, boycotts and war or civil disturbances that may disruptu our, our third-party

supplu iers' and our customers' production and distribution logistics or limit sales in individual markets.

Concerning the regulatory err nvironment, banana import regulations have previously restricted our access and increased the cost

of doing business. Costa Rica and Ecuador have establa ished “minimum” export prices forff bananas that are used as the referff ence

point in banana purchase contracts froff m independent producers, thus limiting our ability to negotiate lower purchase prices.

These minimum export price requirements could increase the cost of sourcing bananas in countries that have establa ished such

requirements.

We are also subject to a variety of sanitary regulations, regulations governing pesticide use and residued levels, and regulations

governing foodff safety, traceability, packaging and labea ling in countries where we source and market our products. If we faiff l to

comply with applicable regulations, we could be restricted froff m selling or shipping some or all our products for a given period.

Such a development could result in significant losses and could weaken our financial condition.

The enforff cement of ro egulatll iott ns concernirr ngii the markerr ting and labeling of fo oodff products ctt ould adverserr ly affecff t our

repuee tation.

The marketing and labea ling of foodff products have brought increased risk of consumer class action lawsuits, and risk that the

Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") and/or state attorneys general will bring legal action abouta the truth and accuracy of the

marketing and labea ling of the product. Such consumer class actions include fraud, unfaiff r trade practices and breach of state

consumer protection statutes, such as Proposition 65 in Califorff nia. The FTC and state attorneys general may bring legal actions

that seek removal of a product froff m the marketpltt ace and impose finff es and penalties. Even when not merited, these class action

claims and legal actions can be expensive to defenff d and could adversely affect our reputation, brand image, business and

operating results.
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The packaging and labea ling of our products, and their distribution and marketing, are also subjeb ct to regulation by governmental

authorities in each jurisdiction where our products are marketed. A faiff lure to comply with labea ling requirements in any of the

jurisdictions in which we do business could result in enforff cement proceedings, an order barring the sale of part or all of a

particular shipment of our products or, possibly, the sale of any of our products for a specified period. Such a development

could result in significant losses and could weaken our financial condition.

Changes in tii axtt laws in any on f to hett jurisdii icdd tions in which we opeo rate or in which we establtt isll h holdill ngii companies, or adverserr

outcomes from tax aaa uditdd s ctt ould cause fluff ctuations in our overall tll axtt rate and adverserr ly impact our operating resultsll .

Our income taxes consist of the consolidation of tax provisions computed on a separate entity basis, for each country in which

we have operations. Changes in the sources of income, agreements we have with taxing authorities or our tax filiff ng positions in

various jurisdictions could cause our overall tax rate to fluff ctuat te significantly. In addition, changes in rulrr es related to the

accounting forff income taxes or changes in appla icable tax laws and regulations, including tax laws that impact our current

company strucrr ture, could adversely affect our tax expense, profitff ability and cash floff ws. In the U.S., the current administration

may implement subsu tantial changes and reforff ms to fiscal and tax policies. We cannot predict the impact, if any, of these

potential changes, or any futff urt e changes in any of the countries in which we operate, to our business. However, such changes

could adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.

We must comply with complex and evolving tax regulations in the various jurisdictions in which we operate, which subju ects us

to international tax compliance risks. Some tax jurisdictions have complex and subju ective rulrr es about income tax, value-added

tax, sales or excise tax, tariffsff , dutd ies and transferff tax. From time to time, our subsu idiaries are subject to tax audits and may be

required to pay additional taxes, interest or penalties if a taxing authority asserts diffeff rent interpretations, allocations or

valuations, which could be material and reduce our income and cash floff w froff m our international operations. The imposition of

any penalties and costs of litigation, regardless of an eventual favorable ruling, in connection with current or future tax disputes

related to our international operations could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Additionally, the European Union (EU) Member States forff mally adopted the EU’s Pillar Two Directive, which generally

provides forff a minimum effective tax rate of 15%, as established by the Organization forff Economic Co-operation and

Development (OECD) Pillar Two Framework. Pursuant to the implementation dates prescribed in the Directive, it is expected

the rulrr es will be effeff ctive forff the Company for the 2025 fiscal year. A significant number of other countries are expected to

also implement similar legislation with varying effecff tive dates in the futff urtt e. The Company is continuing to evaluate the

potential impact on future periods of the Pillar Two Framework, pending legislative adoption by additional individual countries.

The Company may not be able to completely mitigate the impact of the legislation, which could have an adverse material effeff ct

on our financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws.

In addition, adverse outcomes froff m tax audits in any of our majoa r tax or operating jurisdictions, such as the U.S., Luxembourg,

Switzerland, Costa Rica, Guatemala, Kenya or Japaa n, could materially adversely impact our operating results. For example, in

connection with a current examination of the tax returt ns in two of these foreign jurisdictions, the taxing authorities have issued

income tax deficff iencies related to transferff pricing aggregating appra oximately $165.4 million (including interest and penalties)

for tax years 2012 through 2016. We strongly disagree with the proposed adjud stments and we expect to exhaust all

administrative and judicial remedies necessary to resolve the matters. However, these matters may not be resolved in our favor,

and an adverse outcome of either matter, or any futff urt e tax examinations involving similar assertions, could have a material

effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws.

Risks Related to Environmental Concerns/Agricultural Operations

Our agra icultull ral plantintt gs are potentt tially subject to damage from crop diseii ase or insii ect infen stattt iott ns, ws hich could all dverserr ly

impact our operatingii results att nd finaii ncial conditioii n.

Fresh produce is vulnerabla e to crop disease and insect infesff tations, which vary in severity and effect based on the stage of

production, the type of treatment applied and climatic conditions. Such diseases or infestations may adversely affect our supplu y

of fresh produce items, reducd e our sales volumes, increase our production costs or impair our ability to ship products as

planned. In 2019, we detected Banana Fusarium Wilt Tropical Race 4 (“TR4”), a serious vascular crop disease, infecting one of

our principal products, the Cavendish variety of bananas, in some areas of Southeast Asia where we source our producd ts. TR4

and other vascular crop diseases cause low-yielding banana crops, which has and may in the future result in impairment

charges. We remain concerned that these crop diseases could affect Southeast Asia and other growing regions like Latin

America, which could lead to the destrucrr tion of all or a portion of the banana crops.
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We are working with agricultural experts and qualifieff d agencies to monitor and prevent the spread of TR4 and develop

contingency plans. We have and will continue to incur costs to improve our prevention strategies and to identify sff olutions to the

spread of the disease, which may adversely impact our operating profit. In our farming operations in Central America and Asia,

we have and continue to incur costs to prevent and control the spread of TR4. In addition, we are seeking to develop a

replacement to the Cavendish variety of banana that appea als broadly to consumers and is resistant to these diseases through our

partnership with Queensland University of Technology. We have and will continue to incur research costs, which will depend

on the success of our initiatives and the extent of any continued spread of the disease, neither of which can be predicted.

Despite our effoff rts, we may be unabla e to prevent the spread of TR4. A long-term reduction in the supplu y of bananas could lead

to increased costs, decreased revenue, and charges to earnings that may adversely affect our business, financial condition and

results of operations.

Adverdd serr weathett r, natural disdd asters and other conditiodd ns affeff ctintt g thett enviroi nment, includindd g thett effeff cts ott f co limate change,e

could rll esult ill n sii ubstantt tial losll ses and weaken our finaii ncial conditioii n.

Fresh produce is vulnerabla e to adverse weather conditions, which are common but difficult to predict. The effects of naturt al

disasters may be intensifieff d by the ongoing global climate change. Severe weather conditions have and are expected to continue

to adversely affect our supplu y of one or more fresh producd e items, reducd e our sales volumes, increase our unit production costs

or prevent or impair our ability to ship products as planned. In the past fourff years, we have been impacted by severe weather

conditions such as hurricanes, severe rainstorms and flooding that have resulted in inventory wrr rite-offs and asset impairment

changes ranging from $1.4 million to $3.4 million, and we could incur similar or greater costs in the future due to such events.

When severe weather, natural disasters, and other adverse environmental conditions (i) destroy crops planted on our farms or

our supplu iers’ farff ms or (ii) prevent us froff m exporting these crops on a timely basis, we may lose our investment in those crops

and/or our costs of purchased fruit may increase. These risks can be exacerbar ted when a subsu tantial portion of our production of

a specific product is grown in one region, provided by a limited number of suppliers, or when it endangers one of our primary

products.

Adverse weather may also impact our supplu y chains, preventing us froff m procuring necessary supplu ies and delivering our

products to our customers. We own or lease, manage and operate manufactff urt ing, processing, storage and offiff ce facilities, some

of which are located in areas that are susceptible to harsh weather. We could be unabla e to accept and fulfillff customer orders dued

to severe weather and natural disasters. Although we have business continuity plans, we cannot provide assurance that our

business continuity plans will address all the issues we may encounter in the event of a disaster, or will not lead to increased

costs affecting our profitaff bia lity or other unanticipated issues. Such severe weather events that could materially disrupt our

operations may occur with higher freff quency because of climate change.

Regue lations concerningii the use of pestictt idesdd , fs erff tilizll ers arr nd othett r agra icultull ral products ctt ould adverserr ly impacm t us byb

increasingii our productiott n costs or restritt ctintt g our abiliii tyii to import certain products itt ntii o ott ur selling markerr ts.

Our business depends on the use of fertilizers, pesticides and other agricultural products. The use and disposal of these products

are often regulated by various agencies. A decision by a regulatory arr gency to significantly restrict the use of such products that

have traditionally been used in the cultivation of one of our principal products could have an adverse impact on us. For

example, the EPA took a series of regulatory arr ctions pursuant to the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, the

Federal Food, Drugrr and Cosmetic Act and the Food Quality Protection Act of 1996, relating to the evaluation and use of

pesticides in the foodff industry.rr Similarly, in the EU, regulation (EC) No. 1107/2009, which became effective in 2011

fundamentally changed the pesticide appra oval process froff m the previous risk assessment model to the hazard criteria model

linked to the intrinsic properties of the subsu tance. In January 2021, the EU did not renew the approval forff mancozeb, a

fungicide currently used in our operations, to be used within the EU member states. However, tolerances of mancozeb for

products imported into the EU are still accepted and the EU is currently assessing whether these tolerances should be

maintained, reducd ed, or eliminated. In August 2021, the EPA released a finff al rule revoking all tolerances for chlorpyrrr ifosff , a

pesticide that has been used since 1965 in both agricultural and non-agricultural areas. In connection with the EPA's ban, we

ceased the use of chlorpyrr rifos in the U.S. and all other jurisdictions where it is banned; however, we continue to use it in limited

applications on non-fruit bearing crops in a country where chlorpyrr rifos use is allowed. Future actions regarding the availabia lity

and use of pesticides could have an adverse effect on us by increasing our production costs, restricting our ability to import

certain products, or imposing substantial penalties or bans dued to noncompliance.
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We may ba e subjeb ct to liabilitii y att nd/odd r incii reased costs ftt orff enviroii nmental damdd age from the use of herbicidesdd , ps esticides and

othett r substantt ces or enviroii nmental contaminatiott n of oo ur owned or leall sed propeo rty.tt

We use herbir cides, pesticides and other potentially hazardous subsu tances in the operation of our business. We may have to pay

for the costs or damages associated with any improper appla ication, accidental release or the use or misuse of such substances.

Our insurance may not be adequate to cover such costs or damages or may not continue to be availabla e at a price or under terms

that are satisfactory trr o us. In such cases, payment of such costs or damages could have an adverse effect on our business,

financial condition or results of operations. Certain environmental laws, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation and Liability Act in the U.S., impose strict and, in many cases, joint and several, liabia lity for the cost of

remediating contamination, on current and forff mer owners of property or on persons responsible for causing such contamination,

which could have an adverse effeff ct on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Water scarcity in our growingii regie ons could adverserr ly affeff ct our agra icultull ral opeo rations, fs inff anciali conditiodd n, results ott fo

operatiott ns and cash floff ws.

Water is vital to grow the fresh produce that our business relies on. In recent years, water deficff its in certain regions have

become more evident. In Brazil, water shortages have previously negatively impacted our banana production, and our pineapple

farms in Kenya were affeff cted by a drought linked to El Nino durd ing 2016, 2017, and 2019. To mitigate water risks, we have

invested heavily to upgrade existing infraff structurt e to more efficff ient irrigation systems like drip or low pressure/low volume

sprinkler systems in Kenya and Guatemala. The viability of agricultural land is also impacted by water-related issues. We

analyze these issues in the river basin where new development might be planned. Such analysis is a part of our due diligence

before investing in agricultural operations, which increases our costs. In the event of water scarcity or deterioration, we may

incur increased production costs or face production constraints that may materially and adversely affect our financial condition,

results of operations and cash floff ws.

The effee cts ott f co limate change and climate change laws could hll ave a materiali adverserr impact on our finaii ncial conditioii n and

results of operations.

Concerns about the environmental impacts of climate change and greenhouse gas emissions may result in environmental taxes,

charges, assessments or penalties which could restrict or negatively impact our operations, as well as those of our supplu iers who

would likely pass all or a portion of their costs along to us. Furthermore, risks related to naturt al ecosystems degradation,

decreased agriculturt al productivity in certain regions of the world, biodiversity loss, water resource depletion and deforestation,

which are partially driven or exacerbar ted by climate change, may disruptrr our business operations or those of our supplu iers.

Legislative and regulatory arr uthorities in the U.S., the EU, Canada and other international jurisdictions will likely continue to

consider measures related to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions. To produce, manufactff urt e and distribute our

products, we and our supplu iers use fueff ls, electricity and various other inputs, generate waste and undergo agricultural

management activities that result in the release of greenhouse gas emissions.

We may not be able to pass any resulting cost increases to our customers or customer buying patterns could change to refleff ct a

greater reliance on local production rather than imports. Furthermore, we may be required to make additional investments of

capital to maintain compliance with new laws and regulations. Any enactment of laws or passage of regulations regarding

greenhouse gas emissions or other climate change laws in the jurisdictions where we conduct business could materially and

adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Inforff mation Systems

We rely on infon rmatiott n syss tems in managia ngii our opeo rations and any breaches of our infii orff marr tion syss tem securityii measures,s

or those thitt rdii parties upou n which we rely, cyy ould disrii upt our internal operatiott ns and may have an adverserr effeff ct on our

busineii ss.

Our businesses rely on sophisticated systems to obtain, rapia dly process, analyze and manage data. We rely on these systems to,

among other things, facff ilitate communications with our growers, distributors and customers; receive, process and ship orders on

a timely basis, and to maintain accurate and up-u to-date operating and financial data forff the compilation of management

information. The cyber threat landscape is growing increasingly complex and rapidly evolving, particularly in light of growing

geopolitical tensions. Any damage by unforff eseen events or system failure which causes interruptu ions to the input, retrieval and

transmission of data or increase in the service time, whether caused by human error, natural disasters, power loss, computer

viruses, intentional acts of vandalism, various forms of cybercrimes including and not limited to hacking, ransomware,
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intrusrr ions and malware or otherwise, could disruptu our normal operations. We also hold the sensitive personal data of our

current and forff mer employees, as well as proprietary information of our business, including strategic plans and intellectuat l

property.

We have in the past experienced, and may in the future face, hackers, cybercriminals or others gaining unauthorized access to,

or otherwise misusing, our systems to misappropriate our proprietary information and technology, interruptu our business, or

gain unauthorized access to confidential inforff mation. For example, in early 2023, we experienced a cybersecurity incident

which impacted certain of our operational and information technology systems. Promptly upon our detection of the attack, we

launched an investigation, notifieff d law enforcement and engaged the services of specialized legal counsel and other incident

response advisors. We were abla e to recover our critical operational data and business systems promptly and do not expect the

incident to have a material impact on our financial results. However, there is no guarantee that we will have similar success

with an attack in the futff urtt e should one occur. Any such futff urt e attack could lead to the public disclosure of customer data, our

trade secrets or other intellectuatt l property, personal inforff mation of our employees, or material finff ancial and other information

related to our business. The release of any of this information could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation,

financial condition and results of operations.

Cybersecurity attacks may also result in the unauthorized access to or release of intellectuat l property, trade secrets and

confidff ential business or otherwise protected information and corruptu ion of our data. Such inforff mation could be leaked to

competitors or the public which may result in loss of competitive position and market share. We also have personal confidff ential

information stored in our systems which, if stolen or leaked, could result in significant finff ancial and legal risk, including the

risk of litigation or regulatory prr enalties under data protection legislation in the territories in which we operate, such as the

General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the “GDPR”) or the Califorff nia Consumer Privacy Act in the U.S.

(“CCPA”). A cybersecurity incident that resulted in the disclosure of personal confidff ential inforff mation could lead to state or

federal enforff cement actions or private causes of action which could result in finff es, penalties, judgments or other liabia lities.

Although we strive to comply with all appla icable privacy laws, it is possible we could be subject to enforcement actions and

litigation alleging non-compliance. In such cases, the cost to remediate any damages to our information technology systems that

we may suffeff r in connection with a cyber attack could be significant.

In addition, we rely on relationships with third parties, including supplu iers, customers, contractors, cloud data storage and other

information technology service providers and external business partners, for services in supporu t of our operations, and we may

share data or provide access to our networks with such third parties who are subject to similar risks as we are relating to

cybersecurity and privacy issues. While we have procedurd es in place for selecting and managing our relationships with third-

party service providers and other business partners, we do not have control over their business operations or governance and

compliance systems, practices and procedurd es, which increases our financial, legal, reputational and operational risk. These

third parties may experience cybersecurity incidents that could pose a threat to our network or that may involve data we share

with them or rely on them to provide to us, which may result in a significant business interruptu ion that could have an adverse

impact on our business.

Although we have implemented processes and technologies to help identify,ff protect, detect, respond and recover froff m the above

cybersecurity and privacy risks, these measures may not succeed in preventing or limiting the impact of such risks. Moreover,

actuatt l or anticipated attacks may require us to incur incremental costs to hire additional personnel, purchase additional

protection technologies, maintain cyber incident insurance, replace existing softwff are and hardware, train employees and engage

third-party experts and consultants, which could negatively impact our operating income. We may also become exposed to

potential liabia lities with respect to the data that we collect, manage and process, and futff urtt e investigations, lawsuits or adverse

publu icity relating to our methods of handling data could adversely affect our business dued to the costs and negative market

reaction relating to such developments.

We have invested in industry arr ppra opriate protections and monitoring practices of our data and inforff mation technology to reduce

these risks and continue to monitor our systems on an ongoing basis forff any current or potential threats. There can be no

assurance, however, that our effoff rts will prevent breakdowns or breaches to our information technologies or the third party

providers’ databases or systems that could adversely affect our business.

Our opeo rations and reputattt iott n may be impaireii d if oi ur infon rmatiott n techtt nologyo systemtt s faiff l tii o ptt erfor rm adequateltt y.ll

Our inforff mation technology systems are critical to our business. We rely on our information technology systems, some of

which are or may be managed, hosted by or outsourced to third party service providers, to manage our business data,

communications, supply chain, order entry arr nd fulfillmff ent and other business processes. For example, we partnered with a third

party softwff are provider to improve our third party freight and logistic services. If we do not allocate and effeff ctively manage the

resources necessary to build, sustain and protect appropriate information technology systems and infrastructurtt e, or we do not
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effeff ctively implement system upgrades or oversee third-party service providers, our business or finff ancial results could be

negatively impacted. In such cases, we may have to operate manually, which may result in considerable delays in the deliveryrr

of our producd ts to our customers, damage to our perishable products or interruptu ion to other key business processes.

Additionally, our customers could refusff e to continue to do business with us and prematurely terminate or seek to reduce or

modify our existing contracts resulting in a significant adverse effect on our business. Cybersecurity attacks may cause

reputational damage, which could cause a significant decline in consumer preferff ence for our products in certain geographic

regions or globally and could potentially reduce our market share. If our information technology systems faiff l to perform as we

anticipate, we may experience transaction or reporting errors, processing ineffiff ciencies and the loss of sales and customers,

causing our business and results of operations to sufferff .

Risks Related to Our Financing

Our indii ebdd tedness could limit our finff anciali and opeo ratingii flexll ibility and subjeb ct us to othett r risks.

Our abia lity to obtain additional debt finff ancing or refinance our debt on acceptabla e terms, if at all, in the future for working

capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions may be limited by financial considerations or due to covenants in existing debt

agreements. Our current credit facility imposes certain operating and financial restrictions on us. Our failure to comply with the

obligations under this facff ility, including maintenance of finff ancial ratios, could result in an event of default, which, if not cured

or waived, would permit the lender to accelerate the indebtedness due under the facility.

As a holding company, our ability to meet our financial obligations depends on receiving sufficient fundsff from our subsu idiaries.

The payment of dividends or other distributions to us by our subsu idiaries may be limited by the provisions of our credit

agreements and other contractuat l requirements and by applicable legal restrictions on payment of dividends and other

distributions.

If we were unabla e to meet our financial obligations, we would be forff ced to pursue one or more alternative strategies, such as

selling assets, restrucrr turing or refinancing our indebtedness or seeking additional equity capital, strategies which could be

unsuccessfulff . Additional sales of our equity capital could substantially dilute the ownership interest of existing shareholders.

Increases in iii ntii ertt est ratestt could ill ncii rease thett cost of servicing our indebtedtt nedd ss and have an adverserr effeff ct on our resultsll of

operations and cash floff ws.

Our current credit facility bears interest at a variable rate, which will generally change as interest rates change. We also have

various leases, and may enter into future equipment leases, with costs that increase as interest rates increase. Interest rates rose

significantly in 2022 and 2023 in response to inflaff tionary pressures in the U.S. and world economies. We utilize interest rate

swaps to hedge against our exposure to interest rate fluff ctuat tions, but we may at times be unabla e to agree to favorabla e terms or

agree to terms that do not adequately offsff et interest rate fluctuations. Accordingly, we bear the risk that the rates we are charged

by our lenders and lessors will increase fasff ter than the earnings and cash floff w of our business, which could reducd e profitabia lity

and adversely affectff our ability to service our debt, or cause us to breach covenants contained in our credit agreement or leases,

which could materially adversely affectff our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

Our princii ipal shareholdell rs are able tll o stt ignigg fii cantlytt infln uence all matters requiring shareholderdd approval.ll

Members of the Abu-Ghazaleh family, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and one of our directors, are our

principal shareholders. As of February 1rr 6, 2024, they together directly owned 28.6% of our outstanding Ordinary Shares, and

our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer holds, and is expected to continue to hold, an irrevocable proxy to vote all of these

shares. We expect our principal shareholders to continue to use their interest in our Ordinary Shares to influence the direction of

our management, the election of our directors and to determine substantially all other matters requiring shareholder appra oval.

The concentration of our beneficial ownership may delay, deter, or prevent a change in control, may discourage bids forff the

Ordinary Shares at a premium over their market price and may otherwise adversely affect the market price of the Ordinary

Shares.

Our organizatiott nal docdd uments contaitt n cii ertain anti-tii akett over provisions that could dll eldd ayll , dyy etdd ertt or prevent a change in

contrott l.

Various provisions of our organizational documents and Cayman Islands law may delay, deter or prevent a change in control of

us that is not approved by our board of directors. These provisions include:
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� a classified board of directors;

� a prohibition on shareholder action through written consents;

� a requirement that general meetings of shareholders be called only by a majoa rity of the Board or by the Chairman of

the Board;

� advance notice requirements forff shareholder proposals and nominations;

� limitations on the abia lity of shareholders to amend, alter or repeal our organizational documents; and

� the authority of the Board to issue preferred shares on such terms that are determined by the Board itself.

Our shareholderdd s hrr ave limitell d rightgg s utt nderdd Cayma an Islanll ds law.

We are incorporrr ated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and our corporate affairs are governed by our Second Amended and

Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association and by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Legal principles related

to the validity of corporate procedurdd es, the fiduciary duties of our management, directors and controlling shareholders and the

rights of our shareholders differ froff m those that would appla y if we were incorporrr ated in the U.S. Further, the rights of

shareholders under Cayman Islands law are not as clearly establa ished as the rights of shareholders under legislation or judicial

precedent appla icable in most U.S. jurisdictions. As a result, our public shareholders may have more diffiff culty in protecting their

interests in the face of actions by the management, directors or controlling shareholders than they might have as shareholders of

a U.S. corporr ration. In addition, it is unclear whether the courts of the Cayman Islands would enforff ce, either in an original action

or in an action forff enforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, liabia lities that are predicated upon U.S. federal securities laws.

General Risks

Our success depdd ends on the services of our senior exeee cutives, ts hett loss of any on ne of which could disruii ptu our opeo rations.

Our abia lity to maintain our competitive position is dependent to a large degree on the services of our senior management team

and other key employees. Our future success depends upon our ability to attract and retain executive officers and other senior

management, especially to supporu t our current operations and business strategy. Our business may be negatively affecff ted if we

are unabla e to retain our existing senior management personnel or attract additional qualifieff d senior management personnel.

Competition forff these individuals is intense and our business may be adversely affected if we are not effeff ctive in filff ling critical

leadership positions or in assimilating new executive talent into our organization.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurityii riskii managea ment and strategtt ygg

Our Board recognizes the increasing significance that cybersecurity has on our operations and business and is responsible for

overseeing our cybersecurity plan and risks to the Company froff m cybersecurity threat actors. From farm to tabla e our operations

rely on various information systems and technologies, including those provided by third party suppliers. These systems collect,

process, transmit and retain inforff mation that may require both mandatory and voluntary drr ata protection regimens.

Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes, and practices are designed to provide reasonabla e inforff mation security given

the integrated naturtt e of our organization, our third-party relationships, and the geographic regions we operate in. With this

multi-layered approach, we aim to mitigate cybersecurity vulnerabia lities across all aspects of our operations. Our approach to

cybersecurity is grounded in the NIST Cybersecurity Framework v1.1, a nationally recognized and adapta able model that aligns

with our goals, and addresses the following key areas:

◦ Cross-Functional Approach:We have implemented a cross-functional appra oach to identifyiff ng, preventing

and mitigating cybersecurity threats and incidents, while also implementing controls and procedurdd es that

provide for the prompt escalation of cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding the disclosure and

reporting of such material incidents may be made by management in a timely manner.

◦ Identify, Protect and Detect:We have designed and implemented an industry srr tandard security architecturt e,

policies and procedurd es applying least privilege, and third-party monitoring of security controls of our core

enterprise systems.
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◦ Response and Recovery: Working with our third-party security operations center, we maintain an incident

response plan to timely, consistently and compliantly address any cyber event that may occur and have a

designated Incident Response Team consisting of representatives from select business funcff tions which is led

by our Vice President of Inforff mation Technology ("CISO"). We regularly test our incident response plan,

conduct compliance audits, periodic tabletop exercises, vulnerabia lity assessments, and where necessary

engage third parties to assist with these audits and assessments, as well as mitigation and remediation options

and plans.

◦ Third-Party Risk Management: We rely on the representations and certifications of key partnerships with

supplu iers recognizing these third-party relationships introducd e additional cybersecurity risks. To address these

third-party risks, we have established strict criteria for supplier selection and conduct security risk

assessments to mitigate potential impacts on our business.

◦ Education and Awareness: We provide regular, mandatory training for personnel regarding cybersecurity

threats to educate and empower our workforce to be vigilant against threat actors and actively participate in

cybersecurity effoff rts.

Cybersecurityii governance

Board Oversirr ghti

Our Board believes a strong cybersecurity strategy is vital to protect our business operations, sustain our control environment

and honor our data protection obligations. The Board has delegated to its Governance Committee the responsibility for

monitoring the effectff iveness of the Company's internal cybersecurity program and coordinates its finding with the company

Audit Committee. The CISO and various members of the Incident Response Team report on cybersecurity threats, incidents,

plans and responses to the Governance Committee and/or the entire Board on at least a quarterly basis, and more ofteff n as

needed.

Management Oversirr ghti

Our COO, CISO, Chief Global Privacy Offiff cer ("CPO"), our General Counsel ("GC") and various members of the Incident

Response Team play an important role in managing the Company's cybersecurity-related risks and maintaining an ongoing

dialogue with the Board, the Governance Committee and the Company's Disclosure Committee. Potential cybersecurity

incidents come to the attention of the Incident Response Team, which then responds to such incidents in accordance with our

incident response plan. When appropriate, cybersecurity incidents are reported to the Company's Management Disclosure

Committee to review and assess the materiality of the cybersecurity incident. The members of the Disclosure Committee, which

is responsible for addressing the Company's public disclosures and internal controls, include the GC, CISO, CPO, our Chief

Operating Officer, certain members of the Incident Response Team, and other members of senior management from legal,

finance, risk management, internal audit and communications.

While we have not experienced any cybersecurity incidents that have had, either individually or in the aggregate, a material

adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, we did experience and incur costs related to a

cybersecurity incident in 2023. Future incidents may interruptu our operations, cause reputational harm, subju ect us to increased

operating costs or expose us to litigation. For additional discussion of the risks posed by cybersecurity threats, see Part I, Item

1A. Risk Factors – Risks Related to our Information Systems of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 2. Properties

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the appra oximate plantation acreage under production that are owned or leased by us and the

principal products grown on such plantations by location as of the end of 2023:

Acres Under
Production

Location
Acres
Owned

Acres
Leased Products

Costa Rica 45,996 5,007 Bananas, Pineapples, Melons

Philippines — 17,622 Bananas, Pineapples

Guatemala 8,446 5,805 Bananas, Melons

Kenya — 11,362 Pineapples

Chile 2,073 1,366 Non-Tropical Fruit

Panama — 1,025 Bananas

Brazil 2,282 2,083 Bananas, Other Crops

United States 600 — Melons

Our significant properties include the folff lowing, which all relate to our fresh and value-added products or banana segments

unless otherwise noted:

North Att merica

We operate a total of 27 distribution centers in the United States and Canada, of which 15 are also freff sh-cut facilities. We own

12 of our distribution centers including our distribution center in Houston, Texas, a 200,000 square foot distribution center in

Dallas, Texas, distribution centers in Plant City, Florida; Goodyear, Arizona; Kankakee, Illinois; Portland, Oregon, and a

repack facility in Winder, Georgia. In Yuma, Arizona, we also have a manufactff urtt ing faciff lity and a cooling facff ility while in

Califorff nia, we own production faciff lities in Gonzales as well as in the Salinas valley. We also operate a distribution center with a

fresh-cut facility in Ontario, Canada on owned land. The remaining 15 distribution centers are leased from third parties. All of

our distribution centers have ripening capabilities and/or other value-added services. We own an avocado packing facff ility in

Uruarr paa n, Mexico. We also lease fivff e port faciff lities that include cold storage capabilities.

Europeo

We own and operate a freff sh-cut fruit facility in Wisbech, England. In Larissa, Greece, we own and operate a production facility

for prepared fruff it, tomato products and snacks. In Frankfurff t, Germany, we own a distribution center which is currently leased to

a third party.

Asia

Our products are distributed from fourff leased distribution centers located at strategic ports in Japaa n with cold storage. In Japaa n,

we also operate three freff sh-cut fruirr t faciff lities. One is owned and the other two are leased. In Hong Kong, we lease a distribution

center. In addition, we lease two distribution centers in South Korea and own one facility that includes a fresh-cut fruirr t and

vegetabla e operation. Our distribution centers include ripening technology and other value-added services.

Centratt l America

In Costa Rica, we own a juice processing plant, an IQF (individually quick frozen) fruff it processing plant, and greenhouses

where we produce tomatoes and other vegetables forff sale in the local market. We also own greenhouses in Guatemala. In

Panama, we have a banana operation on leased land; approximately 2,500 acres of this leased land were under production at the

end of 2023.
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South Att merica

In Brazil, we own appra oximately 27,000 acres of land of which 2,200 acres are under production. In Uruguarr y, we own

approximately 6,400 acres which is leased to a third party. In Chile, we own approximately 6,400 acres of land, of which

approximately 2,000 acres are primarily used for production of non-tropical fruits. We also lease appra oximately 1,300 acres in

Chile for non-tropical fruit production.

Afriff ca

In Thika, Kenya, we own and operate a warehouse, a pineappla e cannery, a fresh pineapple packing faciff lity, and a juice

production faciff lity.

Middle Ell ast

In Jordan, we own an integrated poultry brr usiness including poultry frr arff ms, hatcheries, a feedff mill, a poultry srr laughterhouse and

a meat processing plant which relate to our other products and services segment. In Jordan, we also own a 25 acre hydroponic

greenhouse on leased land where we have a fresh-cut processing center. In the UAE, we lease a combined distribution and

manufactff urt ing center in Dubai. This facility includes freff sh-cut fruirr t and vegetabla e operations, an ultra freff sh juice manufactff urt ing

operation and prepared foods manufactff urtt ing. In Saudi Arabia, we own 60% of a joint venturt e that leases two strategically

located distribution centers in Jeddah and Riyadh as of year end 2023. In Kuwait, we have an F&B store and we lease a faciff lity

for manufactff urt ing and/or distribution of freff sh-cut and freff sh produce, and ultra-fresh juices.

Othett r ProPP peo rtiett s

We own our U.S. executive headquarters building in Coral Gabla es, Florida, our Central America regional headquarters building

in San Jose, Costa Rica and our South America regional headquarters building in Santiago, Chile. We own our offiff ce space in

Guatemala City, Guatemala and Amman, Jordan. Our remaining office space in North America, Europe, Asia, Central and

South America and the Middle East is leased from third parties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Tax raa elatll edtt matters

In connection with the examination of the tax returns in two foreign jurisdictions, the taxing authorities have issued income tax

deficiencies related to transfer pricing aggregating appra oximately $165.4 million (including interest and penalties) forff tax years

2012 through 2016. We strongly disagree with the proposed adjud stments and have filed a protest with each of the taxing

authorities.

In one of the forff eign jurisdictions, we are currently contesting tax assessments related to the 2012-2015 audit years and the
2016 audit year in both the administrative court and the judicial court. During 2019 and 2020, we filed actions contesting the
tax assessment in the administrative office. Our initial challenge to each of these tax assessments was rejected, and we
subsu equently lost our appeals at the administrative court. We have subsu equently filed actions to contest each of these tax
assessments in the country’s judicial courts. In addition, we have filed a request for an injunction to the judicial court to stay the
tax authorities' collection efforts forff these two tax assessments, pending final judicial decisions. The court granted our
injun nction with respect to the 2016 audit year, however denied our injun nction with respect to the 2012-2015 audit years. We
timely appealed the denial of the injun nction, and on August 10, 2022 the appea llate court overturt ned the denial and granted our
injun nction forff the 2012-2015 audit years. Pursuant to local law, we registered real estate collateral with an approximate fair
market value of $7.0 million in connection with the grant of the 2016 audit year injun nction. This real estate collateral has a net
book value of $3.8 million as of the year ended December 29, 2023. In addition, in connection with the grant of the 2012-2015
audit year injunction, we registered real estate collateral with an appa roximate fair market value of $28.5 million, and a net book
value of $4.6 million as of the year ended December 29, 2023. The registration of this real estate collateral does not affeff ct our
operations in the country.

In the other foreign jurisdiction, the administrative court denied our appeal, and on March 4, 2020 we filed an action in the
judicial court to contest the administrative court's decision. The case is still pending.

We will continue to vigorously contest the adjud stments and to exhaust all administrative and judicial remedies necessary in both
jurisdictions to resolve the matters, which could be a lengthy process.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appla icable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Market for our Ordinaii ry Shares

Our Ordinary Srr hares are traded solely on the New York Stock Exchange, under the symbol "FDP", and commenced trading on

October 24, 1997, the date of our initial public offeff ring.

As of Februarr ry 16, 2024, we had 381 shareholders of record, which excludes shareholders whose shares were held by brokerage

firms, depositories and other institutional firff ms.

Dividendsdd

Holders of our Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends when and if they are declared by our Board of Directors. Our

Board of Directors declared and paid a cash dividend of $0.15 per share during the first quarter of 2023 and a cash dividend of

$0.20 per share durd ing the second, third, and fourff th quarters of 2023. In addition, on Februarr ry 23, 2024, our Board of Directors

declared a cash dividend of $0.25 per share, payable on March 29, 2024 to shareholders of record on March 7, 2024. The

declaration, amount and payment of future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend

upon many factors, including our results of operations, finff ancial condition, capital requirements, restrictions in our debt

agreements and other factors that our Board of Directors deem relevant.

Issuer Purchases of Eo quity Stt ecSS uritieii s

Our share repurchase activity in the three months ended December 29, 2023 was:

Period

Total Number
of

Shares
Purchased (1)

Average Price
Paid per
Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or
Programs

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased Under
the Plans or
Programs

September 30, 2023 to October 27, 2023 — $ — —

October 28, 2023 to November 24, 2023 500,000 $ 23.66 500,000

November 25, 2023 to December 29, 2023 — $ — —

Total 500,000 $ —

(1)On November 2, 2023, our Board of Directors appra oved a share repurchase plan (the "Share Repurchase Plan") pursuant to
which we may purchase up tu o 500,000 of our Ordinary Shares. During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company completed
the purchase of the 500,000 Ordinary Shares authorized under the Share Repurchase Plan forff $11.8 million.
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Perforff marr nce GraGG pha

The folff lowing graph compares the cumulative fivff e-year total returtt n of holders of FDP ordinary srr hares with the cumulative total

returns of the S&P Smallcap 600 and S&P 600 Food Products indexes. The grapha tracks the performance of a $100 investment

in our common stock and in each of the indexes (with the reinvestment of all dividends) froff m December 28, 2018 to

December 29, 2023.

12/28/2018 12/27/2019 1/1/2021 12/31/2021 12/30/2022 12/29/2023

Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. 100.00 125.18 86.88 101.24 98.22 101.25

S&P Smallcap 600 100.00 122.78 136.64 173.29 145.39 168.73

S&P 600 Food Products 100.00 116.36 114.12 126.04 121.94 133.07

The stock price perfor rmance included in thitt s gii ragg pha is not necessarily indicative of fo utff ure stock price perfor rmance.
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Item 6. Reserved

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The folff lowing discii ussion of our financial condition and results of operations should bll e read in conjunction with the inforff mation

contained in our consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd the notes thereto. The folff lowing discii ussion includes forff ward-ldd ooking

statements that involve certain riskii s akk nd uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those desdd cribed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk

Factors orr f to hitt s Aii nnual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. Our actual results mtt ay diffei r materially from those discussed below. SeeSS “SpeSS cial

Note Regare ding Forward-Looking StaSS tements”tt below and Part I, Item 1A. Risk FacFF tors, of this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K.

Overview

We are one of the world’s leading vertically integrated producers, marketers and distributors of high-quality fresh and freff sh-cut

fruit and vegetables, as well as a leading producer and marketer of prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, beverages and snacks

in Europe, Africa and the Middle East. We market our producd ts worldwide under the Del MontMM e® brand, a symbol of product

innovation, quality, freshness and reliabia lity since 1892. Our major sales markets are organized as follows: North America,

Europe, the Middle East (which includes North Afriff ca) and Asia. Our global sourcing and logistics system allows us to provide

regular delivery orr f consistently high-quality producd e and value-added services to our customers. Our major producing

operations are located in North, Central and South America, Asia and Afriff ca.

Our business is comprised of three reportabla e segments, two of which represent our primary businesses of freff sh and value-

added products and banana, and one that represents our other ancillary businesses.

� Fresh and value-added products - includes pineappla es, freff sh-cut fruirr t, fresh-cut vegetabla es (which includes freff sh-cut

salads), melons, vegetables, non-tropical fruirr t (which includes grapea s, apples, citrusrr , blueberries, strawberries, pears,

peaches, plums, nectarines, cherries and kiwis), other fruit and vegetables, avocados, and prepared foods (which

includes prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, other beverages, and meals and snacks).

� Banana

� Other products and services - includes our third-party freff ight and logistic services business and our Jordanian poultryrr

and meats business.

Fiscii al Year

Our fisff cal year end is the last Friday of the calendar year or the firff st Friday subsu equent to the end of the calendar year,

whichever is closest to the end of the calendar year. Fiscal year 2023 had 52 weeks and ended on December 29, 2023. Fiscal

year 2022 had 52 weeks and ended on December 30, 2022. Fiscal year 2021 had 52 weeks and ended on December 31, 2021.

Current Macroeconomic Enviroii nment and Infln atll iott n ImpII act

Starting in fisff cal year 2021, we began experiencing inflationary and cost pressures duedd to volatility and disruptu ion in the global

economy. These conditions, which increased our producd tion and distribution costs, were driven by a multitude of external

factors including rising interest rates, restrictions and economic impacts related to the COVID-19 pandemic, currency

fluctuations, supply chain disruptrr ions and geopolitical confliff cts. Specifically, costs of packaging materials, ferff tilizers, labor,

fuel, and ocean and inland freff ight were significantly impacted, and continued to adversely affect our profitaff bia lity and operating

cash floff ws during 2022 and to a lesser extent durdd ing 2023.

In response to these persisting inflaff tionary and cost pressures, we instituted price increases on the majority of our products

starting in the latter part of 2021. Additionally, certain of our contracts forff key products include contractuat lly indexed fueff l and

freight surcharges that vary depending on commodity pricing. We expect that these inflaff tion-ju- stifieff d price increases and

surcharges will continue to help mitigate our increased costs.

In addition, in early 2022, the invasion of Ukraine by RusRR sia led to further economic disruptrr ion. While we do not operate in

Ukraine and our operations in Russia are de minimis, the conflicff t has exacerbar ted inflaff tionary costs, supplu y chain and logistical

pressures which have negatively impacted our business. Similarly, recent shipping disruptrr ions in the Red Sea and surrounding

waterways have created logistical pressures which have negatively impacted our business.
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Based on the stabilization of inflaff tion in certain key markets during the latter part of 2023, we do not anticipate furtff her

inflation-ju- stifieff d price increases and surcharges. We are actively monitoring region-specific macroeconomic factors to mitigate

increases in our costs, if necessary.

Refer to the “Results of Operations" section below, as well as Part I. Item 1A, Riskii Factorsrr of this Annual Report on Form 10-

K forff further discussion.

Optimizatiott n ProPP gro am

During fiscal 2020, we performed a comprehensive review of our asset portfolff io aimed at identifyiff ng non-strategic and

underutilized assets to dispose of while reducing costs and driving further efficiencies in our operations (which we refer to as

the “2020 Optimization Program”). As a result of this review, we identifieff d assets across all of our regions, primarily consisting

of underutrr ilized facilities and land, for which we made a strategic decision to sell for total anticipated cash proceeds of

approximately $100.0 million. During the year ended December 29, 2023, our 60% owned joint venturt e in Saudi Arabia entered

into a sale and purchase agreement to sell two distribution centers and related assets for a total purchase price of $67.6 million.

Contemporaneously with the execution of the sale and purchase agreement, we entered into an operating lease agreement in

which we leased back a portion of the facilities forff a term of fivff e years. As of the year ended December 29, 2023, we had

received cash proceeds of $156.0 million in connection with asset sales under the 2020 Optimization Program (appra oximately

$65.7 million of which was received durd ing fisff cal years 2020, 2021, and 2022). Upon the closing of the sale of the Saudi

Arabian assets in the firff st quarter of 2023, we completed the 2020 Optimization Program.

Net SalSS esll

Our net sales are affeff cted by numerous factors, including mainly the balance between the supply of and demand for our

products and competition froff m other fresh produce companies. Our net sales are also dependent on our ability to supplu y a

consistent volume and quality of freff sh produce to the markets we serve. As a result of seasonal sales price fluff ctuat tions, we have

historically realized a greater portion of our net sales and gross profitff during the first two calendar quarters of the year. For

example, seasonal variations in demand for bananas as a result of increased supplu y and competition froff m other fruit are

reflected in the seasonal fluff ctuat tions of banana prices, with the first six months of each year generally exhibiting stronger

demand and higher prices, except in those years where an excess supply exists. In our fresh and value-added products segment,

there are seasonal variations in sales of our non-tropical fruff it producd ts which reach peak sales season from October to May. The

impact of seasonality on our finff ancial results was atypical durd ing fisff cal year 2022, particularly in our banana segment, where

market conditions led to a more significant portion of our gross profit being generated in the second half of the year when

compared with historical results and the results of our fiscal year 2023.

Our strategy forff net sales growth is focused on protecting and growing our core business as well as driving innovation and

expansion of our value-added categories, including through the development of new products and by targeting the convenience

store and foodservice trade in our majoa r global markets.

Since our financial reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, our net sales are significantly affeff cted by fluctuations in the value of

the currency in which we conduct our sales versus the dollar, with a weaker dollar versus such currencies resulting in increased

net sales in dollar terms. Including the effect of our foreign currency hedges, net sales in 2023 were negatively impacted by

$39.9 million primarily due to fluctuations in exchange rates versus the euro, Japanese yen, Korean won, Kenyan shilling and

British pound.

Cost of Products Stt olSS dll

Cost of products sold is primarily composed of two elements:

Product costs - primarily composed of cultivation (the cost of growing crops), harvesting, packaging, labora , depreciation and

farm administration. Product cost forff produce obtained froff m independent growers is composed of procurement and packaging

costs.

Logistii ics costs - includes land and sea transportation and expenses related to port faciff lities and distribution centers. Sea

transportation cost is the most significant component of logistics costs and is comprised of:ff

� Ship operating expenses - includes operations, maintenance, depreciation, insurance, fuel (the cost of which

is subju ect to commodity price fluff ctuat tions), and port charges.
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� Chartered ship costs - includes the cost of chartering the ships, fueff l and port charges.

� Container equipment-related costs - includes leasing expense and in the case of owned equipment, also

depreciation expense.

� Third-party containerized shipping costs - includes the cost of using third-party shipping in our logistics

operations.

In general, changes in our volume of products sold can have a disproportionate effeff ct on our gross profit. Within any particular

year, a significant portion of our cost of products sold is fixed, both with respect to our operations and with respect to the cost

of produce purchased from independent growers froff m whom we have agreed to purchase all the products they produce.

Accordingly, higher volumes produced on company-controlled farms directly reduce the average per-box cost, while lower

volumes directly increase the average per-box cost. In addition, because the volume that will actuat lly be produced on our farms

and by independent growers in any given year depends on a variety of factors, including weather, that are beyond our control or

the control of our independent growers, it is difficult to predict volumes and per-box costs.

Variations in containerboard prices, which affeff ct the cost of boxes and other packaging materials, and fuel prices can have a

significant impact on our product costs and our gross profit. Containerboard, plastic, resin and fueff l prices have historically been

volatile. Our expenses relating to employee labor are also significant to our product costs and our gross profit, and our ability to

control these costs is generally subju ect to numerous external factors. Also, variations in the production yields, fertilizers and

other input costs and the cost to procure products from independent growers can have a significant impact on our costs. Refer to

the “Current Macroeconomic Environment and Inflan tion Impacm t" section abovea for furff ther discussion regarding the impact of

inflationary cost pressures on our fiscal years 2022 and 2023 financial results.

Since our financial reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, our costs are affeff cted by fluctuations in the value of the currency in

which we have significant operations versus the dollar, with lower cost resulting froff m a stronger U.S. dollar. During 2023, cost

of products sold was negatively impacted by approximately $40.0 million, primarily driven by fluff ctuat tions in exchange rates

versus the Costa Rican colon, Mexican peso, euro and British pound.

Income Taxeaa s

The provision for income taxes in 2023 was $18.1 million. Income taxes consist of the consolidation of the tax provisions,

computed on a separate entity basis, in each country in which we have operations. Since we are a non-U.S. company with

subsu tantial operations outside the United States, a substantial portion of our results of operations is not subju ect to U.S. taxation.

Several of the countries in which we operate have lower tax rates than the United States. We are subject to U.S. taxation on our

operations in the United States. From time to time, tax authorities in various jurisdictions in which we operate audit our tax

returns and review our tax positions. There are audits presently pending in various countries. There can be no assurance that any

tax audits, or changes in existing tax laws or interpretations in countries in which we operate will not result in an increased

effeff ctive tax rate for us.

In connection with the examination of the tax returt ns in two forff eign jurisdictions, the taxing authorities have issued income tax

deficiencies related to transfer pricing aggregating appra oximately $165.4 million (including interest and penalties) forff tax years

2012 through 2016. We strongly disagree with the proposed adjud stments and have filed a protest with each of the taxing

authorities.

We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting froff m examinations such as these to determine the adequacy of
our tax reserves. Accordingly, we have not accruerr d any additional amounts based upon the proposed adjud stments. There can be
no assurance that these matters will be resolved in our favor, and an adverse outcome of either matter, or any futff urt e tax
examinations involving similar assertions, could have a material effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. See Part I, Item 3. Legale Proceedings, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff more information regarding these
matters.
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RESULTS OF OPERATRR IONS

Consolidll atdd edtt Finaii ncial Resultsll For thett Year Ended December 29, 2023, Compared to the YeaYY r EndEE eddd December 30, 2022

The folff lowing summarizes the more significant facff tors impacting our operating results for the fiscal year ended December 29,
2023 as compared with the fisff cal year ended December 30, 2022.

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net sales $ 4,320.7 $ 4,442.3 $ 4,252.0

Gross profit 350.7 340.2 303.8

Selling, general and administrative expenses 186.7 186.8 192.9

Operating income 58.5 156.3 111.0

Net salesll - Net sales for 2023 were $4,320.7 million compared with $4,442.3 million in 2022. Net sales were primarily

impacted by lower sales volumes and the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations, primarily versus the Japanese yen,

Korean won, and British pound compared with the prior-year periods. The negative impact of fluctuations in exchange rates

was partially mitigated by our foreign currency hedges. These were partially offsff et by higher per unit selling prices of banana

and freff sh and value-added products segments.

Gross profio t -ii Gross profit forff 2023 increased by 3% to $350.7 million from $340.2 million in 2022. The increase in gross profitff

was driven by higher selling prices in our fresh and value-added products segments and lower distribution cost, partially offsff et

by higher per unit production cost driven by the negative impact of fluctuations in exchange rates, principally versus a stronger

Costa Rican colon, which were partially mitigated due to improved cost management.

Gross profit forff 2023 included $3.8 million of other producd t-related charges primarily related to $1.5 million of inventory wrr rite-

off dff ued to the sale of two distribution centers in Saudi Arabia and $1.4 million of inventory wrr rite-off and clean-up cu ost, net of

insurance recoveries, tied to the flooding of a seasonal production faciff lity in Greece. There were no other product-related

charges in 2022.

Selling, general and administrativtt e expeee nses - Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $0.1 million when

compared against the prior-year period.

Gain (losll s) on dispii osal of property,tt planll t and equipmii ent, net and subsidiadd ry - The gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment, net and subsu idiary of $37.9 million durd ing 2023 primarily related to the sales of two distribution centers and related

assets in Saudi Arabia, an idle faciff lity in North America, our plastics business subsidiary in South America, and two carrier

vessels. The loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net and subsu idiary of $(1.9) million during 2022 primarily

related to the disposal of low-yielding banana crops in Central America, partially offsff et by gains on the sale of vacant land in

Mexico and sales of vehicles in the Middle East.

Asset impii airmii ent and othett r charges (creditsii ),s net - Asset impairment and other charges (credits), net of $143.4 million in 2023

primarily consisted of (1) $109.6 million impairment charges related to customer list and trade name intangible assets and

building, land, and land improvements assets in North America related to our fresh and value added segment (2) a $21.6 million

impairment charge related to goodwill in our prepared foods reporting unit, (3) a $3.7 million impairment charge related to low-

yielding banana farms in the Philippines, (4) $2.6 million impairment charge related to low-yielding deciduous farms in Chile,

(5) $1.8 million impairment charges due to low productivity grapea vines in South America, and (6) $1.3 million of expenses,

net of insurance reimbursements, incurred in connection with a cybersecurity incident. Asset impairment and other (credits)

charges, net of $(4.8) million in 2022 primarily related to (1) a $(9.9) million reduction to our environmental liabia lity for the

Kunia Well Site clean-up iu n Hawaii, partially offset by (2) a $2.7 million impairment of banana-related fixff ed assets in the

Philippines duedd to flooding as a result of heavy rainfall and (3) severance expenses in connection with the departure of our

former President and Chief Operating Offiff cer.

Operatintt g incii ome - Operating income decreased by $97.8 million in 2023 when compared against 2022, mainly due to higher

asset impairment and other charges (credits), partially offsff et by higher gross profit and larger gains on the disposal of property,

plant and equipment when compared to a loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment in 2022.
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Interest expexx nse - Interest expense decreased by $0.3 million in 2023 when compared against 2022, due to higher interest rates,

partially offset by lower average debt balances.

Othett r expeee nse, net - Other expense, net, was $19.3 million in 2023 compared with $14.8 million in 2022. The increase in

expense of $4.5 million was mainly driven by higher forff eign currency related losses.

Income tax paa rovisiii on - Income tax provision was $18.1 million in 2023 compared with $20.1 million in 2022. The decrease in

the income tax provision of $2.0 million is primarily due to decreased earnings in certain higher tax jurisdictions offseff t by the

tax effect related to the sale of our plastics business subsidiary in the second quarter of the year, and asset sales in Saudi Arabia

and North America durdd ing the first quarter of the year.

Finaii ncial Resultsll by Segme ent

The folff lowing tabla e presents net sales and gross profit by segment (U.S. dollars in millions) and gross margin percentage:

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Segments
Net
Sales

Gross
Profitff

Gross
Margin

Net
Sales

Gross
Profitff

Gross
Margin

Net
Sales

Gross
Profit

Gross
Margin

Fresh and value-added products $2,477.8 $ 167.3 6.8 % $2,581.8 $ 183.0 7.1 % $2,504.8 $ 180.2 7.2 %

Banana 1,638.2 163.3 10.0 % 1,619.8 120.7 7.5 % 1,581.1 110.9 7.0 %

Other products and services 204.7 20.1 9.8 % 240.7 36.5 15.2 % 166.1 12.7 7.6 %

$4,320.7 $ 350.7 8.1 % $4,442.3 $ 340.2 7.7 % $4,252.0 $ 303.8 7.1 %

Fresh and value-added products

Net salesll for 2023 were $2,477.8 million compared with $2,581.8 million in 2022. The impact to net sales was driven by lower

sales volume across most product categories, excluding pineapples and avocados which had higher volumes, lower avocado

pricing dued to prior-year pricing volatility, and the negative impact of fluctuations in exchange rates mainly in Asia and Europe,

partially offsff et by higher per unit selling prices across most producdd t categories.

Gross profio tii for 2023 was $167.3 million compared with $183.0 million in 2022. Gross profit was negatively impacted by

lower net sales and the negative fluff ctuat tions of exchange rates versus the Costa Rican colon and Mexican peso, partially offsff et

by lower distribution, fuel, and ocean and inland freff ight costs. Gross margin slightly decreased to 6.8% compared with 7.1% in

the prior-year period.

Gross profit in the fresh and value-added products segment included $3.7 million of other producd t-related charges in 2023

primarily related to $1.5 million of inventory wrr rite-off due to the sale of two distribution centers in Saudi Arabia and

$1.4 million of inventory wrr rite-off and clean-up cu ost, net of insurance recoveries, tied to the flooding of a seasonal production

facility in Greece. There were no other product-related charges in 2022.

Banana

Net salesll for 2023 were $1,638.2 million compared with $1,619.8 million in 2022. The increase in net sales was driven by

higher per unit selling prices in Europe partially offset by lower volumes and the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations

mainly versus the Japanese yen, Korean won, and euro.

Gross profio tii for 2023 increased 35.3% to $163.3 million froff m $120.7 million in 2022. The increase in gross profit was driven

by higher net sales, specificff ally higher per unit selling prices and lower distribution costs, including ocean and inland freff ight.

Partially offsff etting the increase in gross profitff was higher per unit production cost mainly duedd to negative fluff ctuat tion in

exchanges rates in Costa Rica. Gross margin increased to 10.0% compared with 7.5% in the prior-year period.

Other products and services

Net salesll for 2023 were $204.7 million compared with $240.7 million in 2022 mainly due to lower net sales of third-party
ocean freight services as a result of lower rates and volume driven by softeff ned global demand.
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Gross profio tii for 2023 was $20.1 million compared to $36.5 million in 2022 mainly due to lower net sales. As a result, gross
margin decreased to 9.8% from 15.2% in the prior-year period.

Results of Operations - For the Year Ended December 30, 2022, Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2021

For a comparison of our results of operations for the year ended December 30, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31,
2021, see “Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our
annual report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 30, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Februarr ry 22, 2023, which is incorporrr ated herein by reference.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. is a holding company whose only significant asset is the outstanding capital stock of our

subsu idiaries that directly or indirectly own all of our assets. We conduct all of our business operations through our subsu idiaries.

Accordingly, as of December 29, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity are (i) cash generated from operations of our

subsu idiaries, (ii) our combined $956 million of credit facilities with an availabla e capacity of appa roximately $526 million and

(iii) existing cash and cash equivalents of $33.8 million. The loan commitments under our credit facilities can be used for

working capital or other general corporrr ate purposrr es. On a long-term basis, we will continue to rely on our credit facilities forff

any long-term funding not provided by cash generated from operations of our subsu idiaries.

Our principal uses of liquidity are paying the costs associated with our operations, paying dividends, and making capia tal

expenditures to increase our producd tivity and expand our producd t offerings and geographic reach. We may also, froff m time to

time, prepay outstanding indebtedness on our credit facilities, repurchase and retire ordinary srr hares of our common stock or

acquire assets or businesses that we believe are complementary to our operations.

A summary of our cash flows is as folff lows (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Summary cash flow information:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 177.9 $ 61.8 $ 128.5

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 56.4 (49.1) (82.5)

Net cash used in finff ancing activities (213.5) (12.0) (53.2)

Effeff ct of exchange rate changes on cash (4.2) 0.4 6.8

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16.6 1.1 (0.4)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 17.2 16.1 16.5

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 33.8 $ 17.2 $ 16.1

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $177.9 million for 2023 compared with $61.8 million for 2022, an increase of

$116.1 million. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was principally attributable to current year working

capital fluff ctuatt tions, primarily a reducd tion in inventories as compared to the prior year, largely driven by lower levels of

purchases of key raw materials and packaging supplu ies in order to secure costs and availabia lity during that period. Partially

offsff etting the increase was lower levels of accounts payable and accruerr d expenses, mainly dued to the timing of period end

payments to supplu iers.

Working capital was $603.7 million at December 29, 2023 compared with $634.4 million at December 30, 2022, a decrease of

$30.7 million. The decrease in working capital was mainly dued to lower levels of (i) assets held for sale duedd to the end of the

2020 Optimization Program during 2023 and (ii) raw materials and packaging supplies inventory.rr Partially offsff etting this

decrease in working capia tal was a decrease in (a) accounts payable and accruerr d expenses, (b) a higher cash balance on hand and

(c) an increase in trade accounts receivabla e.
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Investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities was $56.4 million for 2023 compared with $(49.1) million for 2022. Net

cash provided by investing activities forff 2023 primarily consisted of proceeds froff m the sale of property, plant and equipment

and subsidiary of $119.9 million, primarily relating to the sale of two distribution centers in Saudi Arabia, an idle producd tion

facility in North America, land assets in South and Central America, and proceeds froff m the sale of our plastics business

subsu idiary in South America for total purchase consideration of $16.5 million, of which we received $14.0 million. The

remaining $2.5 million, which includes $0.5 million of post-closing adjud stments, will be received in three successive semi-

annual installments. Partially offsff etting the net cash provided by investing activities were capital expenditures of $57.7 million

and $5.3 million in investments in unconsolidated companies in the food and nutrition sector that align with our long-term

strategy and vision.

Net cash used in investing activities forff 2022 primarily consisted of $48.1 million in capital expenditures and $9.7 million in

investments in unconsolidated companies, partially offseff t by $8.7 million in proceeds froff m the sales of property, plant and

equipment, primarily relating to the sale of vacant land in Mexico and other assets in connection with our Optimization

Program.

Capia tal expenditures related to the fresh and value-added products segme ent accounted for $31.3 million, or 54%, of our 2023

capital expenditures and $29.1 million, or 61%, of our 2022 capital expenditures. During 2023 and 2022, capital expenditures

primarily related to (1) improvements and enhancements to our production faciff lities in North America, Europe, Asia, and the

Middle East; (2) improvements to our pineapple operations in Central America and Kenya; and (3) operational investments in

automation and data-driven technology, mainly in North America.

Capia tal expenditures related to the banana segme ent accounted for $12.8 million, or 22%, of total 2023 capia tal expenditures and

$15.1 million, or 31%, of total 2022 capital expenditures. During 2023, these capital expenditures primarily related to

improvements to our production operations in Central America. During 2022, these capital expenditures also included

improvements to our distribution centers and inforff mation technology initiatives.

Capia tal expenditures related to the othett r products and services segme ent accounted for $13.6 million, or 24%, of our 2023

capital expenditures and $3.9 million, or 8%, of our 2022 capital expenditures. During 2023 and 2022, these capital

expenditures primarily related to improvements to our Jordanian poultry orr perations.

Capia tal expenditures forff 2024 are expected to be approximately $76 million, primarily consisting of (1) investments in our

operations and production facff ilities in North America, including expenditures related to automation and technology initiatives

and the relocation of one of our port faciff lities, (2) upgru ades to our pineapple and banana production operations in Central

America, and (3) investments to improve and expand our fresh-cut and prepared foods operations in Afriff ca. We expect to fund

these capital expenditures which primarily relate to our fresh and value-added and banana segments through operating cash

flows and borrowings under our credit facility.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in finff ancing activities was $213.5 million forff 2023 and $12.0 million for 2022. Net cash used in finff ancing

activities forff 2023 primarily consisted of (i) net payments on long-term debt of $139.8 million, (ii) dividends paid of $35.9

million, (iii) distributions to noncontrolling interests of $17.9 million, including a distribution to our minority partner in Saudi

Arabia in connection with the sale of the two distribution centers completed in the first quarter of 2023, (iv) repurchase and

retirement of ordinary srr hares of $11.8 million and (v) a $5.2 million payment to acquire the remaining 25% interest in one of

our Mann Packing subsidiaries, as the noncontrolling shareholder exercised its put option durd ing the second quarter of 2023.

Net cash used in finff ancing activities forff 2022 primarily consisted of dividends paid of $28.7 million, partially offseff t by net

borrowings on long-term debt of $20.7 million.

Debt Instrutt ments att nd Debt Service Requireii mentstt

On October 1, 2019, we and certain of our subsu idiaries entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the

“Second A&R Credit Agreement”) with the finff ancial institutt ions and other lenders named therein, including Bank of America,

N.A. as administrative agent and BofA Sff ecurities, Inc. as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunnerr r. The Second A&R Credit

Agreement provides forff a fivff e-year, $0.9 billion syndicated senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit

Facility”) maturing on October 1, 2024. Effeff ctive September 13, 2022, we exercised our option as included in the Second A&R

Credit Agreement to reducd e the borrowing limit on the Revolving Credit Facility from the original limit of $1.1 billion to

$0.9 billion. Certain of our direct and indirect subsu idiaries have guaranteed the obligations under the Second A&R Credit
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Agreement. We intend to use funff ds borrowed under the Second A&R Credit Agreement froff m time to time for general corporate

purposes, working capia tal, capia tal expenditures and other permitted investment opportunities

As of December 30, 2022, amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility accruerr d interest, at our election, at either

(i) the Eurocurrency Rate (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) plus a margin that ranged froff m 1.0% to 1.5% or

(ii) the Base Rate (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) plus a margin that ranged froff m 0% to 0.5%, in each case

based on our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as definff ed in the Second A&R Credit Agreement). The Second A&R Credit

Agreement interest rate grid provides forff five pricing levels forff interest rate margins. In addition, we pay an unused

commitment fee. At December 29, 2023, we had borrowings of $400.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility

bearing interest at a per annum rate of 6.59%. On December 30, 2022, we and certain of our subsu idiaries executed Amendment

No. 1 to the Second A&R Credit Agreement (the “Amendment”) with the finff ancial institutions and other lenders named therein,

including Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent and BofA Sff ecurities, Inc. as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunnerr r.

Pursuant to the Amendment, the reference interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility was amended to replace the

Eurocurrency Rate with the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”) effective January 3, 2023. As amended,

Term Loans made under the Revolving Credit Facility can be Base Rate Loans, Term SOFR Loans or Alternative Currency

Term Rate Loans. All other material terms of the Second A&R Credit Agreement, as amended, remain unchanged.

The Second A&R Credit Agreement provides forff an accordion featurt e that permits us, without the consent of the other lenders,

to request that one or more lenders provide us with increases in revolving credit facility or term loans up tu o an aggregate of

$300 million (“Incremental Increases”). The aggregate amount of Incremental Increases can be further increased to the extent

that afteff r giving effect to the proposed increase in revolving credit facility commitments or term loans, our Consolidated

Leverage Ratio, on a pro forff ma basis, would not exceed 2.50 to 1.00. Our abia lity to request such increases in the Revolving

Credit Facility or term loans is subject to its compliance with customary crr onditions set forff th in the Second A&R Credit

Agreement including compliance, on a pro forma basis, with the finff ancial covenants and ratios set forth therein. Upon our

request, each lender may decide, in its sole discretion, whether to increase all or a portion of its revolving credit facility

commitment or provide term loans.

The Second A&R Credit Agreement requires us to comply with certain finff ancial and other covenants. Specifically, it requires

us to maintain a 1) Consolidated Leverage Ratio of not more than 3.50 to 1.00 at any time during any period of four consecutive

fiscal quarters, subju ect to certain exceptions and 2) a minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio of not less than 2.25 to

1.00 as of the end of any fisff cal quarter. Additionally, it requires us to comply with certain other covenants, including limitations

on capital expenditures, stock repurchases, the amount of dividends that can be paid in the futff urt e, the amount and types of liens

and indebtedness, material asset sales, and mergers. Under the Second A&R Credit Agreement, we are permitted to declare or

pay cash dividends in any fisff cal year up to an amount that does not exceed the greater of (i) an amount equal to the greater of

(A) 50% of the Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) for the immediately preceding

fiscal year or (B) $25 million or (ii) the greatest amount which would not cause the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (determined

on a pro forma basis) to exceed 3.25 to 1.00. It also provides an allowance forff stock repurchases to be an amount not exceeding

the greater of (i) $150 million in the aggregate or (ii) the amount that, after giving pro forff ma effeff ct thereto and any related

borrowings, will not cause the Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.25 to 1.00. As of December 29, 2023, we were in

compliance with all of the financial and other covenants contained in the Second A&R Credit Agreement.

On Februarr ry 21, 2024, we entered into Amendment No. 2 to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "2024

Amended Credit Facility") which amends and restates the Second A&R Credit Agreement. The 2024 Amended Credit Facility

provides forff a fivff e-year, $750 million syndicated senior unsecured revolving credit facility ("Amended Revolving Credit

Facility") and extends the existing maturt ity date to Februarr ry 21, 2029. The 2024 Amended Credit Facility permits, under

certain conditions, the ability to add an option forff $200 million of receivabla es financing. Amounts outstanding under the

Amended Revolving Credit Facility accruerr interest at a rate equal to based on the Term SOFR rate (as defined in the 2024

Amended Credit Facility) plus a margin ranging from 1.0% to 1.6%.

As of December 29, 2023, we had $525.5 million of borrowing availabia lity under committed working capital facilities,

primarily under the Revolving Credit Facility. As a result of the 2024 Amended Credit Facility, availability under committed

working capital faciff lities was reducdd ed by approximately $150 million dued to the reducd tion in the size of our revolving credit

facility during February 2rr 024.

We believe that our cash on hand, borrowing capaa city availabla e under our Revolving Credit Facility, and cash floff ws from
operations for the next twelve months will be sufficff ient to service our outstanding debt during the next twelve months.
However, we cannot predict whether future developments associated with the current economic environment will materially
adversely affect our long-term liquidity position. Our liquidity assumptions, the adequacy of our availabla e fundiff ng sources, and
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our ability to meet our Revolving Credit Facility covenants are dependent on many additional factff ors, including those set forth
in Part I. Item 1A, “Riskii Factorsrr ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Derivatives

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar on our results of operations and finff ancial

condition and we mitigate that exposure by entering into forff eign currency forff ward contracts. Certain of our subsu idiaries

periodically enter into forff eign currency forff ward contracts in order to hedge portions of forecasted sales or cost of sales

denominated in foreign currencies, which generally mature within one year. The fair value of our derivatives related to our

foreign currency cash floff w hedges was a liabia lity position of $0.3 million as of December 29, 2023 compared to a net liability

position of $6.7 million as of December 30, 2022 due to the relative strengthening or weakening of exchange rates when

compared to the contracted rates.

We are exposed to fluctuations in variable interest rates on our results of operations and finff ancial condition, and we mitigate

that exposure by entering into interest rate swapsa from time to time. During 2018, we entered into interest rate swapsa in order to

hedge the risk of the fluctuation on futff urtt e interest payments related to a portion of our variable rate LIBOR-based borrowings

through 2028. The faiff r value of the derivatives related to our interest rate swap cash floff w hedges was an asset position of $7.9

million as of December 29, 2023 compared to an asset position of $15.8 million as of December 30, 2022. In connection with

the Amendment of our Revolving Credit Facility, we amended our interest rate swaps to transition froff m LIBOR to Term SOFR

effeff ctive January 3, 2023.

We enter into derivative instrumrr ents with counterparr rties that are highly rated and do not expect a deterioration of our

counterparr rty’s credit ratings; however, the deterioration of our counterparr rty’s credit ratings would affect the

Consolidated Financial Statements in the recognition of the fair value of the hedges that would be transferred to earnings as the

contracts settle. We expect that $2.3 million of the net faiff r value of designated hedges recognized as a net gain in accumulated

other comprehensive loss will be transferff red to earnings during the next 12 months, and the remaining net gain of $2.1 million

over the following 5 years, along with the earnings effeff ct of the related forecasted transactions.

Othett r

We are involved in several legal and environmental matters that, if not resolved in our favor, could require significant cash

outlays and could have a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations, finff ancial condition and liquidity. See Part I,

Item 1. Business Overview under “Environmental Proceedings” and Part I, Item 3. Legale Proceedings and Note 16,

“Commitments and Contingencies” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8. Financial StaSS tementstt

and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Commitments att nd Contratt ctual Obligll atiott ns

The folff lowing details information with respect to our contractuat l obligations as of December 29, 2023.

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Contractual obligations by period Total
Less than
1 year 1 - 3 years 3 - 5 years

More
than
5 years

Fruirr t purchase agreements $ 1,189.2 $ 310.2 $ 576.0 $ 303.0 $ —

Purchase obligations 222.2 191.7 15.2 3.6 11.7

Operating leases and charter agreements 238.5 59.5 75.1 51.8 52.1

Finance lease obligations 7.9 1.6 3.2 3.1 —

Long-term debt (1) 400.0 — — — 400.0

Interest on long-term debt(2) 114.4 26.1 45.0 41.5 1.8

Retirement benefitff s 119.2 13.7 24.4 23.9 57.2

Uncertain tax positions 9.6 0.8 7.0 0.1 1.7

Totals $ 2,301.0 $ 603.6 $ 745.9 $ 427.0 $ 524.5
(1) Contractuat l obligations related to our long-term debt reflect the renewal of our Second A&R Credit Agreement dated

Februarr ry 21, 2024.
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(2) We utilize a variabla e interest rate on our long-term debt, and for presentation purposrr es we have used an assumed average

rate of 4.4%.

We have agreements to purchase the entire or partial production of certain products of our independent growers primarily in

Guatemala, Ecuador, Philippines, Costa Rica, Colombia, and United Kingdom that meet our quality standards. Total purchases

under these agreements amounted to $631.6 million forff 2023, $625.9 million forff 2022, and $683.2 million forff 2021.

Liquidity and Capital Resources - For the Year Ended December 30, 2022, Compared to the Year Ended December 31,

2021

For a comparison of our liquidity and capital resources forff the year ended December 30, 2022, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021, see “Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” of our annual report on Form 10-K forff the year ended December 30, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Februarr ry 22, 2023, which is incorporrr ated herein by reference.

Critical Accountintt g PolPP icll ies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America (U.S. GAAP). In applying accounting principles, it is ofteff n required to use estimates. These estimates require

the appa lication of judgment and affeff ct the reported amounts of assets, liabia lities, revenue, expenses, and the related disclosures.

We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to be

relevant at the time our consolidated financial statements are prepared. Although we believe our estimates are reasonabla e and

appropriate, material changes in certain estimates that we use could potentially affeff ct, by a material amount, our consolidated

financial position and results of operations. We have identifieff d several estimates which are listed below as being critical

because they require management to make particularly difficff ult, subju ective, and complex judgments about matters that are

inherently uncertain. As a result, there is a likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported under diffeff rent

conditions or using diffeff rent assumptions.

All of our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2, “Summary of Signii fici ant Accounting Policies” in the Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8 Financial StaS tements att nd Supplementary Data of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.

Goodwill and Indefine ite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired entity over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. We assess goodwill at the reporting unit level on

an annual basis as of the firff st day of our fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances suggest that

goodwill may not be recoverabla e. In performing our annual goodwill impairment test, we may start with an optional qualitative

assessment as allowed forff under the accounting guidance. As part of the qualitative assessment, we evaluate all events and

circumstances, including both positive and negative events, in their totality, to determine whether it is more likely than not that

the faiff r value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we bypass the qualitative assessment, or if the qualitative

assessment indicates that a quantitative analysis should be performed, we perform a quantitative test forff impairment by

comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including the associated goodwill. In performing our

quantitative test, we estimated the fair value of these reporting units by using the income approach. The income approach

provides an estimate of fair value by measuring estimated annual cash floff ws over a discrete projection period and applying a

present value discount rate to the cash floff ws. The present value of the estimated annual cash floff ws is then added to the present

value equivalent of the residual value of the business to arrive at an estimated faiff r value of the reporting unit. The discount rates

are determined using the weighted average cost of capital forff the risk of achieving the projeo cted cash floff ws. If the carrying

amount of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated faiff r value, an impairment charge is recorded to reduce the carrying value to

the estimated faiff r value.

Our projeo ctions include several significant estimates and assumptions by management related to forff ecasts of future sales

volume and pricing, cost of sales, expenses, tax rates, capital spending and the weighted-average cost of capital. Significant

judgment is involved in estimating inputs used in the discounted cash floff w estimates and, as a result, they include inherent

uncertainties. These uncertainties are a result of management establishing expectations based on historical experience about

customer demand, macroeconomic trends for the markets in which our reporting units operate, and expectations for investments

in maintaining and expanding infrastructurt e, among other inputs. As of the date of our impairment testing, the related cash

flows were discounted using rates ranging from 9.0% to 12.0% for our reporting units and we used a long-term growth rates

from 0.0% to 3.0%. Changes in these estimates, many of which falff l under Level 3 within the faiff r value measurement hierarchy,
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could change our conclusion regarding the impairment of goodwill assets and potentially reduce the carrying value of goodwill

on our balance sheet and reducd e our income in the year in which it is recorded.

As part of the 2004 Del Monte Foods acquisition, we also acquired perperr tual, royalty-free licenses to use the Del MontMM e® brand

for processed and/or canned fooff d in more than 100 countries throughout Europe, Africa, the Middle East and certain Central

Asian countries. We can also produce, market and distribute certain prepared food products in North America based on our

agreement with Del Monte Pacificff utilizing the Del MontMM e® brand. This indefinite-lived intangible asset is not amortized but is

reviewed for impairment as of the first day of the fourff th quarter of each fiscal year, or sooner if impairment indicators arise. We

generally estimate the faiff r value of our indefinite-lived intangible assets using a royalty savings method which estimates the

value of trade names and trademarks by capia talizing the estimated royalties saved based on our ownership of the assets. The

royalty savings method requires significant estimates and judgments by management, including estimates of futff uret sales, tax

rates and the weighted-average cost of capia tal. Additionally, management assumptions are used in determining an appra opriate

royalty rate which requires management to identify cff omparabla e companies and assessment of returt n attributable to other

tangible and intangible assets.

The faiff r value of our prepared foods reporting unit declined as a result of higher discount rates and lower projeo ctions for

revenue streams in North America and Europe as a result of recent underperformance of the reporting unit. Based on our

projections, the carrying amount of our prepared foods reporting unit exceeded its fair value as of the date of our annual

impairment test and we recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $21.6 million. The remaining carrying value of the

prepared reporting unit goodwill after impairment is $27.2 million. The results of our impairment test forff the remaining

reporting units resulted in the fair value of each reporting unit exceeding its respective carrying amount as of the assessment

date.

Although we believe that our estimates and judgments used in perforff ming our impairment tests are reasonabla e, if our reporting

units do not perform to expected levels, the related goodwill and the Del MonMM te® trade names and trademarks may be at risk for

additional impairment in the future. Management has identifieff d the fair value of the banana reporting unit's goodwill, prepared

reporting unit's goodwill and the Del MontMM e® prepared foods reporting unit’s trade names and trademarks to be at a higher risk

of sensitivity to differences between estimated and actual cash flows and changes in the related discount rate used to evaluate

the faiff r value of these assets based on the percentage by which their respective faiff r value exceeded the carrying value as of the

date of our annual impairment test. The folff lowing tabla e highlights the sensitivities of the goodwill and indefinite-lived

intangible assets at risk as of December 29, 2023 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Banana
Reporting Unit
Goodwill

Prepared Foods
Reporting Unit
Goodwill

Prepared Foods
Reporting Unit
Del MonMM te®

Trade Names
and Trademarks

Carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible
assets $ 64.4 $ 27.2 $ 30.8

Approximate percentage by which the fair value
exceeds the carrying value based on the annual
impairment test 23.2 % — % 6.2 %

Amount that a one percentage point increase in
the discount rate and a 5% decrease in cash
flows would cause the carrying value to exceed
the faiff r value and trigger an (additional)
impairment $ 8.9 $ 27.2 $ 2.3

As of December 29, 2023, we are not aware of any additional items or events, other than the impairment recorded in our

prepared foods reporting unit durdd ing the fourth quarter of 2023, that would cause an adjud stment to the carrying value of our

goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Impaim rment of Lo ong-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets (or asset groupsu ) with identifiaff bla e cash floff ws for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances (triggering events) indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e. Once a triggering event

has occurred, the impairment test performed is based on whether the Company’s intent is to hold the asset forff continued use or

to hold the asset forff sale. The impairment test for assets held for use requires a comparison of the estimated undiscounted cash
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flows expected to be generated over the usefulff life off f the significant asset of an asset group to the carrying amount of the asset

group. An asset group is generally establa ished by identifyiff ng the lowest level of cash floff ws generated by a group of assets that

are largely independent of the cash floff ws of other assets and could include assets used across multiple businesses. In the event

the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds the estimated undiscounted future cash floff ws, an impairment would be measured

as the diffeff rence between the faiff r value of the asset group and the carrying amount of the asset group. The faiff r value of an asset

is measured by either determining the expected future discounted cash floff ws of the asset group or by independent appraisal.

Determining whether a long-lived asset group is impaired requires various estimates and assumptions by management,

including assessment of whether a triggering event has occurred, the identificff ation of asset groups, forff ecasts of futurt e sales

volume and pricing, cost of sales, expenses, tax rates, capital spending and the weighted-average cost of capia tal. These

estimates, many of which falff l under Level 3 within the faiff r value measurement hierarchy, determine whether impairments have

been incurred and quantify tff he amount of any related impairment charges.

Certain definff ite-lived intangible assets related to our fresh and value-added products segment are sensitive to changes in

estimated cash floff ws. During the fourth quarter of 2023, we identified factors which indicated the carrying amounts of certain

fresh and value-added assets associated with Mann Packing may not be recoverabla e. These factff ors included (1) a sustained

decline in actuat l and projected sales and gross margins, (2) conclusions reached from management's strategic review of Mann

Packing finff alized in the fourff th quarter and (3) impairment charges of goodwill in our prepared foods reporting unit which is

included within our freff sh and value-added products segment. Based on the results of our recoverabia lity test performed, we

determined the carrying amounts of certain fresh and value-added assets exceeded their faiff r values and we recorded non-cash

impairment charges of $109.6 million, including impairment charges to customer relationships intangible assets of $88.6

million, trade names of $8.3 million, and building, land and land improvements of $12.7 million. To the extent that futff urt e

developments result in estimated cash floff ws that are less than currently estimated levels, it could lead to further impairment of

these assets or other long-lived assets.

Income Taxesaa

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of diffeff rences between the tax basis of assets and

liabia lities and their financial reporting amounts at each year end, based on enacted tax laws and statuttt ory trr ax rates appla icable to

the year in which the differences are expected to affeff ct taxabla e income. In calculating our effeff ctive income tax rate as part of

our deferred income taxes, we make judgments regarding certain tax positions, including the timing and amount of deductions

and allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions with disparate tax laws. Valuation allowances are established when it

is deemed more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferff red tax assets will not be realized. We review the

realizability of our deferred tax asset valuation allowances on a quarterly basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that a review is required.

The assessment of realizability is dependent upon management’s estimates and assumptions, including an estimate of futurt e

reversals of existing taxable temporary drr iffeff rences, forff ecasted futff urt e taxable income, and the implementation and success of

any tax planning strategies that may be employed to prevent an operating loss or tax credit carryforward froff m expiring unused.

To the extent that results differ froff m our original or adjud sted estimates, the effect will be recorded in the provision for income

taxes in the period that the matter is resolved.

Additionally, as a matter of course, the Company is regularly audited by fedff eral, state and forff eign tax authorities. From time to

time, these audits result in proposed assessments. Our determinations regarding the recognition of income tax benefits are made

in consultation with outside tax and legal counsel, where appropriate, and are based upon the merits of our tax positions in

consideration of appla icable tax statutes in the associated jurisdictions. The tax benefitsff ultimately realized by the Company may

differ froff m those recognized in our future financial statements based on a number of factff ors, including the Company’s success

in supporu ting its filing positions with taxing authorities. See Note 9, “In“ come Taxesaa ” to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in Item 8. Financial StaSS tements att nd Supplementary Data for additional discussion.

New Accountintt g ProPP nouncements

For a description of new applicable accounting pronouncements, referff to Note 2, “Summary of Signii fii cant Accounting Policies”

to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8. Financial StaS tements att nd Supplementary Data.

Off-Bff alanll ce Sheet Arrangements

We are not involved in any off-bff alance sheet arrangements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates, which may adversely affecff t our

results of operations and finff ancial condition. We seek to minimize the risks froff m these currency exchange rate and interest rate

fluctuations through our regular operating and financing activities and, when considered appropriate, through the use of

derivative finff ancial instruments. Our policy is to not use finff ancial instruments forff trading or other speculative purposrr es and not

to be a party to any leveraged financial instrumrr ents.

We manage our currency exchange rate risk by hedging a portion of our overall exposure to currency fluff ctuat tion through

foreign exchange forward contracts. We manage our exposure to interest rate fluff ctuat tions on a portion of our debt through

interest rate swaps which convert the floff ating rate to a fixed rate, plus a borrowing spread. We also have procedured s to monitor

the impact of market risk on the faiff r value of long-term debt, short-term debt instruments and other finff ancial instruments,

considering reasonabla y possible changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Exchange Rate Riskii

Because we conduct our operations in many areas of the world involving transactions denominated in a variety of currencies,

our results of operations as expressed in U.S. dollars may be significantly affeff cted by fluctuations in rates of exchange between

currencies. These fluff ctuat tions could be significant. Approximately 34% and 28% of our net sales and a significant portion of

our costs and expenses in each of 2023 and 2022 were denominated in currencies other than the dollar. We generally are unabla e

to adjud st our non-dollar local currency sales prices to reflect changes in exchange rates between the dollar and the relevant local

currency. As a result, changes in exchange rates between the Euro, Japaa nese yen, British pound, Korean won or other currencies

in which we receive sale proceeds and the dollar have a direct impact on our operating results. Our costs are also affecff ted by

fluctuations in the value, relative to U.S. dollar, of the currencies of the countries in which we have significant production

operations, such as the Costa Rican colon, Guatemalan quetzal, Chilean peso, Kenya shilling, and Mexican peso. A weaker U.S.

dollar may result in increased costs of production abra oad. There is normally a time lag between the moment we incur costs and

the moment we collect payments for our products, exposing us to additional currency exchange rate risk.

To reduce currency exchange rate risk, we generally exchange local currencies forff dollars promptly upon receipt. We

periodically enter into currency forff ward contracts as a hedge against a portion of our currency exchange rate exposures;

however, we may decide not to enter into these contracts durd ing any particular period. We had several foreign currency cash

flow hedges outstanding, and the fair value of these hedges was a net liabia lity of $0.3 million as of December 29, 2023 and $6.7

million as of December 30, 2022.

The results of a hypothetical 10% strengthening in the average value of the dollar durdd ing 2023 and 2022 relative to the other

currencies in which a significant portion of our net sales are denominated would have resulted in a decrease in net sales of

approximately $146.0 million and $126.0 million forff the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022. This

calculation assumes that each exchange rate would change in the same direction relative to the dollar. Our sensitivity analysis of

the effects of changes in currency exchange rates does not factor in a potential change in sales levels or any offsff etting gains on

currency forff ward contracts.

Interest Rate Riskii

As described in Note 11, “De“ bt” to the Consolidated Financial Statements, our indebtedness is both variabla e and fixed rate.

Changes in interest rates in our indebtedness could have a material effect on our financial statements.

At year end December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, total variabla e rate debt had carryirr ng values of $400.0 million and

$519.1 million. The faiff r value of the debt appra oximates the carrying value because the variabla e rates approximate market rates.

A 10% increase in the interest rate for 2023 and 2022 would have resulted in a negative impact of approximately $2.8 million

on our results of operations for each of the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022.

To reduce interest rate risk, during 2018, we entered into interest rate swapsa in order to hedge the risk of the fluctuation on

future interest expense related to a portion of our variable rate, LIBOR-based borrowings under our Credit Facility through

2028; however, we may decide not to enter into these contracts durdd ing any particular period. We amended our Second A&R

Credit Agreement and our interest rate swaps to transition froff m LIBOR to SOFR as a referff ence rate effeff ctive January 3, 2023.

At year end December 29, 2023, the faiff r value of the interest rate swap ca ontracts were in a net asset position of $7.9 million

compared to a net asset position of $15.8 million as of December 30, 2022.
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At December 29, 2023, the notional value of interest rate contracts outstanding was $400 million, with $200 million maturt ing in

2024 and the remaining $200 million maturt ing in 2028.

The abovea discussion of our procedurd es to monitor market risk and the estimated changes in faiff r value resulting from our

sensitivity analysis are forff ward-looking statements of market risk assuming certain adverse market conditions occur.

Actual results in the futff urt e may differ materially from these estimated results due to actuatt l developments in the global finff ancial

markets. The analysis methods we used to assess and mitigate risk discussed aboa ve should not be considered projections of

future events or losses.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forff ward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities

Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These

statements concern expectations, beliefs, projeo ctions, plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions

concerning matters that are not historical facts. Specifically, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking

statements including, but not limited to the following:

� our beliefs regarding our market positions in our different producd t categories and the contributing factff ors to such

market positions;

� our beliefs regarding our opportunity to be a preferred supplier to large retail, convenience store chain, and food

service customers and our methods to expand or establa ish such status;

� our beliefs regarding the growth of the freff sh-cut producd e category arr nd fresh produce industry arr nd differentiation

within the indusd try;rr

� our expectation to continue investing in new product development to increase revenue and maintain our premium price

position and market leadership in our product categories;

� our beliefs regarding increases in outsourcing by food retailers, the drivers of that trend, and the beneficiaries of such

increases;

� our beliefs regarding our ability to leverage our existing distribution network and infraff structurt e to expand the market

reach of our Mann Packing products;

� our beliefs regarding our competitive advantages and the reasons for those advantages;

� our beliefs and expectations of our ability to generate cost savings, expand our cargo business, and improve the quality

of our products;

� our beliefs regarding the barriers to entry in the pineapple and non-tropical fruit markets;

� our expectations regarding the competitive pressures in the markets that we operate in;

� our beliefs regarding our positioning to increase market share and our strategies to do so;

� our beliefs regarding the materiality of our legal proceedings;

� our beliefs regarding the benefits of diversity and inclusion within our workforce;

� our beliefs related to the sufficiency of our capital resources;

� our beliefs regarding the impacts of consolidation in our industry;rr

� our beliefs regarding the adequacy of our insurance coverage;

� our beliefs regarding the sufficiency of our information technology protections and practices;

� our expectations and estimates regarding certain legal, tax and accounting matters, including our litigation strategy,

plans and beliefs rff egarding the ultimate outcome of income tax adjustments assessed by forff eign taxing authorities;

� our belief that we will be successfulff in our contests of certain proposed adjud stments by taxing authorities;

� our belief that our cash on hand, capacity availabla e under our Revolving Credit Facility, and cash floff ws from

operations will be sufficient to service our outstanding debt during the next twelve months;

� our expectations regarding fluff ctuat tions in the finff ancial performance of our business dued to seasonality;

� our plans and strategies to expand various categories of our business in our geographic markets;

� our beliefs regarding opportunities forff sales growth and development of our fresh and prepared fooff d products in the

Middle East, North Africa and Central Asian countries and the drivers of continued net sales growth across our

segments;

� our expectations and strategies forff net sales growth in our respective geographic markets, including new product

offeff rings and expansion of existing product offerff ings, increased sales volumes of existing products, expansion in

various markets and targeting of convenience stores and foodsff ervice trades in selected markets;

� our expectation that a significant portion of our revenues will continue to be derived froff m a relatively small number of

customers and our beliefs regarding the factors that go into the purchase decisions of such customers;

� our expectations regarding the expansion of our third-party ocean freight services and other new logistic services to

provide a meaningfulff contribution to our profitaff bia lity and operating results;
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� our beliefs regarding compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

� our expectations regarding our further equity investments in companies;

� our beliefs regarding the increasing emphasis on foodff safety issues;

� our expectations regarding capital expenditures in 2024, including for research and development;

� our expectations regarding inflaff tionary pressures and the impacts to our future operating results;

� our expectations relating to sales growth;

� our expectations regarding share repurchases;

� our expectations regarding estimated liabia lities and expenditures related to environmental cleanup;

� our expectations regarding voting practices of our principal shareholders;

� our beliefs regarding trends in consumer demand and factff ors that provide differentiation;

� our expectations regarding our derivative instrumrr ents, including our counterparr rties’ credit ratings and the anticipated

impacts on our financial statements;

� our expectations concerning the faiff r value of hedges, including the timing and impact to our results; and

� our strategic plans and futff urt e performance.

These forff ward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and are subju ect to risks, uncertainties and

assumptions. We wish to caution readers that certain important factors may have affeff cted and could in the future affeff ct our

actual results and could cause actual results to diffeff r significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement.

Various factors could prevent us froff m achieving our goals, and cause the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements

and the actuatt l results and performance to differ materially froff m those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking

statements include, but are not limited to, the folff lowing:

� the impact of inflationary pressures on raw materials and other costs;

� the impact of increased costs forff many of our products, including bananas, pineapples, avocados and other fresh

producdd e;

� the impact of pricing and other actions by competitors, particularly during periods of low consumer confidff ence and

spending levels;

� our ability to successfulff ly compete in the markets in which we do business;

� the impact on our business of the consolidation of retailers, wholesalers and distributors in the food industry;rr

� the impact of foreign currency fluff ctuat tions and currency exchange risks because of our international business;

� the impact on our sales and profitsff if we lose one or more of our largest customers or such customers reducd e their

purchases from us;

� the availabia lity of sufficient labor during peak growing and harvesting seasons;

� the continued abia lity of our distributors and supplu iers to have access to suffiff cient liquidity to fund their operations;

� the impact of governmental trade restrictions, including adverse governmental regulation that may impact our ability to

access certain markets;

� our anticipated cash needs in light of our liquidity;

� trends and other factors affecting our financial condition or results of operations from period to period, including

changes in product mix, consumer preferff ences or consumer demand for branded products such as ours; anticipated

price and expense levels;

� the impact of crop disease, such as vascular diseases, one of which is known as Tropical Race 4, or TR4 (also known

as Panama Disease);

� our ability to improve our existing quarantine policies and other prevention strategies, as well as find contingency

plans, to protect our and our supplu iers’ banana crops from vascular diseases;

� global or local disruptrr ions or issues that impact our production faciff lities or complex logistics network;

� our inability to realize expected benefits on plans forff expansion of our business (including through acquisitions);

� our ability to successfulff ly integrate acquisitions and new product lines into our operations;

� the impact of impairment or other charges associated with exit activities, crop or facility damage or otherwise,

� the timing and cost of resolution of pending and futff urt e legal and environmental proceedings or investigation;

� the impact of changes in tax accounting or tax laws (or interprrr etations thereof), the impact of claims or adjud stments

proposed by the Internal Revenue Service or other taxing authorities, including the EU, in connection with our tax

audits and our ability to successfulff ly contest such tax claims and pursue necessary remedies;

� the success of our joint ventures;

� the impact of severe weather conditions and naturt al disasters, such as flooding and earthquakes, on crop quality and

yields and on our ability to grow, procure or export our products;

� the adequacy of our insurance coverage;

� the cost and other implications of changes in regulations applicable to our business, including potential legislative or

regulatory irr nitiatives in the United States or elsewhere directed at mitigating the effeff cts of climate change;

� damage to our reputation or brand names or negative publicity about our products;
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� exposure to product liabia lity claims and associated regulatory arr nd legal actions, product recalls, or other legal

proceedings relating to our business;

� our ability to continue to comply with covenants and the terms of our credit instruments and our ability to obtain

additional finff ancing to fund our capital expenditures;

� our ability to successfulff ly manage the risks associated with international operations, including risks relating to political

or economic conditions, inflaff tion, tax laws, currency restrictions and exchange rate fluctuations, legal or judicial

systems.

The forff egoing list of important factors does not include all such factff ors, nor necessarily present them in order of importance. In

addition, you should consult other disclosures made by us (such as in our other filinff gs with the SEC or in company press

releases) forff other facff tors that may cause actuat l results to differ materially from those projeo cted by the Company. Please referff to

Part I. Item 1A., Riskii Factorsrr , of this Annual Report on Form 10-K forff additional inforff mation regarding factors that could

affeff ct our results of operations, finff ancial condition and liquidity.

We intend our forward-looking statements to speak only as of the time of such statements and do not undertake or plan to

update or revise them as more information becomes availabla e or to refleff ct changes in expectations, assumptions or results,

except as required by appla icable law. We can give no assurance that such expectations or forward-looking statements will prove

to be correct. An occurrence of, or any material adverse change in, one or more of the risk factors or risks and uncertainties

referred to in this report or included in our other periodic reports filed with the SEC could materially and adversely impact our

operations and our future financial results.

Any public statements or disclosures made by us folff lowing this report that modify or impact any of the forward-looking

statements contained in or accompanying this report will be deemed to modify or supeu rsede such outlook or other forff ward-

looking statements in or accompanying this report.
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Report of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. and subsu idiaries’ internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 29,
2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Fresh Del Monte Produce
Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting as
of December 29, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the 2023 consolidated financial statements and schedule of the Company and our report dated Februarr ry 26, 2024
expressed an unqualifieff d opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over finff ancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the appla icable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether effective internal control over finff ancial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external purposrr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urtt e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurdd es may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Miami, Florida

Februarr ry 26, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. and subsu idiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, cash floff ws and shareholders’ equity and redeemable noncontrolling interest forff each of the three years

in the period ended December 29, 2023, and the related notes and supplemental finff ancial statement scheduld e listed in the Index
at Item 15 (collectively referff red to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present faiff rly, in all material respects, the finff ancial position of the Company at December 29, 2023 and December
30, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws for each of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2023,

in conforff mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 29, 2023, based on criteria established in

Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) and our report dated Februarr ry 26, 2024 expressed an unqualifieff d opinion thereon.

Basis forff Opinion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dued to
error or fraff ud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedurdd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Mii atMM tett rs

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising froff m thett current period audit of to hett financial statementstt
that were communicated or required to be communicated to thett audit committee and that: (1)(( relates to accounts ott r disclosures
that are material to thett financial statements att nd (2) i2 nvolved our espes cially challenging, subjective or complm ex judgments. TheTT

communication of co ritical audit matters does not alter in any way oa ur opinion on the consolidatdd ed financial statements,tt taken

as a whole, and we are not, bt y cb ommunicating thett critical audit matters below, providing a separate opio nion on the critical

audit matters or on the accounts ott r disclosures to which thett y re elate.e
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Valuatiott n of Go oodwGG ill and IndII efdd inff ite-tt Li- ved Intangible Assets

Descripti ion of to hett
Matter

At December 29, 2023, the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets were
$433.5 million. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested forff impairment at least annually, at the
reporting unit level. The carrying values of the prepared foods reporting unit’s goodwill,
and the Del Monte® prepared foods reporting unit’s trade names and trademarks are $27.2
million and $30.8 million, respectively as of December 29, 2023. Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements discloses the sensitivity of fair value of these assets to changes in
assumptions and underlying data used by the Company in their impairment accounting
model including differff ences between estimated and actuat l cash floff ws and in discount rates
used.

The Company measured the faiff r value of the goodwill using an income appa roach and the faiff r

value of trade names and trademarks using a royalty savings method, and determined the

carryirr ng value of the prepared foods reporting unit exceeded its fair value and, thereforff e,

recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $21.6 million during the year ended December

29, 2023

Auditing the Company’s annual impairment test related to the prepared foodsff reporting

unit’s goodwill, and the Del Monte® prepared foods reporting unit’s trade names and

trademarks was complex and required the involvement of our specialists due to the

judgmental naturt e of the assumptions used in the valuation models described abovea .

Moreover, these assets are more sensitive to the diffeff rences between estimated and actual

cash floff ws, and changes in discount and royalty rates used to estimate their faiff r value.

Assumptions related to estimated cash flows (specifically sales and cost of products sold and

long-term growth rates forff sales and cost of products sold) are judgmental as they are

affeff cted by expectations about future market or economic conditions, which can varyrr

significantly and depend on market forff ces and events outside of the Company’s control.

How We AWW ddredd ssed
the MatMM ter in our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness
of controls over the Company’s impairment review process related to the prepared fooff ds
reporting unit’s goodwill, and the Del Monte® prepared fooff ds reporting unit’s trade names
and trademarks, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions
described abova e.

To test the estimated faiff r value of the Company’s prepared fooff ds reporting unit’s goodwill,

and the Del Monte® prepared foods reporting unit’s trade names and trademarks, our audit

procedurd es included, among others, evaluating the methodologies used, the significant

assumptions discussed abovea , and the underlying data used by the Company. Such data

includes historical sales and cost data, go forff ward business plans and planned capital

expenditures, as well as data from comparabla e companies. We involved our valuation

specialists to assist in our procedurd es and to independently evaluate the reasonabla eness of

the ranges forff the discount and royalty rates. We compared the significant assumptions to

current industry arr nd economic trends, as well as market facff tor changes, to the Company’s

business model, and other relevant facff tors. We assessed the historical accuracy of

management’s estimates by comparing them to actuat l operating results and performed

sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions described abovea to evaluate the impact on

the faiff r value of the prepared foodsff reporting unit’s goodwill and the Del Monte® prepared

foods reporting unit’s trade names and trademarks.
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Impaim rmii ent of Lo ong-Li- ved Assets

Descripti ion of to hett
Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, long-lived assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e. As more fully described in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements, during the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company
determined that certain freff sh and value-added assets in North America had indicators of
impairment. Accordingly, the Company performed a recoverabia lity test and concluded that
an impairment loss should be measured. The Company measured the impairment of $109.6
million by recording the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeded the
fair value of the assets. The Company measured the faiff r value of certain fresh and value-
added long-lived assets in North America based on discounted future cash floff ws and
independent appraisals from third parties.

Auditing the Company’s impairment testing of fresh and value-added long-lived assets in
North America was complex and required the involvement of our specialists due to the
judgmental naturt e of the assumptions used in the valuation models described abovea .
Moreover, these assets are more sensitive to the differff ences between estimated and actual
cash flows, and changes in discount rates used to estimate their faiff r value. Assumptions
related to estimated cash floff ws (specifically sales and cost of products sold and long-term
growth rates forff sales and cost of products sold) are judgmental as they are affeff cted by
expectations about future market or economic conditions, which can vary significantly and
depend on market forces and events outside of the Company’s control.

How We AWW ddredd ssed
the MatMM ter in our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness
of controls over the Company’s impairment review process related to fresh and value-added
long-lived assets in North America, including controls over management’s review of the
significant assumptions described abovea .

To test the estimated faiff r value of the Company’s freff sh and value-added long-lived assets in

North America, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the methodologies

used, the significant assumptions discussed abovea , and the underlying data used by the

Company. Such data includes historical sales and cost data, go forff ward business plans and

planned capital expenditures, as well as data from comparabla e companies. We involved our

valuation specialists to assist in our procedurd es and to independently evaluate the

reasonabla eness of the ranges forff the discount rates. We compared the significant

assumptions to current industry arr nd economic trends, as well as market factff or changes, to

the Company’s business model, and other relevant factors. We assessed the historical

accuracy of management’s estimates by comparing them to actuat l operating results and

performed sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions described abovea to evaluate the

impact on the faiff r value of fresh and value-added long-lived assets in North America.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1997.

Miami, Florida

Februarr ry 26, 2024
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FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 33.8 $ 17.2

Trade accounts receivabla e, net of allowance of
$20.8 and $21.6, respectively 387.0 373.5

Other accounts receivabla e, net of allowance of
$5.6 and $5.7, respectively 95.1 91.0

Inventories, net 599.9 669.0

Assets held for sale 4.5 67.3

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 24.0 23.4

Total current assets 1,144.3 1,241.4

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated companies 22.2 18.0

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,256.4 1,309.5

Operating lease right-of-use assets 213.8 213.8

Goodwill 401.9 422.9

Intangible assets, net 33.3 135.0

Deferred income taxes 51.5 47.4

Other noncurrent assets 60.7 70.9

Total assets $ 3,184.1 $ 3,458.9

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current liabia lities:

Accounts payable and accruer d expenses $ 479.0 $ 549.9

Current maturities of debt and finance leases 1.4 1.3

Current maturities of operating leases 48.6 41.6

Income taxes and other taxes payabla e 11.6 14.2

Total current liabia lities 540.6 607.0

Long-term debt and finance leases 406.1 547.1

Operating leases, less current maturities 142.1 147.3

Retirement benefitff s 82.3 82.4

Other noncurrent liabia lities 27.6 28.5

Deferred income taxes 72.7 71.6

Total liabia lities 1,271.4 1,483.9

Commitments and contingencies (See note 16)

Redeemable noncontrolling interest — 49.4

Shareholders' equity:

Preferff red shares, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares
authorized; none issued or outstanding — —

Ordinary shares, $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares
authorized; 47,629,018 and 47,838,680 issued and outstanding, respectively 0.5 0.5

Paid-in capital 597.7 548.1

Retained earnings 1,341.4 1,397.6

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (43.3) (41.5)

Total Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. shareholders' equity 1,896.3 1,904.7

Noncontrolling interests 16.4 20.9

Total shareholders' equity 1,912.7 1,925.6

Total liabia lities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and shareholders' equity $ 3,184.1 $ 3,458.9

See accompanying notes.
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FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATRR IONS

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Net sales $ 4,320.7 $ 4,442.3 $ 4,252.0

Cost of products sold 3,970.0 4,102.1 3,948.2

Gross profit 350.7 340.2 303.8

Selling, general and administrative expenses 186.7 186.8 192.9

Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net
and subsidiary 37.9 (1.9) 4.6

Asset impairment and other charges (credits), net 143.4 (4.8) 4.5

Operating income 58.5 156.3 111.0

Interest expense 24.1 24.4 20.3

Interest income 1.4 0.7 0.6

Other expense, net 19.3 14.8 9.4

Income before income taxes 16.5 117.8 81.9

Income tax provision 18.1 20.1 2.0

Net (loss) income $ (1.6) $ 97.7 $ 79.9

Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable and
noncontrolling interests 9.8 (0.9) (0.1)

Net (loss) income attributable to
Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. $ (11.4) $ 98.6 $ 80.0

Net (loss) income per ordinary srr hare attributable to
Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. - Basic $ (0.24) $ 2.06 $ 1.68

Net (loss) income per ordinary srr hare attributable to
Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. - Diluted $ (0.24) $ 2.06 $ 1.68

Dividends declared per ordinary srr hare $ 0.75 $ 0.60 $ 0.50

Weighted average number of ordinary srr hares:

Basic 47,979,143 47,790,920 47,508,208

Diluted 47,979,143 47,943,464 47,701,397

See accompanying notes.
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FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Net (loss) income $ (1.6) $ 97.7 $ 79.9

Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Net unrealized (loss) gain on derivatives, net of tax (2.2) 46.9 8.7

Net unrealized foreign currency translation loss (3.5) (18.6) (14.1)

Release of cumulative translation adjud stment due to
subsu tantial liquidation of a forff eign entity 2.4 — —

Net change in retirement benefitff adjud stment, net of tax 1.5 (2.9) 15.5

Comprehensive (loss) income (3.4) 123.1 90.0

Less: comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
redeemable and noncontrolling interests 9.8 (0.9) (0.1)

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Fresh Del Monte
Produce Inc. $ (13.2) $ 124.0 $ 90.1

See accompanying notes.
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FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Operating activities:

Net (loss) income $ (1.6) $ 97.7 $ 79.9

Adjud stments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization 84.8 92.5 96.8

Amortization of debt issuance costs 0.5 0.6 0.6

Share-based compensation expense 9.9 6.9 7.6

Asset impairment charges 141.3 3.5 3.8

Change in uncertain tax positions 1.5 1.7 2.3

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and subsidiary, net (37.9) 1.9 (4.6)

Deferred income taxes (3.8) 2.5 (15.0)

Adjud stment of Kunia Well Site liabia lity — (9.9) —

Gain on release of cumulative translation adjustment (2.4) — —

Other, net (1.3) 1.6 (11.1)

Changes in operating assets and liabia lities

Receivabla es (19.3) (37.4) (13.9)

Inventories 64.7 (72.1) (105.1)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1.7 (0.2) 7.2

Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses (64.1) (17.8) 78.3

Other noncurrent assets and liabia lities 3.9 (9.7) 1.7

Net cash provided by operating activities 177.9 61.8 128.5

Investing activities:

Capia tal expenditures (57.7) (48.1) (98.5)

Investments in unconsolidated companies (5.3) (9.7) (7.0)

Proceeds froff m sales of property, plant and equipment and subsu idiary 119.9 8.7 17.5

Cash (paid) received froff m settlement of derivatives not designated as hedges — (0.2) 4.6

Other investing activities (0.5) 0.2 0.9

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 56.4 (49.1) (82.5)

Financing activities:

Proceeds froff m long-term debt 590.5 1,066.3 703.4

Payments on long-term debt (730.3) (1,045.6) (726.0)

Purchase of noncontrolling interest (5.2) — —

Distributions to noncontrolling interests (17.9) (0.9) (6.5)

Repurchase and retirement of ordinary srr hares (11.8) — —

Share-based awards settled in cash forff taxes (0.8) (1.6) (0.4)

Dividends paid (35.9) (28.7) (23.7)

Other finff ancing activities (2.1) (1.5) —

Net cash used in finff ancing activities (213.5) (12.0) (53.2)

Effeff ct of exchange rate changes on cash (4.2) 0.4 6.8

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16.6 1.1 (0.4)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 17.2 16.1 16.5

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 33.8 $ 17.2 $ 16.1

Supplemental cash floff w inforff mation:

Cash paid for interest $ 24.2 $ 23.5 $ 19.9

Cash paid for income taxes $ 14.9 $ 13.3 $ 9.5

Non-cash financing and investing activities:

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations $ 51.0 $ 59.6 $ 78.8

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange forff new finff ance lease obligations $ 0.2 $ 0.1 $ 9.9

Dividends on restricted stock units $ 0.4 $ — $ 0.2

Insurance receivable for loss dued to property damages $ 0.9 $ — $ —

See accompanying notes.
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FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

Ordinary
Shares

Outstanding
Ordinary
Shares

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Fresh Del
Monte

Produce Inc.
Shareholders'
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

Redeemable
Noncontrolling
Interest

Balance at January 1, 2021 47,372,419 $ 0.5 $ 533.1 $ 1,271.4 $ (77.0) $ 1,728.0 $ 21.7 $ 1,749.7 $ 50.2

Exercises of stock options 4,000 — 0.1 — — 0.1 — 0.1 —

Settlement of restricted stock awards 178,276 — — — — — — — —

Share-based payment expense — — 7.6 — — 7.6 — 7.6 —

Distribution to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (0.4) (0.4) (0.2)

Dividend declared — — 0.2 (23.7) — (23.5) — (23.5) —

Comprehensive income:

Net income (loss) — — — 80.0 — 80.0 0.4 80.4 (0.5)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives, net of
tax — — — — 8.7 8.7 — 8.7 —

Net unrealized foreign currency translation
(loss) gain — — — — (14.1) (14.1) — (14.1) —

Change in retirement benefitff adjud stment,
net of tax — — — — 15.5 15.5 — 15.5 —

Comprehensive income (loss) 90.1 0.4 90.5 (0.5)

Balance at December 31, 2021 47,554,695 $ 0.5 $ 541.0 $ 1,327.7 $ (66.9) $ 1,802.3 $ 21.7 $ 1,824.0 $ 49.5

Exercises of stock options 7,000 — 0.2 — — 0.2 — 0.2 —

Settlement of restricted stock units 276,985 — — — — — — — —

Share-based payment expense — — 6.9 — — 6.9 — 6.9 —

Disposal of noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 0.3 0.3 —

Distribution to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (0.3) (0.3) —

Dividend declared — — — (28.7) — (28.7) — (28.7) —

Comprehensive income:

Net income (loss) — — — 98.6 — 98.6 (0.8) 97.8 (0.1)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives, net of
tax — — — — 46.9 46.9 — 46.9 —

Net unrealized foreign currency translation
(loss) gain — — — — (18.6) (18.6) — (18.6) —

Change in retirement benefitff adjud stment,
net of tax — — — — (2.9) (2.9) — (2.9) —

Comprehensive income (loss) 124.0 (0.8) 123.2 (0.1)

Balance at December 30, 2022 47,838,680 $ 0.5 $ 548.1 $ 1,397.6 $ (41.5) $ 1,904.7 $ 20.9 $ 1,925.6 $ 49.4

Exercises of stock options 2,418 — — — — — — — —

Settlement of restricted stock units 287,920 — — — — — — — —

Share-based payment expense — — 9.8 — — 9.8 — 9.8 —

Distribution to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (14.4) (14.4) (1.4)

Dividend declared — — 0.5 (36.4) — (35.9) — (35.9) —

Settlement of redeemable noncontrolling
interest — — 42.7 — — 42.7 — 42.7 (47.9)

Repurchase and retirement of ordinary srr hares (500,000) — (3.4) (8.4) — (11.8) — (11.8) —

Comprehensive income:

Net income (loss) — — — (11.4) — (11.4) 9.9 (1.5) (0.1)

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives, net of
tax — — — — (2.2) (2.2) — (2.2) —

Net unrealized foreign currency translation
(loss) gain — — — — (3.5) (3.5) — (3.5) —

Release of cumulative translation
adjud stment due to subsu tantial liquidation of
a forff eign entity — — — — 2.4 2.4 — 2.4 —

Change in retirement benefit adjustment,
net of tax — — — — 1.5 1.5 — 1.5 —

Comprehensive income (loss) (13.2) 9.9 (3.3) (0.1)

Balance at December 29, 2023 47,629,018 $ 0.5 $ 597.7 $ 1,341.4 $ (43.3) $ 1,896.3 $ 16.4 $ 1,912.7 $ —

See accompanying notes.
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1. General

Reference in this Report to “Fresh Del Monte,” “we,” “our” and “us” and the “Company” refer to Fresh Del Monte Produce

Inc. and its subsu idiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

Nature of Busineii ss

We are one of the world’s leading vertically integrated producers, marketers and distributors of high-quality fresh and freff sh-cut

fruit and vegetables, as well as a leading producer and marketer of prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, beverages and snacks

in Europe, Africa and the Middle East. We market our producd ts worldwide under the Del MontMM e® brand, a symbol of product

innovation, quality, freshness and reliabia lity since 1892. Our major sales markets are organized as follows: North America,

Europe, the Middle East (which includes North Afriff ca) and Asia. Our global sourcing and logistics system allows us to provide

regular delivery orr f consistently high-quality producd e and value-added services to our customers. Our major producing

operations are located in North, Central and South America, Asia and Africa. Our products are sourced from our company-

controlled operations and through supplu y contracts with independent growers.

Our business is comprised of three reportabla e segments, two of which represent our primary brr usinesses of freff sh and value-

added products and banana, and one that represents our other ancillary businesses.

� Fresh and value-added products - includes pineapples, freff sh-cut fruirr t, fresh-cut vegetabla es (which includes freff sh-cut

salads), melons, vegetabla es, non-tropical fruirr t (which includes grapea s, apples, citrusrr , blueberries, strawberries, pears,

peaches, plums, nectarines, cherries and kiwis), other fruff it and vegetables, avocados, and prepared foods (which

includes prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, other beverages, and meals and snacks).

� Banana

� Other products and services - includes our third-party freff ight and logistic services business and our Jordanian poultryrr

and meats business.

Fiscii al Year

Our fisff cal year end is the last Friday of the calendar year or the firff st Friday subsu equent to the end of the calendar year,

whichever is closest to the end of the calendar year. Fiscal year 2023 had 52 weeks and ended on December 29, 2023. Fiscal

year 2022 had 52 weeks and ended on December 30, 2022. Fiscal year 2021 had 52 weeks and ended on December 31, 2021.

Basis oii f Po rePP sentattt iott n

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements in

accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported in our

Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Actuat l results could diffeff r froff m these estimates.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of our majoa rity owned subsidiaries, which we control due to

ownership of a majoa rity voting interest. Additionally, we consolidate variable interest entities (“VIEs”) when we have variabla e

interests and are the primary beneficiary.rr All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

We are required to evaluate events occurring afteff r December 29, 2023, our fiscal year end, for recognition and disclosure in the

Consolidated Financial Statements forff the year ended fisff cal 2023. Events are evaluated based on whether they represent

information existing as of December 29, 2023, which require recognition in the Consolidated Financial Statements, or new

events occurring afteff r December 29, 2023, which do not require recognition but require disclosure if the event is significant to

the Consolidated Financial Statements. We evaluated events occurring subsu equent to December 29, 2023 through the date of

issuance of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Cash and CasCC h Equivalenll ts

We classify as cash equivalents all highly liquid investments with a maturt ity of three months or less at the time of purchase.

Trade Receivablesll

Trade receivabla es less allowances are recognized on our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at net realizable value,

which refleff cts the net amount expected to be collected from customers. Our allowance forff trade receivabla es consists of two

components: a $7.4 million allowance forff credit losses and a $13.4 million allowance for customer claims, which are accounted

for under the scope of ASC 606 - Revenue Recognition.

We estimate expected credit losses on our trade receivables in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)

326 - Financial InsII truments - CreCC dit Losses. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjud st credit limits

based uponu payment history and customers’ credit worthiness, as determined by our review of their current credit information.

We measure the allowance forff credit losses on trade receivabla es on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics

exist. We generally pool our trade receivabla es based on geographic region or country to which the receivabla es relate.

Receivabla es that do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated forff collectibility on an individual basis.

Our historical credit loss experience provides the basis forff our estimation of expected credit losses. We generally use a three-

year average of annual loss rates as a starting point for our estimation, and make adjustments to the historical loss rates to

account for diffeff rences in current conditions impacting the collectibility of our receivabla e pools. We generally monitor

macroeconomic indicators to assess whether adjustments are necessary to reflect current conditions.

Our allowances for identifieff d claims are recorded as a reducd tion to both trade accounts receivabla e and net sales. Write-off of

accounts receivabla e is done only when all collection efforts have been exhausted without success.

Accounts receivabla e froff m one customer represents approximately 10% of trade accounts receivabla e, net of allowance. This

customer is current with its payments.

Othett r Accounts Rtt eceivablell

Other accounts receivabla e less allowances are recognized on our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at net realizable

value, which refleff cts the net amount expected to be collected. Other accounts receivabla e includes value-added taxes (“VAT”)

receivabla es, seasonal advances to growers and supplu iers, which are usually short-term in nature, and other finff ancing

receivabla es.

VAT receivabla es are primarily related to purchases by production units and are refunded by the taxing authorities. As of

December 29, 2023, we had $43.9 million classified as current in other accounts receivabla e and $17.7 million, net of allowance

of $3.6 million, classified as other noncurrent assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 30, 2022, we had

$38.1 million classifieff d as current in other accounts receivabla e and $16.4 million, net of allowance of $4.7 million, classified as

other noncurrent assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Advances to growers and supplu iers are generally repaid to us as produce is harvested and sold. We generally require property

liens and pledges of the current season’s produce as collateral to support the advances. Referff to Note 7, “Al“ lowance forff Credit

Losses” forff further discussion on advances to growers and supplu iers.

We measure the allowance forff credit losses on advances to supplu iers and growers on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk

characteristics exist. We generally pool our advances based on the country which they relate to, and furff ther disaggregate them

based on their current or past-dued statustt . We generally consider an advance to a grower to be past due when the advance is not

fully paid within the respective growing season. The allowance for advances to growers and supplu iers that do not share similar

risk characteristics are determined on a case-by-case basis, depending on the expected production forff the season and other

contributing factff ors. The advances are typically collateralized by property liens and pledges of the respective season's produce.

Occasionally, we agree to a payment plan with certain growers or take steps to recover the advance via establa ished collateral.

We may write-off uncollectible financing receivabla es afteff r our collection efforts are exhausted.
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Our historical credit loss experience provides the basis forff our estimation of expected credit losses. We generally use a three-

year average annual loss rate as the starting point for our estimation, and make adjustments to the historical loss rate to account

for diffeff rences in current or expected future conditions. We generally monitor macroeconomic indicators as well as other

factors, including unfavff orable weather conditions and crop diseases, which may impact the collectibility of the advances when

assessing whether adjustments to the historical loss rate are necessary.

Recoveries of other accounts receivabla e previously reserved in the allowance are credited to operating income.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is computed using the weighted average cost or firff st-in

first-out methods for finff ished goods, which includes freff sh producd e and prepared foods and the first-in first-out, actuat l cost or

average cost methods for raw materials and packaging supplies. Raw materials and packaging supplies inventory crr onsists

primarily of agricultural supplies, containerboard, packaging materials, spare parts and fueff l. Expenditures on pineappla e, melon,

vegetabla e and non-tropical fruit growing crops are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value and are deferff red and

charged to cost of products sold when the related crop is harvested and sold. The deferred growing costs included in inventories

in our Consolidated Balance Sheets consist primarily of land preparation, cultivation, irrigation and fertilization costs. For the

most part, expenditures related to banana crops are expensed in the year incurred dued to the continuous nature of the crop.

Inventories consisted of the following (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Finished goods $ 201.1 $ 205.8

Raw materials and packaging supplu ies 167.1 233.2

Growing crops 231.7 230.0

Total inventories $ 599.9 $ 669.0

Accountintt g forff Planll ned MajMM or Maintenance Activtt itiett s

We account for planned major maintenance activities, such as ship dry-dock activities, consistent with ASC guidance related to

“Other Assets and Deferff red CosCC ts.” We utilize the deferral method of accounting forff ship dry-rr dock activities whereby actuat l

costs incurred are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the next scheduldd ed dry-rr dock activity.

Investments itt n Uii ncUU onsolidatdd edtt Companies

We apply the equity method of accounting to account for investments over which we exert significant influff ence but do not hold

a controlling financial interest, or for investments in limited partnerships where our ownership interest is more than 3%-5%.

Under the equity method of accounting, investments are stated at initial cost and are adjusted forff subsu equent additional

investments and our proportionate share of earnings or losses and distributions. We present the carrying value of our equity

method investments within investments in and advances to unconsolidated companies on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our

proportionate share of the investee's net income or loss is presented under other expense, net on our Consolidated Statement of

Operations. We review our investments forff impairment when events and circumstances indicate that the decline in faiff r value of

such assets below the carrying value is other-than-temporary.rr See Note 4, “InvII estments in Unconsolidatdd ed Companies” for

further inforff mation.
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Property,tt Planll t and Equipmii ent and Othett r Long-Li- ved Assets

Property, plant and equipment additions are recorded at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the

estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 10 to 40 years forff buildings, fivff e to 20 years forff maritime and other

equipment, including ships and containers, three to 20 years forff machinery arr nd equipment, three to seven years forff furniturt e,

fixturt es and office equipment, three to seven years forff computer software, and five to 10 years forff automotive equipment

including automobiles, tractors, trailers and trucks. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease, or the

estimated useful life off f the related asset, whichever is shorter. See Note 5, “Property,tt Plant and Equipmi ent, Net” forff further

information.

When assets are retired or disposed of, tff he costs and accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed froff m the respective

accounts and any related gain or loss is recognized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Significant

expenditures, which extend the usefulff lives of assets, are capia talized. Interest is capitalized as part of the cost of construcrr tion.

Our long-lived assets other than property, plant and equipment consists of a definff ite-lived intangible asset. Intangible asset

determined to have finite life iff s amortized over the estimated useful life tff o refleff ct the pattern of economic benefits consumed,

either on a straight-line or accelerated basis. Our definff ite-lived intangible asset has a remaining amortization period of 17 years.

Amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets totaled $4.9 million for 2023, $7.8 million for 2022 and $7.6

million forff 2021, and is included in selling, general, and administrative expenses. Referff to Note 6, “Goodwill and Othett r

Intangible Assets.” forff further inforff mation.

We review long-lived assets (or asset groups) with identifiaff bla e cash floff ws for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabla e. We consider factors such as historic and

forecasted operating results, trends and futff urt e prospects, current market value, and other economic and regulatory frr acff tors in

performing these analyses. In the event that an asset is not recoverabla e, and the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the asset’s

fair value, we measure and record an impairment loss forff the excess. The faiff r value of an asset is measured by either

determining the expected future discounted cash floff w of the asset or by independent appraisal.

For long-lived assets held for sale, we record impairment losses when the carrying amount is greater than the faiff r value less the

cost to sell. We discontinue depreciation of long-lived assets when these assets are classified as held for sale and include these

assets as assets held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We incurred charges related to impairment of long-lived assets of $119.7 million in 2023, $3.5 million in 2022, and $3.8

million in 2021. Such charges are included in asset impairment and other charges (credits), net in the accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021

and are described furff ther in Note 3, “As“ set ImpII airment and Othett r CharCC ger s (Cr(( edits)tt , NetNN ” and Note 6, “Goodwill and Othett r

Intangible Assets”.

The gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net of $37.9 million during 2023 primarily related to gains on the sale of

two distribution centers and related assets in Saudi Arabia, sale of an idle production faciff lity in North America, and sale of our

plastics business subsidiary in South America. These transactions were accounted for using the guidance in ASC 610.

Assets Held for SalSS ell

Assets are classified as held for sale when (1) management approves and commits to a plan to sell the asset, (2) the asset is

availabla e forff immediate sale in its present condition, subju ect only to terms that are usual and customary, (3) an active program

to locate a buyer and other actions required to complete the plan to sell have been initiated, (4) the sale of the asset is probabla e

and is expected to be completed within one year, (5) the asset is being actively marketed forff sale at a price that is reasonabla e in

relation to its current fair value, and (6) actions necessary to complete the plan of sale indicate that it is unlikely that significant

changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Assets held for sale are stated at the lower of net book

value or estimated faiff r value less cost to sell.
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Goodwill and IndII efdd inff ite-tt Li- ved Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired entity over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. We assess goodwill at the reporting unit level on

an annual basis as of the firff st day of our fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances suggest that

goodwill may not be recoverabla e. A significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indicator of impairment

has occurred.

For those reporting units where events or changes in circumstances indicate that potential impairment indicators exist, we

perform a quantitative assessment to determine whether the carrying amount of goodwill can be recovered. When performing

the annual goodwill impairment test, we may start with an optional qualitative assessment as allowed forff under the accounting

guidance. As part of the qualitative assessment, we evaluate all events and circumstances, including both positive and negative

events, in their totality, to determine whether it is more likely than not that the faiff r value of a reporting unit is less than its

carrying amount. If we bypass the qualitative assessment, or if the qualitative assessment indicates that a quantitative analysis

should be performed, we evaluate goodwill for impairment by comparing the faiff r value of a reporting unit to its carrying value,

including the associated goodwill. We generally estimate a reporting unit’s faiff r value using a discounted cash floff w appra oach

which is dependent on several significant estimates and assumptions related to forff ecasts of future revenues, cost of sales,

expenses and the weighted-average cost of capital forff each reporting unit. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds

the estimated faiff r value, an impairment charge is recorded to reducdd e the carrying value to the estimated faiff r value. The

impairment of goodwill is limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. Any adverse changes in the

significant estimates and assumptions used in our goodwill impairment test could have a significant impact on the recoverabia lity

of goodwill and could have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. We incurred charges related to

impairment of goodwill of $21.6 million in 2023 as described furff ther in Note 3, “As“ set ImpII airment and Othett r CharCC ger s

(CreCC dits),s Net" and Note 6, “Goodwill and Othett r IntII angible Assets”. No impairment charges related to goodwill were incurred

during 2022 and 2021

An intangible asset with an indefinite usefulff life iff s not amortized but assessed forff impairment at least annually, or sooner if

indications of possible impairment are identifieff d. When perforff ming the annual impairment test, we first may start with an

optional qualitative assessment to determine whether it is not more likely than not that our indefinite-lived intangible assets are

impaired. As part of a qualitative assessment, we evaluate relevant events and circumstances that could affect the significant

inputs used to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset. If we bypass the qualitative assessment, or if the

qualitative assessment indicates that a quantitative analysis should be performed, we evaluate our indefinite-lived intangible

assets for impairment by comparing the faiff r value of the asset to its carrying amount. We generally estimate the faiff r value of our

indefinite-lived intangible assets using a royalty savings method.

See Note 6, “Goodwill and Othett r IntII angible Assets” forff further discussion.

Revenue Recogno ition

Revenue is recognized upon transferff of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the

consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those products or services. We record revenue based on a five-step

model in accordance with the accounting guidance. For our customer contracts, we identify tff he performance obligations

(products or services), determine the transaction price, allocate the contract transaction price to the performance obligations,

and recognize the revenue when the performance obligation is fulff filled, which is when the product is shipped to or received by

the customer, depending on the specific terms of the arrangement. Our revenues are recorded at a point in time.

Product sales are recorded net of variabla e consideration, such as provisions for returt ns, discounts and allowances. Such

provisions are calculated using historical averages adjud sted for any expected changes dued to current business conditions.

Consideration given to customers forff cooperative advertising is recognized as a reducd tion of revenue except to the extent that

there is a distinct good or service, in which case the expense is classified as selling, general, and administrative expense.

Provisions for customer volume rebates are based on achieving a certain level of purchases and other performance criteria that

are established on a program by program basis. These rebates are estimated based on the expected amount to be provided to the

customers and are recognized as a reducd tion of revenue.

We expense incremental costs of obtaining a contract, if the contract period is for one year or less. These costs are included in

selling, general and administrative expenses. Otherwise, incremental contract costs are recognized as an asset on our
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Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over time as promised goods and services are transferred to a customer. Our

contracts are generally less than one year and incremental costs of obtaining a contract are not material. We account for

shipping and handling costs as costs to fulff fill a contract and not as performance obligations to our customers. We also exclude

taxes collected from our customers, assessed by government authorities that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific

revenue-producing transaction, from our determination of the transaction price. We do not adjud st the promised amount of

consideration forff the effects of a significant finff ancing component if the period between the transfer of the promised good or

service to a customer and the customer payment is one year or less.

Cost of Products Stt olSS dll

Cost of products sold is primarily made up of two elements: product costs and logistics costs.

Product costs - primarily composed of cultivation (the cost of growing crops), harvesting, packaging, labora , depreciation and

farm administration. Product cost forff produce obtained froff m independent growers is composed of procurement and packaging

costs.

Logistii ics costs - include land and sea transportation and expenses related to port facff ilities and distribution centers. Sea

transportation cost is the most significant component of logistics costs and is comprised of:ff

� Ship operating expenses - include operations, maintenance, depreciation, insurance, fuel, and port charges.

� Chartered ship costs - include the cost of chartering the ships, fuel and port charges.

� Container equipment-related costs - include leasing expense and in the case of owned equipment, also depreciation

expense.

� Third-party containerized shipping costs - include the cost of using third-party shipping in our logistics operations.

Adverdd tising and Promotiott nal CosCC ts

We expense advertising and promotional costs as incurred. Advertising and promotional costs, which are included in selling,

general and administrative expenses, were $10.5 million forff 2023, $9.3 million forff 2022 and $13.6 million forff 2021.

Income Taxeaa s

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of diffeff rences between the tax basis of assets and

liabia lities and their finff ancial reporting amounts at each year end, based on enacted tax laws and statuttt ory trr ax rates appla icable to

the year in which the differences are expected to affeff ct taxabla e income. Valuation allowances are established when it is deemed

more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferff red tax assets will not be realized.

We account for income tax uncertainties consistent with the ASC guidance included in “In“ come Taxesaa ,” which clarifieff s the

accounting forff uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s finff ancial statements and prescribes a recognition

threshold and measurement attribute forff the finff ancial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or

expected to be taken in a tax returtt n. The ASC also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,

accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

See Note 9, “In“ come Taxesaa .”

Contintt gencies

Estimated losses froff m contingencies are recognized if it is probabla e that an asset has been impaired or a liabia lity has been

incurred at the date of the finff ancial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonabla y estimated. Gain contingencies are

not reflected in the finff ancial statements until realized. We use judgment in assessing whether a loss contingency is probable and

estimabla e. Actual results may diffeff r froff m these estimates.

See Note 16, “Commitments and Contingencies.”

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

65



Foreign Cgg urCC rency Tc raTT nslation and TraTT nsactions

For our operations in countries where the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, balance sheet amounts are translated

using the exchange rate in effeff ct at the balance sheet date. Income statement amounts are translated monthly using the average

exchange rate for the respective month. The gains and losses resulting froff m the changes in exchange rates froff m year-to-year

and the effeff ct of exchange rate changes on intercompany transactions of long-term investment nature are recorded as a

component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss as currency translation adjustments.

For our operations where the functional currency is the U.S. dollar, non-monetary balance sheet amounts are remeasured at

historical exchange rates. Other balance sheet amounts are remeasured at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.

Income statement accounts, excluding those items of income and expenses that relate to non-monetary assets and liabia lities, are

remeasured at the average exchange rate for the month. These remeasurement adjustments are included in the determination of

net income and are included in other expense, net.

Other expense, net, in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations includes a net forff eign exchange loss of $10.4

million forff 2023, $8.4 million forff 2022, and $6.0 million forff 2021. These amounts include the effect of foreign currency

remeasurement and realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses.

Othett r ExpeEE nse, Net

In addition to forff eign currency gains and losses described above, other expense, net, also includes other non-operating income

and expense items.

Leases

We lease property, plant and equipment forff use in our operations including agricultural land, offiff ce facilities and refrigerated

containers. We account for leases under the scope of ASC 842 - Leases which requires leases with durations greater than twelve

months to be recognized on the balance sheet. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, and we have

made an accounting policy election to account for these as a single lease component.

We evaluate our leases at inception or at any subsu equent modification and classify them as either finance or operating

leases. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, we recognize a related asset (“right-of-use asset”) and obligation (“lease

liabia lity”) on the lease commencement date, calculated as the present value of the futff urt e minimum lease payments over the

lease term. Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term and lease liabia lities represent our

obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Certain leases include one or more options to renew or options to

terminate, which are generally at our discretion. Any option or renewal periods that we determine are reasonabla y certain of

being exercised are included in the lease term, and are used in calculating the right-of-use asset and lease liabia lities. Many of

our leases also include predetermined fixed escalation clauses. We recognize rental expense forff operating leases that contain

predetermined fixed escalation clauses on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the lease. Our lease agreements do not

contain any residual value guarantees.

When availabla e, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value; however, most of our leases

do not provide a readily determinabla e implicit rate. Therefore, we must estimate our incremental borrowing rate to discount the

lease payments based on information availabla e at lease commencement.

For finff ance leases, we recognize interest expense and amortization of the right-of-use asset, and forff operating leases, we

recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

See Note 10, “Le“ ases” forff more information.

Fair Value MeaMM surementstt

Fair value is measured as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabia lity in an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurement date. In developing its fair value estimates, we use the following hierarchy:

� Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabia lities.
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� Level 2 - Observable market-based inputs or unobservabla e inputs that are corroborated by market data.

� Level 3 - Significant unobservabla e inputs that are not corroborated by market data. Generally, these fair value

measures are model-based valuation techniques such as discounted cash floff ws using our own estimates and

assumptions or those expected to be used by market participants.

We measure the fair value of finff ancial instruments, such as derivatives, on an ongoing basis. We measure faiff r value for non-

financial assets when a valuation is necessary, such as forff impairment of long-lived and indefinite-lived assets when indicators

of impairment exist.

See Note 18, “Fair Value MeaMM surementstt ” forff more information.

Share-Based Compensation

Compensation expense forff all share-based awards expected to vest is measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized

on a straight-line basis over the related service period, which is generally the vesting period of each award. Forfeiturt es are

recognized as they occur. Our shared-based awards consist of performance stock units and restricted stock units, and are

granted to employees and members of our Board of Directors which meet the definff ition of employees under the accounting

guidance. The faiff r value of our share-based awards is determined based on our stock price on the date of grant.

See Note 15, “Share-Based ComCC pem nsation” forff more information.

Derivative FinFF anciali Instrutt mentstt

We recognize the value of derivative instrumrr ents as either assets or liabia lities in the statement of finff ancial position at fair

value. The accounting forff changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrumrr ent depends on whether it has

been designated as a hedge and qualifieff s as part of a hedging relationship. The accounting also depends on the type of hedging

relationship, whether a cash flow hedge, a fair value hedge, or hedge of a net investment in a forff eign operation.

We use derivative finff ancial instruments primarily to reduce our exposure to adverse fluff ctuat tions in foreign exchange rates and

variable interest rates. Upon entry irr nto a derivative instrumrr ent, we formally designate and document the financial instrumrr ent as

a hedge of a specific underlying exposure, as well as the risk management objectives and strategies forff undertaking the hedge

transaction. Derivatives are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at faiff r value in prepaid expenses and other current

assets, other non-current assets, accounts payable and accruerr d expenses or other non-current liabia lities, depending on whether

the amount is an asset or liabia lity and is of a short-term or long-term nature.

We designate our derivative financial instrumrr ents as cash floff w hedges. A cash floff w hedge requires that the change in the faiff r

value of a derivative instrumrr ent be recognized in other comprehensive income, a component of shareholders’ equity, and

reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings and is presented in

the same income statement line item as the earnings effeff ct of the hedged item. We also classify the cash floff ws from our cash

flow hedges in the same category arr s the items being hedged on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows based on the facff t

that our cash floff w hedges do not contain an other-than-insignificant finff ancing element at inception.

In the event that hedge accounting is discontinued, any changes in faiff r value of the associated derivatives since the date of

dedesignation are recognized in other expense, net. Cash flows subsequent to the date of dedesignation are classified within

investing activities in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

See Note 17, “De“ rivative FinFF ancial InsII truments” forff more information.

Share Repuee rchases

When stock is retired or purchased for construcrr tive retirement, the purchase price is initially recorded as a reducd tion to the par

value of the shares repurchased, with any excess purchase price over par value recorded as a reducd tion to additional paid-in

capital and retained earnings.
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Retirement and Othett r EmpEE loyeeo Benefie tsii

We sponsor a number of definff ed benefit pension plans and post-retirement plans. The most significant of these plans cover

employees in the United States, United Kingdom, Costa Rica and Guatemala. We recognize the fundeff d status of our defined

benefit pension and post-retirement plans in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, with changes in the funded status recognized

primarily through accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which the changes occur. Actuarially-

determined liabia lities related to pension and post-retirement benefitsff are recorded based on estimates and assumptions. Factors

used in developing estimates of these liabia lities include assumptions related to discount rates, rates of returt n on investments,

benefit payment patterns and other factff ors, and are periodically updated. We provide disclosures abouta our plan assets,

including investment strategies, major categories of plan assets, concentrations of risk within plan assets, and valuation

techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets consistent with the faiff r value hierarchy fraff mework.

See Note 14, “Retirement and Othett r EmpEE loyeeo Benefie ts” forff more information.

Redeemable Nll onNN contrott lling IntII ertt est

As part of the Mann Packing acquisition in 2018, we acquired a put option exercisable by the 25% shareholder of one of the

acquired subsidiaries. The put option allows the noncontrolling shareholder to sell its 25% noncontrolling interest to us forff a

multiple of the subsu idiary's adjud sted earnings. The noncontrolling shareholder can exercise this put option on or after April 1,

2023. Following a fivff e year window expiring on April 1, 2028, the put option value will be negotiated annually and the inputs

are subject to change. As the put option is outside of our control, the estimated redemption value of the 25% noncontrolling

interest is presented as a redeemable noncontrolling interest outside of permanent equity on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. At

each reporting period, the redeemable noncontrolling interest is recognized at the higher of (1) the initial carrying amount

adjud sted for accumulated earnings and distributions or (2) the contractuat lly-definff ed redemption value as of the balance sheet

date. In June 2023, the noncontrolling shareholder exercised its put option right and the Company closed the purchase of the

remaining 25% of this subsu idiary.

See Note 22, "Redeemable NoncNN ontrott lling IntII erest Acquisiii tion" forff more information.

New Accountintt g ProPP nouncements - Adoptedtt

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Refee rence Rate Reforff m (To(( pio c 848): FacFF ilitation of to hett Effeff cts ott f Ro eferff ence

Rate Refoe rm on Financial Reporting, and subsu equent amendments to the guidance, ASU 2021-01 in January 2021 and ASU

2022-06 in December 2022. The amendments in these updau tes provide optional guidance to companies to ease the potential

burden associated with reference rate reforff m. Specifically, the guidance provides optional expedients and exceptions to apply

generally accepted accounting principles to contract modifications and hedging relationships, subject to certain criteria, that

reference LIBOR or another referff ence rate expected to be discontinued. As of December 30, 2022, we had LIBOR-based

borrowings and interest rate swapsa that referenced LIBOR. Effeff ctive January 3, 2023, we amended our agreements and

transitioned to the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (Term SOFR) forff these instrumrr ents. We adopted the optional

guidance in Topic 848 in conjunction with our contract amendments which allowed us to (i) account for the modification to our

debt agreement as a continuation of the existing contract and (ii) continue applying hedge accounting forff our interest rate

swaps. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

New Accountintt g ProPP nouncements - NotNN Yet Adoptedtt

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segme ent Reporting (TopiTT c 280): ImpII rovements ttt o Reportable SegSS megg nt

Discii losures. This ASU amends Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 280 to enhance the naturtt e and frequency of segment

disclosures. Specifically, the update requires disclosure of significant segment expenses regularly provided to the Chief

Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") included within the reported measures of a segment's profitff or loss, the amount and

composition of other segment items in order to reconcile to the reported measures of a segment's profitff or loss, the CODM's

title and position, and how the CODM uses the reported measures of a segment's profitff or loss in assessing segment

performance and how to allocate resources. The ASU also makes requires that annual disclosures about a reportabla e segment's

profitff or loss and assets required by Topic 280 be made in interim periods. ASU 2023-07 is effeff ctive forff years beginning afteff r

December 15, 2023 and interim periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2024 with early adoption permitted. We have evaluated
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the impact of the adoption of this ASU and concluded it has no impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash

flows.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxesaa (TopiTT c 740) - ImpII rovements to Income Tax Daa isclosures. This

ASU amends ASC 740 to enhance the nature of disclosures forff income taxes. Specifically, the ASU requires public business

entities to disclose additional inforff mation in categories definff ed within the ASU within the reconciliation of the effeff ctive tax rate

to the statutory rate for fedff eral, state and forff eign income taxes. Additionally, the ASU requires disclosure of taxes paid, net of

refunds received, disaggregated by federal, state and foreign taxes. ASU 2023-09 is effeff ctive forff years beginning afteff r

December 15, 2024 with early adoption permitted. We have evaluated the impact of the adoption of this ASU and concluded it

has no impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws.

3. Asset Impairment and Other Charges (Credits), Net

We incurred asset impairment and other charges (credits), net totaling $143.4 million forff 2023, $(4.8) million for 2022 and $4.5

million forff 2021.

The folff lowing represents the detail of asset impairment and other charges (credits), net forff the year ended December 29, 2023

by reportabla e segment (U.S. dollars in millions):

Long-lived
and other
asset

impairment

Exit activity
and other
charges
(credits) Total

Banana segment:

Impairment of low-yielding banana farms in the Philippines $ 3.7 $ — $ 3.7

Fresh and value-added products segment:

Impairment of fresh and value-added assets in North America (1) 109.6 — 109.6

Impairment of prepared foods reporting unit goodwill (2) 21.6 — 21.6

Impairment of low productivity grape vines in South America and
related costs 1.7 0.1 1.8

Impairment of low-yielding apple farff ms in South America 2.6 — 2.6

Other freff sh and value-added products segment charges 0.3 0.7 1.0

Other:

2023 cybersecurity incident expenses (3) — 1.3 1.3

Impairment of assets related to idle land in Central and South
America 1.8 — 1.8

Total asset impairment and other charges (credits), net $ 141.3 $ 2.1 $ 143.4

(1)During the year ended December 29, 2023, impairment charges related to our fresh and value-added assets in North America

included impairment charges to customer relationships intangible assets of $88.6 million, trade names of $8.3 million, and

building, land and land improvements of $12.7 million. Refer to Note 6, "Goodwill and Othett r IntII angible Assets," for furff ther

information.
(2)Refer to Note 6, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," for furff ther information.
(3) During the year ended December 29, 2023, we incurred cybersecurity expenses of $1.3 million, net of insurance

reimbursements received, primarily related to the engagement of specialized legal counsel and other incident response advisors.
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The folff lowing represents the detail of asset impairment and other charges (credits), net forff the year ended December 30, 2022

by reportabla e segment (U.S. dollars in millions):

Long-lived
and other
asset

impairment

Exit activity
and other
charges
(credits) Total

Banana segment:

Exit costs related to European facility $ — $ 0.4 $ 0.4

Philippine asset impairment duedd to floods(1) 2.7 — 2.7

Fresh and value-added products segment:

Adjud stment of Kunia Well Site environmental liabia lity in
Hawaii(2) — (9.9) (9.9)

Impairment of South America farm and other charges 0.8 0.1 0.9

Other freff sh and value-added products segment charges — 0.1 0.1

Other: —

Former President/COO severance expense — 1.0 1.0

Total asset impairment and other charges (credits), net $ 3.5 $ (8.3) $ (4.8)

(1) $2.7 million asset impairment as a result of flooding in the Philippines dued to heavy rainfalff l durd ing the fourth quarter of

2022.
(2) $(9.9) million reduction in our environmental liabia lity related to the Kunia Well Site clean-up.u Refer to Note 16,

“ComCC mitments and Contingencies,” for furff ther information.

The folff lowing represents the detail of asset impairment and other charges (credits), net forff the year ended December 31, 2021

by reportabla e segment (U.S. dollars in millions):

Long-lived
and other
asset

impairment

Exit activity
and other
charges
(credits) Total

Banana segment:

Insurance recovery related to hurricanes(1) $ — $ (0.8) $ (0.8)

Philippine asset impairment and exit activities of certain low-
yield areas(2) 3.3 1.4 4.7

Fresh and value-added products segment:

Exit costs related to European facility — 0.2 0.2

Other freff sh and value-added products segment charges 0.5 (0.1) 0.4

Total asset impairment and other charges (credits), net $ 3.8 $ 0.7 $ 4.5

(1) $(0.8) million insurance recovery for fisff cal 2021 associated with damages to certain of our banana fixed assets in Guatemala

caused by hurricanes Eta and Iota in the fourff th quarter of 2020.
(2) $4.7 million asset impairment and other charges primarily related to our exit from two low-yield banana farff ms in the

Philippines in the fourth quarter of 2021.

4. Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Companies

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated companies amounted to $22.2 million as of December 29, 2023 and $18.0

million as of December 30, 2022. These investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting, and primarily

relate to investments in limited partnerships and joint ventures in the food, nutrition and agricultural technology sectors. Our

proportionate share of income (losses) related to these unconsolidated companies, and distributions received, were not

significant forff the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022, or December 31, 2021.
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following (U.S. dollars in millions):

cember 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Land and land improvements $ 695.9 $ 704.3

Buildings and leasehold improvements 581.4 607.4

Machinery arr nd equipmen 6t 09.3 614.3

Maritime equipment (including containers) 229.0 262.9

Furniture, fixff tures and offiff ce equipmen 1t 02.1 102.2

Automotive equipment 69.1 69.0

Construcrr tion-in-progress 23.3 22.0

2,310.1 2,382.1

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,053.7) (1,072.6)

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,256.4 $ 1,309.5

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment, including assets under finff ance leases, was $79.9 million forff 2023,

$84.8 million forff 2022 and $89.2 million forff 2021.

Shipping containers, machinery and equipment and automotive equipment under finff ance leases totaled $11.1 million at

December 29, 2023 and $11.0 million at December 30, 2022. Accumulated amortization forff assets under finff ance leases was

$3.8 million at December 29, 2023 and $2.4 million at December 30, 2022.

The gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net and subsu idiary was a gain of $37.9 million forff 2023, a loss of

$(1.9) million forff 2022 and a gain of $4.6 million forff 2021. The gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net and

subsu idiary in 2023 was primarily related to the sale of two distribution centers and related assets in Saudi Arabia, the sale of an

idle production faciff lity in North America, the sale of our plastics business subsidiary irr n South America, the sale of two carrier

vessels and the sales of land assets in South and Central America. The loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net in

2022 is primarily related to the disposal of low-yielding banana crops in Central America, partially offsff et by gains on the sale of

vacant land in Mexico and sales of vehicles in the Middle East

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The folff lowing tabla e refleff cts our indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, and our definite-lived intangible assets

along with related accumulated amortization by major category (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Goodwill $ 401.9 $ 422.9

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:

Trademarks 31.7 31.7

Definite-lived intangible assets:

Definite-lived intangible assets 10.6 150.4

Accumulated amortization (9.0) (47.1)

Definite-lived intangible assets, net 1.6 103.3

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net $ 435.2 $ 557.9
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Indefinite-lived and definff ite-lived intangible assets are included in intangible assets, net, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Our definff ite-lived intangible assets, prior to the impairment recorded during 2023, primarily consisted of customer

relationships, trade names and trademarks.

The folff lowing tabla e refleff cts the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment (U.S. dollars in millions):

Bananas

Fresh and
Value-Added
Products Totals

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 64.3 $ 359.4 $ 423.7

Foreign exchange (0.2) (0.6) (0.8)

Balance at December 30, 2022 $ 64.1 $ 358.8 $ 422.9

Foreign exchange 0.3 0.3 0.6

Impairment charges — (21.6) (21.6)

Balance at December 29, 2023 $ 64.4 $ 337.5 $ 401.9

In the table above, goodwill is presented net of accumulated impairment losses of $109.7 million, relating strictly to the fresh

and value-added products segment. Impairment charges of $21.6 million were recorded durd ing 2023. No impairment charges

were recorded to goodwill durdd ing 2022 or 2021.

Results of Impam irmerr nt Teststt

We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or earlier if indicators of impairment arise. We performed our fourth

quarter 2023 annual goodwill impairment test using a quantitative assessment forff all reporting units, and specifically an income

approach valuation methodology. Based on the results of our impairment test and due to underperformance in our prepared

foods business in North America and Europe, couplu ed with an increase in the discount rates used, we incurred an impairment

charge of $21.6 million forff which the fair value was determined to be $27.2 million. The results of our impairment test forff the

remaining reporting units resulted in the fair value of each reporting unit exceeding its respective carrying amount as of the

assessment date.

We also evaluated both Del MontMM e® trade names and trademarks related to our prepared foods reporting unit forff impairment as

of the firff st day of our fourth quarter of 2023 using the royalty savings method, an income approach valuation methodology. The

royalty savings method estimated the fair value of the intangible assets by capitalizing the royalties saved. Both Del MontMM e®

trade names and trademarks had fair values that exceeded their carrying amounts.

The faiff r value of the banana reporting unit's goodwill, prepared foods reporting unit's goodwill and the Del MontMM e® prepared

foods reporting unit’s trade names and trademarks are sensitive to diffeff rences between estimated and actuat l cash floff ws and

changes in the related discount rate used to evaluate the faiff r value of these assets. If the banana and the prepared foodsff reporting

unit do not perform to expected levels, the related goodwill and the Del MontMM e® trade names and trademarks associated with the

prepared foods reporting unit may be at risk for impairment in the future.

The folff lowing tabla e highlights the sensitivities of the indefinite-lived intangibles as of December 29, 2023 (U.S. dollars in

millions):
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Banana
Reporting
Unit

Goodwill

Prepared
Foods

Reporting
Unit

Goodwill

Prepared Foods
Reporting Unit
Del MonMM te®

Trade Names and
Trademarks

Carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible assets $ 64.4 $ 27.2 $ 30.8

Approximate percentage by which the fair value exceeds the carrying
value based on the annual impairment test 23.2 % — % 6.2 %

Amount that a one percentage point increase in the discount rate and a
5% decrease in cash floff ws would cause the carrying value to exceed the
fair value and trigger an (additional) impairmen $t 8.9 $ 27.2 $ 2.3

In addition, certain definite-lived intangible assets related to our fresh and value-added products segment which arose fromff a

prior acquisition are sensitive to changes in estimated cash floff ws. We review long-lived assets (or asset groups) with

identifiaff bla e cash floff ws for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an

asset may not be recoverabla e. During the fourff th quarter of 2023, we identified factors which indicated the carrying amounts of

certain fresh and value-added assets associated with Mann Packing may not be recoverabla e. These factff ors included (1) a

sustained decline in actuat l and projected sales and gross margins, (2) conclusions reached from management's strategic review

of Mann Packing finff alized in the fourff th quarter and (3) impairment charges of goodwill in our prepared foods reporting unit

which is included within our fresh and value-added products segment. Based on the results of our recoverabia lity test performed,

we determined the carrying amounts of certain fresh and value-added assets exceeded their faiff r values and we recorded non-

cash impairment charges of $109.6 million, including impairment charges to customer relationships intangible assets of $88.6

million and trade name intangible assets of $8.3 million.

The estimated amortization expense related to definff ite-lived intangible assets forff the fivff e succeeding years is as folff lows (U.S.

dollars in millions):

Year

Estimated
Amortization
Expense

2024 $ 0.1

2025 0.1

2026 0.1

2027 0.1

2028 0.1

7. Allowance forff Credit Losses

We estimate expected credit losses on our trade receivabla es and finff ancing receivabla es in accordance with Accounting Standards

Codification (“ASC”) 326 - Financial InsII truments - CreCC dit Losses.

Trade Receivablesll

Trade receivables as of December 29, 2023 were $387.0 million, net of an allowance of $20.8 million. Our allowance for trade

receivabla es consists of two components: a $7.4 million allowance forff credit losses and a $13.4 million allowance forff customer

claims accounted for under the scope of ASC 606 - Revenue Recognition.

As a result of our robust credit monitoring practices, the industry irr n which we operate, and the naturtt e of our customer base, the

credit losses associated with our trade receivabla es have historically been insignificant in comparison to our annual net sales. We

measure the allowance forff credit losses on trade receivabla es on a collective (pool) basis when similar characteristics exist. We

generally pool our trade receivabla es based on the geographic region or country to which the receivabla es relate. Receivabla es that

do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated forff collectibility on an individual basis.
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Our historical credit loss experience provides the basis forff our estimation of expected credit losses. We generally use a three-

year average annual loss rate as a starting point for our estimation, and make adjustments to the historical loss rate to account

for diffeff rences in current conditions impacting the collectibility of our receivabla e pools. We generally monitor macroeconomic

indicators to assess whether adjud stments are necessary to reflect current conditions.

The table below presents a rollforward of our trade receivable allowance forff credit losses forff the years ended December 29,

2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

Trade Receivables December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Allowance forff Credit Losses

Balance, beginning of period $ 9.3 $ 10.2

Provision for uncollectible amounts 1.6 0.3

Deductions to allowance related to write-offs (ff 3.3) (0.7)

Foreign exchange effeff cts — (0.1)

Reclassifications(1) (0.2) (0.4)

Balance, end of period $ 7.4 $ 9.3

(1)Reclassifications of $0.2 million and $0.4 million to the long-term allowance forff credit losses durd ing the years ended

December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, respectively. The amounts in the long-term allowance forff credit losses,

presented in other noncurrent assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, related to customer receivabla es as of the

years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 are not material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Finaii ncing Receivablesll

Financing receivabla es are included in other accounts receivabla e, net on our Consolidated Balance Sheet and are recognized at

amortized cost less an allowance forff estimated credit losses. Financing receivabla es include seasonal advances to growers and

supplu iers, which are usually short-term in nature, and other finff ancing receivabla es.

A significant portion of the fresh produce we sell is acquired through supplu y contracts with independent growers. In order to

ensure the consistent high quality of our producd ts and packaging, we make advances to independent growers and

supplu iers. These growers and supplu iers typically sell all of their production to us and make payments on their advances as a

deduction to the agreed upon selling price of the fruff it or packaging material. The majority of the advances to growers and

supplu iers are forff terms less than one year and typically span a growing season. In certain cases, there may be longer term

advances with terms of up tu o fivff e years.

We measure the allowance forff credit losses on advances to supplu iers and growers on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk

characteristics exist. We generally pool our advances based on the country which they relate to, and furff ther disaggregate them

based on their current or past-dued statustt . We generally consider an advance to a grower to be past due when the advance is not

fully paid within the respective growing season. The allowance for advances to growers and supplu iers that do not share similar

risk characteristics are determined on a case-by-case basis, depending on the expected production forff the season and other

contributing factff ors. The advances are typically collateralized by property liens and pledges of the respective season's produce.

Occasionally, we agree to a payment plan with certain growers or take steps to recover the advance via establa ished collateral.

We may write-off uncollectible financing receivabla es afteff r our collection efforts are exhausted. Historically, our credit losses

associated with our advances to supplu iers and growers have not been significant.

Our historical credit loss experience provides the basis forff our estimation of expected credit losses. We generally use a three-

year average annual loss rate as a starting point for our estimation, and make adjustments to the historical loss rate to account

for diffeff rences in current or expected future conditions. We generally monitor macroeconomic indicators as well as other

factors, including unfavff orable weather conditions and crop diseases, which may impact the collectibility of the advances when

assessing whether adjustments to the historical loss rate are necessary.

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

74



The folff lowing tabla e details the advances to growers and supplu iers based on their credit risk profileff (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Current Past-Due Current Past-Due

Gross advances to growers and supplu iers $ 25.1 $ 10.8 $ 44.6 $ 5.6

The allowance forff advances to growers and supplu iers and the related finff ancing receivabla es for the years ended December 29,

2023 and December 30, 2022 were as follows (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Allowance forff advances to growers and suppliers:

Balance, beginning of period $ 4.9 $ 1.8

Provision for uncollectible amounts 2.6 3.2

Deductions to allowance related to write-offs —ff (0.1)

Balance, end of period $ 7.5 $ 4.9

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses consisted of the following (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Trade payables $ 243.1 $ 295.9

Accruerr d fruff it purchases 29.6 37.3

Ship and port operating expenses 19.1 18.4

Warehouse and distribution costs 36.4 29.5

Payroll and employee benefitff s 73.1 78.2

Accruerr d promotions 26.3 27.1

Other accruerr d expenses 51.4 63.5

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 479.0 $ 549.9

Other accruerr d expenses are primarily composed of accruarr ls for purchases received but not invoiced and other accruarr ls, none of

which individually exceed 5% of current liabia lities.
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9. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Current:

U.S. federal income tax $ 0.1 $ 0.3 $ (2.1)

State 1.0 0.7 0.3

Non-U.S. 20.8 16.6 18.8

21.9 17.6 17.0

Deferred:

U.S. federal income tax (1.1) — (5.0)

State (0.2) — (1.2)

Non-U.S. (2.5) 2.5 (8.8)

(3.8) 2.5 (15.0)

$ 18.1 $ 20.1 $ 2.0

Income before income taxes consisted of the folff lowing (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

U.S. $ (136.4) $ 1.0 $ (24.7)

Non-U.S. 152.9 116.8 106.6

$ 16.5 $ 117.8 $ 81.9
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The diffeff rences between the reported provision for income taxes and income taxes computed at the U.S. statutory federal

income tax rate are explained in the following reconciliation (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended (1)

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Income tax provision computed at the U.S. statutory federal rate $ 3.4 $ 24.7 $ 17.2

Effeff ct of tax rates on non-U.S. operations (70.8) (71.7) (67.9)

Provision for uncertain tax positions 1.5 1.7 2.3

Non-deductible interest 23.1 0.7 0.6

Foreign exchange 8.1 2.8 (6.1)

Non-deductible intercompany charges — 0.5 0.1

Non-deductible differences (0.7) 0.9 2.0

Non-taxabla e income/loss (0.5) 0.6 (4.8)

Non-deductible impairment charges 5.4 — 1.1

Adjud stment to deferred balances — — 0.1

Other 0.8 (3.3) 3.1

State tax benefit (4.4) 0.1 (1.0)

Other taxes in lieu of income 3.5 5.5 4.5

Change in deferred rate — — 0.1

Benefit froff m net operating loss carryback provision (C.A.R.E.S. Act) — — (0.8)

Increase in valuation allowance (2) 48.7 57.6 51.5

Provision for income taxes $ 18.1 $ 20.1 $ 2.0

_____________
(1) Certain amounts froff m prior year have been conforff med to current year presentation
(2) The increase in valuation allowance includes effeff cts of forff eign exchange and adjustments to deferff red tax balances which

were fully offsff et by valuation allowance.
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Deferred income tax assets and liabia lities consisted of the following (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29, December 30,

Deferred tax liabilities 2: 023 2022

Allowances and other accruerr d liabia lities $ (0.2) $ (0.1)

Inventories (14.8) (17.1)

Property, plant and equipment (69.7) (75.7)

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated companies (0.5) (0.2)

Pension obligations (2.7) (2.6)

Other noncurrent deferred tax liabia lities (28.1) (26.8)

ROU assets (21.6) (21.0)

Total noncurrent deferred tax liabia lities $ (137.6) $ (143.5)

Deferred tax assets:

Allowances and other accruerr d assets $ 13.9 $ 17.9

Inventories 9.6 5.9

Pension obligations 22.4 21.4

Property, plant and equipment 3.6 1.0

Post-retirement benefitff s other than pension 2.7 3.6

Net operating loss carryforwards 434.5 434.2

Capia tal loss carryover 2.2 2.1

Other noncurrent assets 129.7 93.9

Operating lease 23.5 22.9

Total noncurrent deferred tax assets 642.1 602.9

Valuation allowance (525.7) (483.5)

Total deferff red tax assets, net $ 116.4 $ 119.4

Net deferredff tax liabilities $ (21.2) $ (24.1)

The valuation allowance increased by $42.2 million in 2023. The increase in 2023 relates primarily to valuation allowance on

additional net operating loss carryforwards combined with the effect of a change in judgment abouta our ability to realize

deferred tax assets in future years, due to our current and forff eseeable operations.

At December 29, 2023, we are no longer permanently reinvested on certain foreign earnings, accordingly, there is a deferred tax

liabia lity of $0.7 million as of December 29, 2023 related to the foreign earnings which are not considered to be permanently

reinvested. Additionally, the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries amounted to $770.6 million. Those earnings

are considered to be either indefinitely reinvested, or the earnings could be distributed tax freff e. To the extent the earnings are

considered indefinitely reinvested, determination of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liabia lity is not practicable due

to the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation.

At December 29, 2023, we had approximately $1,664.4 million of fedff eral and forff eign tax operating loss carryforwards expiring

as follows (U.S. dollars in millions):

Expires:

2024 $ 1.4

2025 24.3

2026 20.1

2027 11.2

2028 and beyond 13.3

No expiration 1,594.1

$ 1,664.4
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of uncertain tax positions excluding interest and penalties is as folff lows

(U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Beginning balance $ 6.1 $ 5.0 $ 3.5

Gross increases - current-period tax positions 1.2 1.2 1.7

Settlements (1.1) — —

Foreign exchange 0.2 (0.1) (0.2)

Ending balance $ 6.4 $ 6.1 $ 5.0

We accruerr d $9.9 million in 2023 and $9.2 million in 2022, for uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties that, if

recognized would affectff the effective income tax rate.

The tax years 2012-2023 remain subju ect to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world in majoa r jurisdictions, such
as Costa Rica, Luxembourg, Switzerland and the United States.

We classify interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the Consolidated

Statements of Operations. Accruerr d interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are $3.5 million and $3.0 million forff

December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, respectively and are included in other noncurrent liabia lities.

In connection with the examination of the tax returt ns in two forff eign jurisdictions, the taxing authorities have issued income tax

deficiencies related to transfer pricing aggregating appra oximately $165.4 million (including interest and penalties) for tax years

2012 through 2016. We strongly disagree with the proposed adjud stments and have filed a protest with each of the taxing

authorities.

In one of the forff eign jurisdictions, we are currently contesting tax assessments related to the 2012-2015 audit years and the
2016 audit year in both the administrative court and the judicial court. During 2019 and 2020, we filed actions contesting the
tax assessment in the administrative office. Our initial challenge to each of these tax assessments was rejected, and we
subsu equently lost our appeals at the administrative court. We have subsu equently filed actions to contest each of these tax
assessments in the country’s judicial courts. In addition, we have filed a request for an injunction to the judicial court to stay the
tax authorities' collection efforts forff these two tax assessments, pending final judicial decisions. The court granted our
injun nction with respect to the 2016 audit year, however denied our injun nction with respect to the 2012-2015 audit years. We
timely appealed the denial of the injun nction, and on August 10, 2022 the appea llate court overturt ned the denial and granted our
injun nction forff the 2012-2015 audit years. Pursuant to local law, we registered real estate collateral with an approximate fair
market value of $7.0 million in connection with the grant of the 2016 audit year injun nction. This real estate collateral has a net
book value of $3.8 million as of the year ended December 29, 2023. In addition, in connection with the grant of the 2012-2015
audit year injunction, we registered real estate collateral with an approximate fair market value of $28.5 million, and a net book
value of $4.6 million as of the year ended December 29, 2023. The registration of this real estate collateral does not affeff ct our
operations in the country.

In the other foreign jurisdiction, the administrative court denied our appeal, and on March 4, 2020 we filed an action in the
judicial court to contest the administrative court's decision. The case is still pending.

We will continue to vigorously contest the adjud stments and to exhaust all administrative and judicial remedies necessary in both
jurisdictions to resolve the matters, which could be a lengthy process.

We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting froff m examinations such as these to determine the adequacy of
our tax reserves. Accordingly, we have not accruerr d any additional amounts based upon the proposed adjud stments. There can be
no assurance that these matters will be resolved in our favor, and an adverse outcome of either matter, or any futff urt e tax
examinations involving similar assertions, could have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

Additionally, the European Union (EU) Member States forff mally adopted the EU’s Pillar Two Directive, which generally

provides forff a minimum effective tax rate of 15%, as established by the Organization forff Economic Co-operation and

Development (OECD) Pillar Two Framework. Pursuant to the implementation dates prescribed in the Directive, it is expected
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the rulrr es will be effeff ctive forff the Company for the 2025 fiscal year. A significant number of other countries are expected to

also implement similar legislation with varying effectff ive dates in the futff urtt e. We are continuing to evaluate the potential impact

on future periods of the Pillar Two Framework, pending legislative adoption by additional individual countries, however, we

may not be able to completely mitigate the impact of the legislation which could have an adverse material effect on our

financial condition, results of operations and cash floff ws.

10. Leases

We lease property and equipment under operating and finance leases. We evaluate our leases at inception or at any subsu equent

modification and classify them as either finance or operating leases. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, we recognize

a related right-of-use asset and lease liabia lity on the lease commencement date, calculated as the present value of the futff urtt e

minimum lease payments over the lease term. Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset forff the lease

term and lease liabia lities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.

Certain leases include one or more options to renew or options to terminate, which are generally at our discretion. Any option

or renewal periods that we determine are reasonabla y certain of being exercised are included in the lease term, and are used in

calculating the right-of-use asset and lease liabia lity. Our lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees. We do

not separate lease and non-lease components of contracts.

When availabla e, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value; however, most of our leases

do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, we must estimate our incremental borrowing rate to discount the

lease payments based on information availabla e at lease commencement.

Our operating lease arrangements include leases of agricultural land and certain property, plant, and equipment, including offiff ce

facilities and refriff gerated containers. Many of our leases include predetermined fixed escalation clauses. We recognize rental

expense forff operating leases on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the lease. We also enter into ship charter

agreements for the transport of our fresh produce to markets worldwide. As of the year ended 2023, two of our ships are

chartered. The remaining term for our chartered ships is approximately 10 months.

During the year ended December 29, 2023, our 60% owned joint venturt e in Saudi Arabia entered into a sale and purchase

agreement to sell two distribution centers and related assets for a total purchase price of $67.6 million. Contemporaneously with

the execution of the sale and purchase agreement, we entered into an operating lease agreement in which we leased back

approximately 31% of the facff ilities forff a term of fivff e years. The lease agreement allows for an option to renew for additional

terms, subju ect to the written agreement of both parties.

Our finff ance lease arrangements include leases of refrigerated containers. For finance leases, we recognize interest expense and

amortization of the right-of-use asset.

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

80



Lease PosPP ition

The folff lowing tabla e presents the lease-related assets and liabia lities recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of

December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Classification on the Balance Sheet
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022

Assets

Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 213.8 $ 213.8

Finance lease assets Property, plant and equipment, net 7.3 8.6

Total lease assets $ 221.1 $ 222.4

Liabilities

Current

Operating Current maturities of operating leases $ 48.6 $ 41.6

Finance Current maturities of debt and finance leases 1.4 1.3

Noncurrent

Operating Operating leases, less current maturities 142.1 147.3

Finance Long-term debt and finff ance leases, less current maturities 6.1 7.3

Total lease liabia lities $ 198.2 $ 197.5

Weighted-average remaining lease term:

Operating leases 5.8 years 6.5 years

Finance leases 4.5 years 5.7 years

Weighted-average discount rate:

Operating leases 5.37 % 5.23 %

Finance leases 4.47 % 2.91 %

Lease CosCC ts

The folff lowing tabla e presents certain information related to the lease costs for finff ance and operating leases for the years ended

December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (U.S. dollars in millions):

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Finance lease cost

Amortization of lease assets $ 1.5 $ 1.4 $ 0.3

Operating lease cost 72.1 66.3 61.9

Short-term lease cost 7.0 5.3 8.4

Variable lease cost 7.4 5.1 5.9

Total lease cost $ 88.0 $ 78.1 $ 76.5
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Othett r InfII orff marr tion

The folff lowing tabla e presents supplemental cash floff w inforff mation related to leases for fisff cal 2023, 2022 and 2021 (U.S. dollars

in millions):

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabia lities

Operating cash floff ws for operating leases $ 58.1 $ 51.2 $ 41.2

Financing cash floff ws for finff ance leases 1.3 1.3 0.3

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabia lities 51.0 59.6 78.8

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabia lities 0.2 0.1 9.9

Undiscii ountedtt Cash Flowll s

The folff lowing tabla e reconciles the undiscounted cash flows forff each of the firff st five years and total remaining years to the

finance lease liabia lities and operating lease liabia lities recorded on the balance sheet as of December 29, 2023 (U.S. dollars in

millions):

Operating
Leases

Finance
Leases

2024 $ 59.5 $ 1.6

2025 40.7 1.6

2026 34.4 1.6

2027 29.2 1.6

2028 22.5 1.5

Thereafteff r 52.2 —

Total lease payments 238.5 7.9

Less: imputed interest 47.8 0.4

Total lease liabilities $ 190.7 $ 7.5

11. Debt

Creditdd Facilityii

On October 1, 2019, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Second A&R Credit

Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent and BofA Sff ecurities, Inc. as sole lead arranger and sole

bookrunnerr r and certain other lenders. The Second A&R Credit Agreement provides forff a fivff e-year, $0.9 billion syndicated

senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) maturing on October 1, 2024. Effeff ctive September

13, 2022, we exercised our option as included in the Second A&R Credit Agreement to reducd e the borrowing limit on the

Revolving Credit Facility from the original limit of $1.1 billion to $0.9 billion. Certain of our direct and indirect subsu idiaries

have guaranteed the obligations under the Second A&R Credit Agreement. We intend to use fundsff borrowed under the

Revolving Credit Facility froff m time to time for general corporate purposrr es, working capital, capital expenditures and other

permitted investment opportunities.

On December 30, 2022, we and certain of our subsu idiaries executed Amendment No. 1 to the Second A&R Credit Agreement

(the “Amendment”) with the finff ancial institutions and other lenders named therein, including Bank of America, N.A. as

administrative agent and BofA Sff ecurities, Inc. as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunnerr r. Pursuant to the Amendment, the

reference interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility was amended to replace the Eurocurrency Rate with the Term Secured

Overnight Financing Rate (“Term SOFR”) effective January 3, 2023. As amended, Term Loans made under the Revolving
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Credit Facility can be Base Rate Loans, Term SOFR Loans or Alternative Currency Term Rate Loans. All other material terms

of the Second A&R Credit Agreement, as amended, remain unchanged.

Effeff ctive January 3, 2023, amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility accruerr d interest, at our election, at either (i)

the Term SOFR Rate (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) plus a margin that ranges froff m 1.0% to 1.5% or (ii) the

Base Rate (as definff ed in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) plus a margin that ranged froff m 0% to 0.5%, in each case based on

our Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as definff ed in the Second A&R Credit Agreement). The Second A&R Credit Agreement

interest rate grid provides forff five pricing levels forff interest rate margins.

The Second A&R Credit Agreement provides forff an accordion featurt e that permits us, without the consent of the other lenders,

to request that one or more lenders provide us with increases in revolving credit facility or term loans up tu o an aggregate of

$300 million (“Incremental Increases”). The aggregate amount of Incremental Increases can be further increased to the extent

that afteff r giving effect to the proposed increase in revolving credit facility commitments or term loans our Consolidated

Leverage Ratio, on a pro forff ma basis, would not exceed 2.50 to 1.00. Our abia lity to request such increases in the Revolving

Credit Facility or term loans is subject to our compliance with customary crr onditions set forff th in the Second A&R Credit

Agreement including compliance, on a pro forma basis, with the finff ancial covenants and ratios set forth therein. Upon our

request, each lender may decide, in its sole discretion, whether to increase all or a portion of its revolving credit facility

commitment or provide term loans.

The Second A&R Credit Agreement requires us to comply with certain financial and other covenants. Specifically, it requires

us to maintain 1) a Consolidated Leverage Ratio of not more than 3.50 to 1.00 at any time durd ing any period of four consecutive

fiscal quarters, subjeb ct to certain exceptions and 2) minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio of not less than 2.25 to

1.00 as of the end of any fisff cal quarter. Additionally, it requires us to comply with certain other covenants, including limitations

on capital expenditures, stock repurchases, the amount of dividends that can be paid in the futff urt e, the amount and types of liens

and indebtedness, material asset sales, and mergers. Under the Second A&R Credit Agreement, we are permitted to declare or

pay cash dividends in any fisff cal year up to an amount that does not exceed the greater of (i) an amount equal to the greater of

(A) 50% of the Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Second A&R Credit Agreement) for the immediately preceding

fiscal year or (B) $25 million or (ii) the greatest amount which would not cause the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (determined

on a pro forma basis) to exceed 3.25 to 1.00. It also provides an allowance forff stock repurchases to be an amount not exceeding

the greater of (i) $150 million in the aggregate or (ii) the amount that, after giving pro forff ma effeff ct thereto and any related

borrowings, will not cause the Consolidated Leverage Ratio to exceed 3.25 to 1.00. As of December 29, 2023, we were in

compliance with all of the covenants contained in the Second A&R Credit Agreement.

On Februarr ry 21, 2024, we entered into Amendment No. 2 to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the "2024

Amended Credit Facility") which amends and restates the Second A&R Credit Agreement. The 2024 Amended Credit Facility

provides forff a fivff e-year, $0.75 billion syndicated senior unsecured revolving credit facility ("Amended Revolving Credit

Facility") and extends the existing maturt ity date to Februarr ry 21, 2029. The 2024 Amended Credit Facility permits, under

certain conditions, the ability to add an option forff $200 million of receivabla es financing. Amounts outstanding under the

Amended Revolving Credit Facility accruerr interest at a rate equal to based on the Term SOFR rate (as defined in the 2024

Amended Credit Facility) plus a margin ranging from 1.0% to 1.6%.

Debt issuance costs of $0.1 million and $0.6 million are included in other noncurrent assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets

as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, respectively.

The folff lowing is a summary of the material terms of the Revolving Credit Facility and other working capital facff ilities at

December 29, 2023 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Term Maturity Date Interest Rate
Borrowing
Limit

Available
Borrowings

Bank of America credit facff ility 5 years Februarr ry 21, 2029 6.59% $ 900.0 $ 500.0

Rabobaa nk letter of credit facff ility 364 days June 13, 2024 Varies 25.0 17.6

Other working capital facilities Varies Varies Varies 30.9 7.9

$ 955.9 $ 525.5
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The margin forff SOFR advances as of December 29, 2023 was 1.125%.

The Revolving Credit Facility permits borrowings under the revolving commitment with an interest rate determined based on

our leverage ratio and spread over SOFR. In addition, we pay a fee on unused commitments.

As of December 29, 2023, we applied $40.3 million to letters of credit and bank guarantees issued from Rabobaa nk Nederland,

Bank of America, and other banks.

During 2018, we entered into interest rate swapsa in order to hedge the risk of the fluctuation on futff urtt e interest payments related

to our variable rate borrowings from our Revolving Credit Facility. Referff to Note 17, “De“ rivative FinFF ancial InsII truments”.

Maturities of long-term debt obligations during the next five years and thereafteff r are as follows (U.S. dollars in millions):

Fiscal Years
Long-Term
Debt

2024 $ 26.1

2025 24.0

2026 21.0

2027 20.3

2028 21.2

Thereafter 401.8

514.4

Less: Amounts representing interest(1) (114.4)

400.0

Less: Current portion $ —

Totals, net of current portion of long-term debt
and finff ance lease obligations $ 400.0

(1)We utilize a variabla e interest rate on our long-term debt, and for presentation purposrr es we have used an assumed average rate

of 4.4%.

Cash payments of interest on long-term debt, net of amounts capitalized, were $24.2 million for 2023, $23.5 million forff 2022

and $19.9 million forff 2021. Capia talized interest expense was $0.3 million for 2023, $0.5 million for 2022 and $0.5 million for

2021.
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12. Earnings Per Ordinary Share

Basic net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Basic

and diluted net income per ordinary srr hare are calculated as folff lows (U.S. dollars in millions, except share and per share data):

Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

Numerator:

Net (loss) income attributable to Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc $. (11.4) $ 98.6 $ 80.0

Denominator:

Weighted average number of ordinary srr hares - Basi 4c 7,979,143 47,790,920 47,508,208

Effeff ct of dilutive securities - share-based award —s 152,544 193,189

Weighted average number of ordinary srr hares - Dilute 4d 7,979,143 47,943,464 47,701,397

Antidilutive awards(1) 692,680 103,148 2,039

Net (loss) income per ordinary share attributable to Fresh
Del Monte Produce Inc.:

Basic $ (0.24) $ 2.06 $ 1.68

Dilute $d (0.24) $ 2.06 $ 1.68
(1) Awards of certain unvested shares and options are not included in the calculation of diluted weighted average shares

outstanding because their effeff ct would have been anti-dilutive.
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13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The folff lowing tabla e includes the changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for the years ended

December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

anges in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss by Component (1)

Cash Flow
Hedges

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjud stment

Retirement
Benefit

Adjud stment Total

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (40.9) $ (17.4) $ (8.6) $ (66.9)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassifications 67.1 (3) (18.6) (2) (4.1) 44.4

Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive loss (20.2) 1— .2 (19.0)

Net current period other comprehensive
income (loss) 46.9 (18.6) (2.9) 25.4

Balance at December 30, 2022 $ 6.0 $ (36.0) $ (11.5) $ (41.5)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassifications 8.8 (3) (3.5) (2) 0.9 6.2

Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive loss (11.0) 2.4 0.6 (8.0)

Net current period other comprehensive
income (loss) (2.2) (1.1) 1.5 (1.8)

Balance at December 29, 2023 $ 3.8 $ (37.1) $ (10.0) $ (43.3)

(1)All amounts are net of tax and noncontrolling interests.
(2) Includes a gain of $1.0 million forff the year ended December 29, 2023 and a loss of $4.8 million for the year ended

December 30, 2022 related to intra-entity foreign currency transactions that are of a long-term-investment nature.
(3) Includes a tax effect of $1.7 million forff the year ended December 29, 2023 and $(5.8) million for the year ended

December 30, 2022.

The folff lowing tabla e includes details about amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for

the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Amount of (gain) loss reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss

Details about accumulated other comprehensive
loss components December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Affeff cted line item in
the statement where
net income is
presented

Cash flow hedges:

Designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign currency cash floff w hedges $ (3.2) $ (31.4) Net sales

Foreign currency cash floff w hedges 1.0 6.5 Cost of products sold

Interest rate swaps (8.8) 4.7 Interest expense

Total $ (11.0) $ (20.2)

Amortization of retirement benefitsff :

Actuarial losses 0.6 0.8 Other expense, net

Curtailment and settlement losses — 0.4 Other expense, net

Total $ 0.6 $ 1.2
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14. Retirement and Other Employee Benefitff s

We sponsor a number of definff ed benefit pension plans and post-retirement plans. The most significant of these plans cover

employees in the United States, United Kingdom, Costa Rica and Guatemala.

The benefitff obligation is the projected benefit obligation forff defined benefitff pension plans and the accumulated post-retirement

benefit obligation forff post-retirement benefit plans other than pensions.

U.S. Defined Benefitff Pension Plan

We sponsor a definff ed benefit pension plan, which covers a portion of our U.S.-based employees under a collective bargaining

agreement. As a result of the accelerated closing of our Hawaii facility announced in 2006, the ILWU Local 42 collective

bargaining agreement was not re-negotiated and expired in 2009 and as such the U.S.-based defined benefitff pension plan has

ceased accruirr ng benefits. Our funding policy forff this plan is to contribute amounts suffiff cient to meet the minimum fundiff ng

requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or such additional amounts as determined

appropriate to assure that the assets of the plan would be adequate to provide benefits. Substantially all of the plan’s assets are

invested in mutual funds.

United Kingdom Defined Benefitff Pension Plan

We sponsor a definff ed benefit pension plan, which covers a portion of our employees in the United Kingdom (the “U.K. plan”).

The U.K. plan provides benefitsff based on the employees’ years of service and qualifyiff ng compensation and has ceased accruirr ng

benefits. Benefitff payments are based on a finff al pay calculation as of November 30, 2005 and are adjud sted for inflaff tion

annually. Our funding policy forff the U.K. plan is to contribute amounts into the plan in accordance with a recovery plan agreed

by the Trustees and us in order to meet the statutt ory frr undiff ng objectives of occupau tional trust-based arrangements of the United

Kingdom or such additional amounts as determined appropriate to assure that assets of the U.K. plan are adequate to provide

benefits. Substantially all of the U.K. plan’s assets are primarily invested in fixed income and equity securities.

Central American Plans

We provide retirement benefitsff to a portion of our employees of certain Costa Rican and Guatemalan subsidiaries (“Central

American plans”). Generally, benefitsff under these programs are based on an employee’s length of service and level of

compensation. These programs are commonly referff red to as termination indemnities, which provide retirement benefitff s in

accordance with regulations mandated by the respective governments. Funding generally occurs when employees cease active

service.
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The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th a reconciliation of benefitff obligations, plan assets and fundeff d status forff our defined benefitff

pension plans and post-retirement plans as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, which are also their measurement

dates (U.S. dollars in millions):

Pension plans(1) Post-retirement plans

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

U.S. U.K. U.S. U.K.
Central
America

Central
America

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Beginning benefit obligation $ 11.4 $ 36.2 $ 14.9 $ 63.5 $ 66.7 $ 66.9

Service cost — — — — 6.0 5.7

Interest cost 0.6 1.8 0.4 1.0 5.2 3.9

Actuarial loss (gain) 0.4 2.6 (2.7) (18.9) (2.4) (3.7)

Benefits paid (1.2) (2.1) (1.2) (3.0) (6.0) (6.1)

Exchange rate changes(2) — 2.1 — (6.4) 3.2 —

Curtailments — — — — (0.3) —

Plan amendment — — — — (2.2) —

Ending benefit obligation 11.2 40.6 11.4 36.2 70.2 66.7

Change in Plan Assets:

Beginning fair value 11.1 37.9 14.3 72.5 — —

Actual return on plan assets 1.5 2.5 (2.0) (26.2) — —

Company contributions — 1.8 — 1.8 6.0 6.1

Benefits paid (1.2) (2.1) (1.2) (3.0) (6.0) (6.1)

Exchange rate changes(2) — 2.1 — (7.2) — —

Ending fair value 11.4 42.2 11.1 37.9 — —

Amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Accounts payable and accruerr d
expenses (current liability) — — — — (10.0) (10.2)

Retirement benefitff s liabia lity
(noncurrent liabia lity) — — (0.3) — (60.2) (56.5)

Other noncurrent assets 0.2 1.6 — 1.7 — —

Net asset (liability) recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets $ 0.2 $ 1.6 $ (0.3) $ 1.7 $ (70.2) $ (66.7)

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss:(3)

Net actuatt rial (loss) gain (6.9) 10.7 (7.5) (8.4) 8.1 2.8

Net amount recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive loss $ (6.9) $ 10.7 $ (7.5) $ (8.4) $ 8.1 $ 2.8

(1) The accumulated benefitff obligation is the same as the projected benefitff obligation.
(2) The exchange rate difference included in the reconciliation of the change in benefit obligation and the change in plan

assets above results froff m currency fluff ctuatt tions of the U.S. dollar relative to the British pound for the U.K. plan and the

U.S. dollar versus Central American currencies such as the Costa Rican colon and Guatemalan quetzal for the Central

American plans as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, when compared to the previous year.
(3) We had accumulated other comprehensive income of $3.1 million as of December 29, 2023 and $3.1 million as of

December 30, 2022 related to the tax effect of unamortized pension gains and losses.
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The folff lowing tabla e provides a rollforff ward of the accumulated other comprehensive loss balances (U.S. dollars in millions):

Pension plans Post-retirement plans

Year ended Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Reconciliation of accumulated other
comprehensive loss U.S. U.K. U.S. U.K.

Central
America

Central
America

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) gain at
beginning of plan year $ (7.5) $ (8.4) $ (7.8) $ 0.8 $ 2.8 $ (1.0)

Amortization of net losses recognized durd ing
the year 0.3 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1

Prior service cost credit recognized durd ing the
year — — — — 2.2 —

Net gain (loss) durd ing the year 0.3 (2.5) (0.2) (9.1) 2.5 3.7

Currency exchange rate changes — 0.1 — (0.2) 0.5 —

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) gain at
end of plan year $ (6.9) $ (10.7) $ (7.5) $ (8.4) $ 8.1 $ 2.8

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the net periodic pension cost of our defined benefitff pension and post-retirement benefitff plans

(U.S. dollars in millions):

nsion plans Post-retirement plans

Year ended Year ended

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 31,
2021

U.S. U.K. U.S. U.K. U.S. U.K.
Central
America

Central
America

Central
America

Service cost $ — $ — $ — $ — $ $— $— 6.0 $ 5.7 $ 6.0

Interest cost 0.6 1.8 0.4 1.0 0.3 1.0 5.2 3.9 4.0

Expected return on assets (0.8) (2.4) (0.8) (1.8) (0.8) (1.4) —— —

Net amortization 0.3 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1 —

Net periodic cost (income) $ 0.1 $ (0.5) $ 0.1 $ (0.7) $ — $ (0.3) $ 11.3 $ 9.7 $ 10.0

The expected return on assets is calculated using the faiff r value of plan assets for both the U.S. and U.K. plans.

Service costs are presented in the same line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as other compensation costs

arising froff m services rendered by the employees during the period. With the exception of service cost, the other components of

net periodic benefitff costs (which include interest costs, expected return on assets, amortization of net actuat rial losses) are

recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in other expense (income), net.
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Actuarial Assumptions

The assumptions used in the calculation of the benefit obligations of our U.S. and U.K. definff ed benefit pension plans and

Central American plans consisted of the following:

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans

U.S. U.K.
Central
America U.S. U.K.

Central
America U.S. U.K.

Central
America

Weighted average
discount rate 4.90 4% .80 % 7.79 % 5.15 % 5.00 % 8.26 % 2.65 1% .80 % 6.39 %

Rate of increase in
compensation levels — — 4.78 % — — 4.80 % — — 4.82 %

The assumptions used in the calculation of the net periodic pension costs forff our U.S. and U.K. definff ed benefit pension plans

and Central American plans consisted of the following:

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans Pension plans

Post-
retirement
plans

U.S. U.K.
Central
America U.S. U.K.

Central
America U.S. U.K.

Central
America

Weighted average
discount rate 5.15 % 5.00 % 8.21 % 2.65 % 1.80 % 6.39 % 2.15 % 1.40 % 6.34 %

Rate of increase in
compensation levels — — 3.22 % — — 4.69 % — — 4.70 %

Expected long-term
rate of return on
assets 7.00 % 6.16 % — 6.50 % 2.77 % — 6.50 % 1.98 % —

Cash Flowll s

Pension plans
Post-retirement

plans

U.S. U.K.
Central
America

Expected benefit payments forff :

2024 $ 1.2 $ 2.6 $ 9.9

2025 1.1 2.5 9.1

2026 1.0 2.3 8.4

2027 1.0 2.2 8.4

2028 1.0 2.3 9.0

Next 5 years 4.1 12.5 40.6

Expected benefit payments over the next 10 year $s 9.4 $ 24.4 $ 85.4

For 2024, expected contributions are $0.2 million forff the U.S. pension plan and $1.8 million for the U.K. pension plan.

Contributions for the U.S. and U.K. pension plans are actuatt rially determined based on fundiff ng regulations.
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U.S. Defined Benefitff Pension Plan

Planll Assets

Our overall investment strategy is to achieve a mix of between 50%-70% equity securities forff long-term growth and 30%-50%

fixed income securities forff near-term benefitff payments. Asset allocation targets promote optimal expected return and volatility

characteristics given the long-term time horizon for fulff filling the obligations of the pension plans. Selection of the targeted asset

allocation forff U.S. plan assets was based upon a review of the expected return and risk characteristics of each asset class, as

well as the correlation of returtt ns among asset classes.

The faiff r values of our U.S. plan assets by asset category wrr ere as folff lows as of the years ended December 29, 2023 and

December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurements at
December 29, 2023

Quoted Prices
in

Active Markets
for

Identical Assets

Significff ant
Observable
Inputs

Significff ant
Unobservable
Inputs

Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Mutual Funds:

Fixed income securities $ 5.2 $ 5.2 $ — $ —

Value securities 2.3 2.3 — —

Growth securities 3.9 3.9 — —

Total $ 11.4 $ 11.4 $ — $ —

Fair Value Measurements at
December 30, 2022

Quoted Prices
in

Active Markets
for

Identical Assets

Significff ant
Observable
Inputs

Significff ant
Unobservable
Inputs

Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Mutual Funds:

Fixed income securities $ 4.7 $ 4.7 $ — $ —

Value securities 2.3 2.3 — —

Growth securities 4.1 4.1 — —

Total $ 11.1 $ 11.1 $ — $ —

Mutual Funds – This category irr ncludes investments in mutuatt l funff ds that encompass both equity and fixff ed income securities

that are designed to provide a diverse portfolff io. The plan’s mutual funds are designed to track exchange indices, and invest in

diverse industries. Some mutual funds are classified as regulated investment companies. Investment managers have the abia lity

to shift iff nvestments froff m value to growth strategies, froff m small to large capitalization funff ds, and from U.S. to international

investments. These investments are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities

are traded. These investments are classified within Level 1 of the faiff r value hierarchy.
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Investment managers agree to operate the plan's investments within certain criteria that determine eligible and ineligible

securities, diversificff ation requirements and credit quality standards, where appla icable. Unless exceptions have been approved or

are part of a permitted mutuat l funff d strategy, investment managers are prohibited froff m buying or selling commodities, futff urt es or

option contracts, as well as from short selling of securities. Furthermore, investment managers agree to obtain written appra oval

for deviations from stated investment style or guidelines. We considered historical returns and the futff urt e expectations for

returns forff each asset class as well as the target asset allocation of plan assets to develop the expected long-term rate of return

on assets assumption. We evaluate the rate of returt n assumption on an annual basis.

United Kingdom Defined Benefitff Pension Plan

Planll Assets

The faiff r values of our U.K. plan assets by asset category wrr ere as folff lows as of the years ended December 29, 2023 and

December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurements at
December 29, 2023

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets forff

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significff ant
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significff ant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Cash $ 0.5 $ 0.5 $ — $ —

Equity securities:

Diversifieff d growth fundsff 7.1 — 7.1 —

Other international companies 0.7 — 0.7 —

Real estate investment trusrr ts 1.7 — 1.7 —

Fixed income securities:

Government and corporrr ate bonds 20.3 — 20.3 —

Liability-driven investments 11.9 — 11.9 —

Total $ 42.2 $ 0.5 $ 41.7 $ —

Fair Value Measurements at
December 30, 2022

Asset Category Total

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets forff

Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significff ant
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significff ant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Cash $ 0.3 $ 0.3 $ — $ —

Equity securities:

Diversifieff d growth fundsff 8.4 — 8.4 —

Other international companies 0.8 — 0.8 —

Real estate investment trusrr ts 1.2 — 1.2 —

Fixed income securities:

Government and corporrr ate bonds 19.5 — 19.5 —

Liability-driven investments 7.7 — 7.7 —

Total $ 37.9 $ 0.3 $ 37.6 $ —
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Equity securities – This category irr ncludes pooled investments in global equities, emerging market equities and diversifieff d

growth funds. The investments are spread across a range of diverse industries including financial, information technology,

consumer discretionary and consumer staples. The diversified growth funds seek to provide a long-term equity-like returtt n, with

a managed level of volatility. The diversifieff d growth funff ds invest across a wide range of asset classes, both traditional and

alternative. Units of the pooled investment accounts are not traded on an exchange or in an active market; however, valuation is

based on the underlying investments of the units and are classified as Level 2 inputs within the faiff r value hierarchy.

Fixedii income securities – This category irr ncludes pooled investments in liabia lity-driven investments and government and

corporate bonds. These investments are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual

securities are traded. Units of the pooled investment accounts are not traded on an exchange or in an active market; however,

valuation is based on the underlying investments of the units and are classified as Level 2 inputs within the faiff r value hierarchy.

The expected long-term rate of return assumption forff U.K. plan assets is reviewed annually and is determined by reference to

U.K. government bond yields, the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the

portfolio is invested and the expectations for futff urt e returt ns of each asset class.

The plan’s investment strategy is to optimize growth through investment in return-seeking securities, while maintaining a stable

funding position through investments that aim to match the change in the value of the plan's liabia lities dued to movements in

interest rates and inflation. The growth portfolff io invests across a diversifieff d range of asset classes, including equities, fixed

income securities, and alternatives, such as hedge funds. The remaining portfolff io invests in U.K. government bonds, corporr rate

bonds, cash and leveraged liabia lity-driven investment funds.

Fund managers have no discretion to make asset allocation decisions with the exception of the diversifieff d growth fund.ff The

trusrr tees try trr o rebalance any discrepancies through selective allocations of future contributions. Performance benchmarks for

each asset class are based on various indices. Investment performance is reviewed quarterly.

Other Employee Benefitff s

We also sponsor a definff ed contribution plan established pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Subject to

certain dollar limits, employees may contribute a percentage of their salaries to the plan, and we will match a portion of each

employee’s contribution. This plan is in effeff ct for U.S.-based employees only. The expense pertaining to this plan was $1.3

million for 2023, $1.2 million forff 2022 and $1.2 million forff 2021.

On August 31, 1997, one of our subsu idiaries ceased accruing benefitff s under its salary continuation plan covering certain of our

Central American management personnel. At December 29, 2023 we had $1.8 million accruerr d forff this plan, including $0.1

million in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to unamortized pension gains. Net periodic pension costs forff the years

ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021 were insignificant. Expected benefit payments under the

plan for 2024 through 2028 total $1.6 million. For 2029 through 2033 the expected benefit payments under the plan total $0.4

million.

We sponsor a service gratuit ty plan covering certain of our Kenyan personnel. At December 29, 2023 we had $3.8 million

accruerr d forff this plan, including $0.7 million in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to unamortized pension losses.

Net periodic pension costs were $1.5 million forff the year ended December 29, 2023, and included curtailment expenses of

$0.8 million. Net periodic pension costs were $2.2 million forff the year ended December 30, 2022, and included curtailment and

settlement expenses of $0.9 million. Net periodic pension costs were $1.4 million forff the year ended December 31, 2021.

During fiscal 2022, we began conversion of the service gratuity plan into a Provident fund scheme which has allowed certain of

our Kenyan personnel to make a voluntary drr ecision whether to remain as participants of the plan, or to convert to the Provident

fund. The conversion to the Provident fundff scheme will require us to make funding contributions that would diffeff r in timing

with those previously expected under the service gratuity plan, and which will ultimately depend on the number of employees

who elect to convert. We estimate that the combined expected benefit payments under both the service gratuity plan and the

Provident fund scheme from 2024 through 2028 will be approximately $6.6 million , and expected benefit payments froff m 2029

through 2033 will be approximately $4.8 million.

We provide retirement benefitsff to certain employees who are not U.S.-based. Generally, benefitsff under these programs are

based on an employee’s length of service and level of compensation. Included in retirement benefitsff on our consolidated

balance sheets is $16.8 million at December 29, 2023 and $18.0 million at December 30, 2022 related to these programs.
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The unamortized pension losses related to other non-U.S.-based plans included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a

component of shareholders’ equity, was $2.5 million forff the year ending December 29, 2023 and $1.8 million forff the year

ending December 30, 2022. We also offer certain post-employment benefitff s to forff mer executives and have accruerr d $1.3 million

at December 29, 2023 and $1.3 million at December 30, 2022 in retirement benefits on our consolidated balance sheets related

to these benefitsff .

15. Share-Based Compensation

We maintain various compensation plans for officers, other employees, and non-employee members of our Board of Directors.
On June 2, 2022, our shareholders approved and ratified the 2022 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”). The 2022
Plan allows us to grant equity-based compensation awards including restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance stock units
(“PSUs”), stock options, and restricted stock awards. The 2022 Plan replaces and supersedes the 2014 Omnibus Share Incentive
Plan (the “Prior Plan”). No awards can be granted under the Prior Plan uponu adoption of the 2022 Plan. Under the 2022 Plan,
the Board of Directors is authorized to award up tu o (i) 2,800,000 ordinary shares plus (ii) any ordinary srr hares remaining
availabla e forff future awards under the Prior Plan at the time of adoption (of which there were approximately 241,263) plus (iii)
any ordinary srr hares with respect to awards and Prior Plan awards that are forfeited, canceled, expire unexercised, or are settled
in cash folff lowing adoption of the 2022 Plan.

Share-based compensation expense related to RSUs and PSUs is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and was comprised in the relevant period as follows (U.S. dollars in

millions):

Year ended

Types of Awards
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022
December 31,

2021

RSUs/PSUs $ 9.9 $ 6.9 $ 7.6

Restritt ctedtt Stoctt k UniUU tsii and PerPP for rmance Stoctt k UniUU tsii

Under the 2022 Plan and Prior Plan, each RSU/PSU represents a contingent right to receive one of our ordinary shares. The
PSUs are subju ect to meeting minimum performance criteria set by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. The
actuatt l number of shares the recipient receives is determined based on the results achieved versus performance goals. Those
performance goals are based on exceeding a measure of our earnings. Depending on the results achieved, the actuat l number of
shares that an award recipient receives at the end of the period may range from 0% to 100% of the award units granted, or as it
relates to 2023 PSU awards granted to our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 0% to 125% of the award units granted.
Provided such criteria are met, the PSUs granted during 2023 and prior to 2022 vest in three equal annual installments on each
of the next three anniversary drr ates. PSUs granted during 2022 vest in three equal installments in 1) June and July 2023, 2)
March 2024, and 3) March 2025. All PSU vesting is contingent on the recipient's continued employment with us.

Expense forff RSUs is recognized on a straight line basis over the requisite service period forff the entire award. RSUs granted in
2023 and 2021 vest annually in three equal installments over a three-year service period while RSUs granted prior to 2021
vested 20% on the grant date, with 20% vesting on each of the next four anniversaries. RSUs granted in 2022 vest in three equal
installments in June 2023, March 2024 and March 2025. RSUs granted to our Board of Directors generally vest afteff r a one-year
period.

The faiff r market value for RSUs and PSUs is based on the closing price of our stock on the grant date. We recognize expenses

related to RSUs and PSUs based on the faiff r market value, as determined on the grant date, ratabla y over the vesting period,

provided the performance condition, if any, is probabla e. Forfeiff tures are recognized as they occur.

RSUs and PSUs do not have the voting rights of ordinary srr hares, and the shares underlying the RSUs and PSUs are not

considered issued and outstanding. However, shares underlying RSUs/PSUs are included in the calculation of diluted earnings

per share to the extent the performance criteria are met, if any.

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

94



Each of our outstanding RSUs and PSUs are eligible to earn Dividend Equivalent Units (“DEUs”) equal to the cash dividend

paid to ordinary shareholders. DEUs are subju ect to the same performance and/or service conditions as the underlying RSUs and

PSUs and are forff feitable.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes RSU and PSU activity for the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022, and

December 31, 2021:

RSUs PSUs

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair
Value

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair
Value

Non-vested as of January 1, 2021 276,790 32.89 120,039 28.42

Granted 333,785 26.25 123,158 26.02

Vested (129,194) 35.30 (48,191) 28.23

Canceled (26,148) 27.01 (20,786) 25.14

Non-vested as of December 31, 2021 455,233 27.63 174,220 26.89

Granted 153,944 24.28 152,211 28.92

Vested (212,464) 28.76 (67,599) 27.38

Canceled (36,616) 26.14 (43,289) 26.85

Non-vested as of December 30, 2022 360,097 25.68 215,543 28.18

Granted 267,671 31.13 102,171 31.59

Vested (194,900) 25.94 (92,760) 28.12

Canceled (24,409) 27.35 (13,302) 28.45

Non-vested as of December 29, 2023 408,459 $ 29.01 211,652 $ 30.00

As of December 29, 2023, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs/PSUs was $8.7

million, which will be amortized over the weighted-average remaining requisite service period of 2.5 years.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitmentstt

We have agreements to purchase the entire or partial production of certain products of our independent growers primarily in

Guatemala, Ecuador, Philippines, Costa Rica, Colombia, and United Kingdom that meet our quality standards. Total purchases

under these agreements amounted to $631.6 million forff 2023, $625.9 million forff 2022 and $683.2 million forff 2021.

Refer to Note 10. “Le“ ases”, for furff ther a discussion concerning our lease commitments.

Kunia Wi elWW l Sll iteSS

In 1980, elevated levels of certain chemicals were detected in the soil and ground-water at a plantation leased by one of our

U.S. subsu idiaries in Honolulu, Hawaii (the “KuniKK a Well Site”). In 2005, our subsu idiary signed a Consent Decree (“Consent

Decree”) with the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) forff the performance of the clean-up wu ork forff the KuniKK a Well Site.

Based on finff dings from remedial investigations, our subsu idiary coordinated with the EPA to evaluate the clean-up work

required in accordance with the Consent Decree. On July 25, 2022, an Explanation of Significant Diffeff rences (ESD) forff the

Kunia Well Site was fileff d by the EPA, which forff mally transitioned the remedy for the Kunia Well Site to a Monitored Naturat l

Attenuation (MNA), thereby reducing our potential liabia lity. In connection with the above decision, we recorded a $9.9 million

reduction in our liabia lity during the year ended December 30, 2022, presented in asset impairment and other (credits) charges,

net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, to refleff ct the decrease in estimated costs associated with the clean-up.

The revised estimate associated with the clean-up cu osts, and on which our accruarr l is based, is $2.7 million. As of December 29,

2023, $2.4 million was included in other noncurrent liabilities, and $0.3 million was included in accounts payable and accruerr d

expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets forff the KuniKK a Well Site clean-up.u We expect to expend approximately $0.3 million

in 2024, $0.6 million in 2025, $0.5 million in 2026, $0.4 million in 2027, and $0.4 million in 2028.

Addidd tioii nal InfII orff marr tion

In addition to the foregoing, we are involved from time to time in various claims and legal actions incident to our operations,

both as plaintiff aff nd defendant. In the opinion of management, after consulting with legal counsel, none of these other claims is

currently expected to have a material adverse effect on the results of operations, finff ancial position or our cash floff ws.

17. Derivative Financial Instruments

Our derivative finff ancial instruments reducdd e our exposure to fluff ctuatt tions in foreign exchange rates and variable interest rates.

We designate our derivative finff ancial instruments as cash floff w hedges.

Counterparr rties expose us to credit loss in the event of non-performance of hedges. We monitor our exposure to counterparr rty

non-performance risk both at inception of the hedge and at least quarterly thereafteff r.

Fluctuations in the value of the derivative instrumrr ents are generally offsff et by changes in the cash floff ws of the underlying

exposures being hedged. A cash floff w hedge requires the change in the faiff r value of a derivative instrumrr ent to be recognized in

other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders’ equity, and reclassified into earnings in the same period or

periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings and is presented in the same income statement line item as the

earnings effeff ct of the hedged item.

Certain of our derivative instruments contain provisions that require the current credit relationship between us and our

counterparr rty to be maintained throughout the term of the derivative instrumrr ents. If that credit relationship changes, certain

provisions could be triggered, and the counterparr rty could request immediate collateralization of derivative instrumrr ents in a net

liabia lity position abovea a certain threshold. The aggregate faiff r value of all derivative instrumrr ents with a credit-risk-related

contingent featurtt e that are in a liabia lity position on December 29, 2023 was $0.4 million. As of December 29, 2023, no

triggering event had occurred and thus we were not required to post collateral.

Derivative instruments are disclosed on a gross basis. There are various rights of setoff aff ssociated with our derivative

instruments that are subju ect to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreements. Although various rights of
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setoff and master netting arrangements or similar agreements may exist with the individual counterparr rties, individually, these

financial rights are not material.

Cash flows froff m derivative instrumrr ents that are designated as cash floff w hedges are classified in the same category arr s the cash

flows froff m the underlying hedged items. In the event that hedge accounting is discontinued, cash floff ws related to changes in

fair value subsequent to the date of discontinuance are classified within investing activities.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Hc edHH gedd s

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar on our results of operations and finff ancial

condition, and we mitigate that exposure by entering into forff eign currency forff ward contracts. Certain of our subsu idiaries

periodically enter into forff eign currency forff ward contracts in order to hedge portions of forecasted sales or cost of sales

denominated in foreign currencies, which generally mature within one year. At December 29, 2023, our foreign currency

forward contracts will primarily hedge a portion of our 2024 foreign currency exposure.

The forff eign currency forff ward contracts qualifyiff ng as cash floff w hedges were designated as single-purposrr e cash floff w hedges of

forecasted cash floff ws.

We had the following outstanding foreign currency forff ward contracts as of December 29, 2023 (in millions):

Foreign currency contracts qualifyiff ng as cash flow hedges: Notional amount

British pound GBP 5.9

Euro EUR 67.8

Interest Rate Contratt ctstt

We are exposed to fluctuations in variable interest rates on our results of operations and finff ancial condition, and we mitigate

that exposure by entering into interest rate swapsa . During 2018, we entered into interest rate swapsa in order to hedge the risk of

the fluff ctuat tion on futff urt e interest payments related to our variable rate LIBOR-based borrowings through 2028. We amended

our Second A&R Credit Agreement and our interest rate swaps to transition froff m LIBOR to SOFR as a referff ence rate effeff ctive

January 3rr , 2023. Refer to our discussion of New Accounting Pronouncements - Adopted in Note 2, “Summary of Signii fii cant

Accounting Policies” forff further inforff mation.

Gains or losses on interest rate swapsa are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and are subsu equently reclassified into

earnings as the interest expense on debt is recognized in earnings. At December 29, 2023, the notional value of interest rate

contracts outstanding was $400 million, with $200 million maturing in June 2024 and the remaining $200 million maturing in

2028.

The folff lowing tabla e refleff cts the fair values of derivative instrumrr ents, which are designated as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy,

as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments(1)

Foreign exchange contracts Interest rate swaps Total

Balance Sheet location:
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022

Asset derivatives:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 0.1 $ — $ 2.1 $ — $ 2.2 $ —

Other noncurrent assets — — 5.8 15.8 5.8 15.8

Total asset derivatives $ 0.1 $ — $ 7.9 $ 15.8 $ 8.0 $ 15.8

Liability derivatives:

Accounts payable and accruerr d expenses $ 0.4 $ 6.5 $ — $ — $ 0.4 $ 6.5

Other noncurrent liabia lities — 0.2 — — — 0.2

Total liability derivatives $ 0.4 $ 6.7 $ — $ — $ 0.4 $ 6.7
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(1) See Note 18, “Fair Value MeaMM surements,tt ” forff fair value disclosures.

We expect that $$2.3 illimillio on f the net faiff r value of our cash floff w hedges recognized as a net gain in accumulated other

comprehensive loss will be transferff red to earnings during the next 12 months, and the remaining net gain of $$2.1 imillillion over

the folff lowing 5 years, along with the earnings effect of the related forecasted transactions.

The folff lowing tabla e refleff cts the effeff ct of derivative instrumrr ents on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income forff

the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022 (U.S. dollars in millions):

Net amount of (loss) gain
recognized in other comprehensive

income on derivatives

Derivative Instruments
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022

Foreign exchange contracts $ 4.0 $ 7.5

Interest rate swaps, net of tax (6.2) 39.4

Total $ (2.2) $ 46.9

18. Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Fo inFF anciali Instrutt mentstt

Our derivative assets or liabilities include foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives that are measured at fair value using

observabla e market inputs such as forff ward rates, interest rates, and our own credit risk as well as an evaluation of our

counterparr rties’ credit risks. We use an income appra oach to value our outstanding foreign currency and interest rate

hedges, which consists of a discounted cash floff w model that takes into account the present value of futff urtt e cash floff ws under the

terms of the contracts using current market information as of the measurement date such as forff eign currency spot rate, forward

rates and interest rates. Additionally, we include an element of defauff lt risk based on observabla e inputs into the fair value

calculation. Based on these inputs, the derivative assets or liabia lities are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

The folff lowing tabla e provides a summary of the faiff r values of our derivative finff ancial instruments measured on a recurring basis

(U.S. dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurements

Foreign currency forward
contracts, net liability

Interest rate contracts, net
asset

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

December 29,
2023

December 30,
2022

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1) $ — $ — $ — $ —

Significant other observabla e inputs (Level 2) (0.3) (6.7) 7.9 15.8

Significant unobservabla e inputs (Level 3) — — — —

Refer to Note 14, “Retirement and Othett r EmpEE loyeeo Benefitse ” forff further faiff r value disclosures related to pension assets.

In estimating our fair value disclosures for finff ancial instruments, we use the following methods and assumptions:

Cash and cash equivalents:tt The carrying amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets forff these items approximates faiff r

value dued to their liquid naturt e and are classified as Level 1.
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Trade accounts rtt eceivable and othett r accounts rtt eceivable, net: The carrying value reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

for these items is net of allowances, which includes a degree of counterparr rty non-performance risk and are classified as Level 2.

Accounts ptt ayable and othett r current liabilities: The carrying value reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets forff these items

approximates their fair value, which is the likely amount for which the liabia lity with short settlement periods would be

transferff red to a market participant with a similar credit standing as ours and are classified as Level 2.

Long-term debt: The carrying value of our long-term debt reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets appra oximates their fair

value since they bear interest at variable rates which contain an element of default risk. The faiff r value of our long-term debt is

estimated using Level 2 inputs based on quoted prices for those or similar instrumrr ents. Referff to Note 11, “De“ bt.”

Fair Value of No onNN -FinFF anciali Assets

Our non-financial assets, including property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and other intangible assets are measured at fair

value on a non-recurring basis and are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances. During the fourth quarter of

2023, we recorded an impairment charge of $21.6 million related to goodwill in our prepared foods reporting unit. The faiff r

value of the prepared foods reporting unit was estimated based on an analysis of the present value of future discounted cash

flows. The significant estimates used in the discounted cash floff ws model included our weighted average cost of capital,

projected cash floff ws, and long-term rate of growth. The fair value measurements were primarily based on significant inputs that

are not observabla e in the market and thus represent a Level 3 measurement.

Long-lived assets are reviewed forff impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of

the assets may not be recoverabla e. The estimated faiff r value of the long-lived assets is based on discounted future cash flows of

the asset or asset group using a discount rate commensurate with the risk. During the year ended December 29, 2023, long-lived

assets with an aggregate carrying value of $202.6 million were written down to their fair value of $93.0 million, resulting in an

asset impairment charge of $109.6 million. The faiff r value of the long-lived assets was estimated based on an analysis of the

present value of future discounted cash flows and third-party asset appraisals. Significant estimates used in the discounted cash

flows model included our weighted average cost of capital, projeo cted cash floff ws, and long-term rate of growth. The fair value

measurements used in the discounted cash floff ws model were primarily based on significant inputs that are not observabla e in the

market and thus represent a Level 3 measurement.

As of December 29, 2023, we had $4.5 million in property, plant and equipment meeting the criteria of assets held for sale:$2.9

million related to a packaging plant in South America, and the remaining $1.6 million related to facff ilities and farm land in

Central America. These assets are recognized at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. During 2023, we received

proceeds of $119.4 million and recorded a gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net of $40.9 million from the sale

of assets previously held for sale. Included in these proceeds are $23.0 million of net proceeds we received related to the sale of

an idle production facff ility in North America during 2023, resulting in a gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net

of $6.8 million. Contemporaneously with the execution of the sale and purchase agreement, we entered into an operating lease

agreement in which we leased back a portion of the facility for a term of 21 months.

We recorded additional asset impairment and other charges during the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022,

that do not fall under the scope of fair value measurement. Refer to Note 3, “As“ set ImpII airment and Othett r (Cr(( edit) Ct harCC ger s,

Net”.

19. Related Party Transactions

Advances and receivabla es due from related parties were $3.4 million in 2023 and $1.6 million in 2022.

Payabla es to related parties were $0.1 million in 2023 and $15.3 million in 2022. Due to the acquisition of its noncontrolling

interest in our subsu idiary, the 2022 balance included $14.7 million in accounts payable and accruerr d expenses froff m one Mann

Packing grower which was no longer considered a related party as of December 29, 2023.

We incurred expenses of approximately $0.3 million in 2023, $2.5 million in 2022 and $2.4 million in 2021 for chartered air

transportation services from an aircraft mff anagement company in which our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has an

ownership interest.
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Other purchases from related parties were $46.1 million in 2023 compared to $109.4 million in 2022 and $119.6 million in

2021, of which $43.0 million forff 2023, $107.1 million forff 2022 and $117.4 million forff 2021 were related to one Mann Packing

grower.

Related party leases include a building and land in North America primarily related to one Mann Packing grower. Due to the

acquisition of its noncontrolling interest in our subsu idiary, this grower was no longer considered a related party as of

December 29, 2023. Prior to the date of our acquisition of its noncontrolling interest, expenses incurred associated with these

leases were $0.7 million forff 2023, $1.2 million forff 2022 and $1.2 million for 2021. The right-of-use asset and liabia lities under

these related party leases were $5.9 million and $6.2 million in 2022.

Sales to related parties amounted to $1.0 million in 2023, $1.0 million in 2022 and $0.9 million in 2021.

Cash distributions to noncontrolling interests were $17.9 million in 2023, $0.9 million in 2022 and $6.5 million in 2021. We

have reflected the cash distributions to noncontrolling interests under finff ancing activities in our Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows. We had $2.0 million as of December 30, 2022 in other noncurrent liabia lities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

related to one of our noncontrolling interests. No amounts were owed to noncontrolling interests as of December 29, 2023.

20. Business Segment Data

We are principally engaged in the producdd tion, distribution and marketing of freff sh and value-added products and bananas. Our

producdd ts are sold in markets throughout the world and our majoa r producing operations are located in North, Central and South

America, Asia and Africa.

Our business is comprised of three reportabla e segments, two of which represent our primary businesses of freff sh and value-

added products and banana, and one that represents our other ancillary businesses.

� Fresh and value-added products - includes pineapples, freff sh-cut fruirr t, fresh-cut vegetabla es (which includes freff sh-cut

salads), melons, vegetables, non-tropical fruirr t (which includes grapea s, apples, citrusrr , blueberries, strawberries, pears,

peaches, plums, nectarines, cherries and kiwis), other fruff it and vegetables, avocados, and prepared foods (which

includes prepared fruff it and vegetables, juices, other beverages, and meals and snacks).

� Banana

� Other products and services - includes our third-party freff ight and logistic services business and our Jordanian poultryrr

and meats business.

We evaluate performance based on several factors, of which net sales and gross profit are the primary financial measures (U.S.

dollars in millions):

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net Sales
Gross
Profitff Net Sales

Gross
Profitff Net Sales

Gross
Profit

Fresh and value-added
products $ 2,477.8 $ 167.3 $ 2,581.8 $ 183.0 $ 2,504.8 $ 180.2

Banana 1,638.2 163.3 1,619.8 120.7 1,581.1 110.9

Other products and
services 204.7 20.1 240.7 36.5 166.1 12.7

Totals $ 4,320.7 $ 350.7 $ 4,442.3 $ 340.2 $ 4,252.0 $ 303.8
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The folff lowing tabla e indicates our net sales by product (U.S. dollars in millions) and, in each case, the percentage of the total

represented thereby:

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022 December 31, 2021

Segments:

Fresh and value-added products:

Fresh-cut fruff it $ 536.2 12 % $ 524.7 12 % $ 493.5 12 %

Fresh-cut vegetables 327.7 8 % 341.4 8 % 366.3 9 %

Pineapples 622.3 14 % 584.6 13 % 534.4 13 %

Avocados 271.2 6 % 311.4 7 % 320.2 7 %

Non-tropical fruff it 152.5 4 % 179.8 4 % 185.2 4 %

Prepared foods 270.9 6 % 293.4 6 % 281.2 6 %

Melons 95.7 2 % 94.4 2 % 67.6 2 %

Tomatoes 18.7 — % 23.8 1 % 29.5 1 %

Vegetabla es 112.2 3 % 137.3 3 % 136.6 3 %

Other fruff it and vegetables 70.4 2 % 91.0 2 % 90.3 2 %

Total freff sh and value-added products 2,477.8 57 % 2,581.8 58 % 2,504.8 59 %

Banana 1,638.2 38 % 1,619.8 37 % 1,581.1 37 %

Other products and services 204.7 5 % 240.7 5 % 166.1 4 %

Total $ 4,320.7 100 % $ 4,442.3 100 % $ 4,252.0 100 %

The folff lowing tabla e indicates our net sales by geographic region (U.S. dollars in millions):

Year ended

Net sales by geographic region:
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022
December 31,

2021

North America $ 2,578.7 $ 2,721.3 $ 2,570.2

Europe 830.9 760.5 696.5

Asia 446.4 451.0 488.4

Middle East 384.9 427.9 433.0

Other 79.8 81.6 63.9

Total net sales $ 4,320.7 $ 4,442.3 $ 4,252.0

North America accounted for appra oximately 60% of our net sales for 2023, 61% for 2022 and 60% for 2021. Our earnings are

heavily dependent on operations located worldwide; however, our net sales are not dependent on any particular country other

than the United States, with no other country accounting forff greater than 10% of our net sales in 2023, 2022 and 2021. These

operations are a significant factor in the economies of some of the countries in which we operate and are subju ect to the risks that

are inherent in operating in such countries, including government regulations, currency and ownership restrictions and risk of

expropriation.

Walmart accounted for 9% of our net sales in 2023, 8% of net sales in 2022 and 7% in 2021. These sales are reported in the

banana and freff sh and value-added products segments. In 2023, our top 10 customers accounted for approxa imately 31% of net

sales as compared with 29% durd ing 2022 and 30% for 2021.
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The folff lowing tabla es indicate our (i) property, plant, and equipment, net by location and (ii) total assets by location (U.S. dollars

in millions):

Property, plant and equipment, net:
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022

North America $ 175.5 $ 191.7

Europe 34.9 28.8

Middle East 52.5 49.2

Afriff ca 37.0 37.8

Asia 94.4 104.5

Central America 624.7 635.5

South America 51.7 66.4

Maritime equipment (including containers) 181.2 190.1

Corporate 4.5 5.5

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,256.4 $ 1,309.5

Total assets:
December 29,

2023
December 30,

2022

North America $ 744.8 $ 929.0

Europe 349.4 330.6

Middle East 239.1 281.7

Afriff ca 150.9 164.2

Asia 242.1 250.4

Central America 1,020.5 1,023.1

South America 134.5 170.1

Maritime equipment (including containers) 187.7 193.7

Corporate 115.1 116.1

Total assets $ 3,184.1 $ 3,458.9

Management reviews assets on the basis of geographic region and not by reportabla e segment, which more closely aligns our

capital investment with demand for our products. Costa Rica is our most significant sourcing location and represented

approximately 36% of our property, plant and equipment as of December 29, 2023. Excluding the U.S., no other country other

than Costa Rica accounted for greater than 10% of our property, plant and equipment as of the years ended December 29, 2023

and December 30, 2022.

Total assets by geographic area represent those assets used in the operations of each geographic area.
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21. Shareholders’ Equity

Our shareholders have authorized 50,000,000 preferff red shares at $0.01 par value, of which none are issued or outstanding at

December 29, 2023, and 200,000,000 ordinary shares of common stock at $0.01 par value, of which 47,629,018 were issued

and outstanding at December 29, 2023.

The below is a summary of the dividends paid per share for the years ended December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022. These

dividends were declared and paid within the same fisff cal quarter.

Year ended

December 29, 2023 December 30, 2022

Dividend Payment
Date

Cash Dividend per
Ordinary Share

Dividend Payment
Date

Cash Dividend per
Ordinary Share

December 8, 2023 $ 0.20 December 9, 2022 $ 0.15

September 8, 2023 0.20 September 9, 2022 0.15

June 9, 2023 0.20 June 10, 2022 0.15

March 31, 2023 0.15 April 1, 2022 0.15

We paid $35.9 million in dividends during fisff cal 2023 and $28.7 million durdd ing fisff cal 2022.

In addition, on Februarr ry 23, 2024, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of twenty-five cents ($0.25) per share,

payabla e on March 29, 2024 to shareholders of record on March 7, 2024.

22. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest Acquisition

As part of the Mann Packing acquisition in 2018, we acquired a put option exercisable by the 25% shareholder of one of the

acquired subsidiaries. The put option allowed the noncontrolling shareholder to sell its 25% noncontrolling interest to us forff a

multiple of the subsidiary'rr s adjusted earnings. As the put option was outside of our control, the carrying value of the 25%

noncontrolling interest was presented as a redeemable noncontrolling interest outside of permanent equity on our Consolidated

Balance Sheet. At each reporting period, the redeemable noncontrolling interest was recognized at the higher of (1) the initial

carrying amount adjud sted for accumulated earnings and distributions or (2) the contractuat lly-definff ed redemption value as of the

balance sheet date.

During June 2023, the noncontrolling shareholder exercised its put option right and accordingly, the Company closed the

purchase of the remaining 25% of this subsu idiary for $5.2 million in cash consideration. The transaction was accounted for as

an equity transaction, with the diffeff rential between the redeemable noncontrolling interest carrying amount at the time of

closing and the cash purchase price being recognized as a $42.7 million increase in paid-in capital within shareholders' equity

on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts

Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. and Subsidiaries

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Additions

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Charged to
Other
Accounts Deducd tions

Balance at
End of
Period

Year ended December 29, 2023

Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Valuation accounts:

Trade accounts receivabla e $ 21.6 $ 2.5 $ — $ (3.3) $ 20.8

Advances to growers and other receivabla es 5.7 0.2 — (0.3) 5.6

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 483.5 62.2 (7.3) (12.7) 525.7

Current and noncurrent accruerr d liabia lities:

Provision for KuniKK a Well Site 2.8 (0.1) — — 2.7

Total $ 513.6 $ 64.8 $ (7.3) $ (16.3) $ 554.8

Year ended December 30, 2022

Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Valuation accounts:

Trade accounts receivabla e $ 21.8 $ 0.7 $ (0.1) $ (0.8) $ 21.6

Advances to growers and other receivabla es 3.8 2.0 — (0.1) 5.7

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 424.8 66.0 0.2 (7.5) 483.5

Current and noncurrent accruerr d liabia lities:

Provision for KuniKK a Well Site 12.9 (10.1) — — 2.8

Total $ 463.3 $ 58.6 $ 0.1 $ (8.4) $ 513.6

Year ended December 31, 2021

Deducted froff m asset accounts:

Valuation accounts:

Trade accounts receivabla e $ 28.5 $ (1.6) $ (5.1) $ — $ 21.8

Advances to growers and other receivabla es 3.7 0.5 — (0.4) 3.8

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 370.7 72.3 (1.7) (16.5) 424.8

Current and noncurrent accruerr d liabia lities:

Provision for KuniKK a Well Site 13.0 (0.1) — — 12.9

Total $ 415.9 $ 71.1 $ (6.8) $ (16.9) $ 463.3
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supeu rvision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive

Offiff cer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effeff ctiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures

as of December 29, 2023. Based uponu this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiff cer concluded that

our disclosure controls and procedurdd es were effeff ctive as of such date to ensure that inforff mation required to be disclosed in the

reports we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SEC rules and forms. Such offiff cers also confirff m that there was no change in our internal control over finff ancial

reporting durd ing the quarter ended December 29, 2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonabla y likely to materially affecff t,

our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Managea ment’s Annual Report on IntII ertt nal ConCC trol Over Finaii ncial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finff ancial reporting, as defined

in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over finff ancial reporting is designed under the

supeu rvision of our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer to provide

reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over finff ancial reporting includes

those policies and procedurdd es that:

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and

dispositions of our assets;

2. Provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial statements

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

3. Provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition

of our assets that could have a material effeff ct on the finff ancial statements.

Under the supeu rvision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effeff ctiveness of our internal control

over finff ancial reporting, based on criteria established in Internal Contrott l-Integre ated Frameworkrr issued in 2013 by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this assessment, management

determined that our internal control over finff ancial reporting was effeff ctive as of December 29, 2023 based on the criteria in

Internal Contrott l - Integre ated Frameworkrr issued in 2013 by COSO.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futff urt e periods are subjeb ct to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurdd es may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 29, 2023 has been audited by Ernst &

Young LLP, an independent registered certifieff d public accounting firff m, as stated in their report that is included elsewhere

herein. That report expresses an unqualifieff d opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 TraTT dingii Planll s

During the quarter ended December 29, 2023, no director or officff er of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1

trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not appla icable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officff ers and Corporate Governance

Information required by Item 10 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be included in our definitive Proxy

Statement relating to our 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to directors, executive officff ers, audit

committee finff ancial experts of the Company and Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance, and is incorporrr ated

herein by reference in response to this item.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Business Ethics Policy (“Code of Conduct”) that appla ies to our principal executive

offiff cer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officff er as well as all our directors, other officers and employees. Our

Code of Conduct can be found on our website at www.freshdelmonte.com. We have not waived the requirements of the Code

of Conduct forff any directors or executive officers and there were no amendments in 2023. We intend to disclose any

amendment or waiver of the Code of Conduct promptly on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by Item 11 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be included in our definitive Proxy

Statement relating to our 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to executive compensation, and is

incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be included in our definitive Proxy

Statement relating to our 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial

owners and management and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, and is incorporated herein by

reference in response to this item.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by Item 13 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be included in our definitive Proxy

Statement relating to our 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to certain relationships and related

transactions and director independence, and is incorporr rated herein by referff ence in response to this item.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by Item 14 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be included in our definitive Proxy

Statement relating to our 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to principal accountant feesff and services,

and is incorporr rated by referff ence in response to this item.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents and Other Finaii ncial InfII orff marr tion

The folff lowing financial statements and supplu emental scheduld e of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. and its subsu idiaries are

included in Item 8. Financial StaSS tements att nd Supplementary Data of this Report:

Consolidll atdd edtt Finaii ncial StaSS tementstt

Report of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income forff the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and
December 31, 2021

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forff the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest forff the years ended December 29,
2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Supplpp emll ental FinFF anciali Stattt emtt ent SchSS edulell

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts

Exhibii tsii

The exhibits listed below are incorporrr ated in this Report by referff ence, except forff those indicated by “*” which are filff ed

herewith (see accompanying Exhibit Index)

3.1 Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 27, 2019)

3.2 Amended and Restated Articles of Association of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 27, 2019)

3.3 Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2022).

4.1 Specimen Certificff ate of Ordinary Srr hares of Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 30, 2022).

4.2 Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q
of our fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2023).

Exhibit No. Description
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10.1
License Agreement, dated as of December 5, 1989, between Del Monte Corporrr ation and Waferff Limited
(the “DMC-Waferff License”) (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Annual Report on Form
10-K of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.2 License Agreement, dated as of December 5, 1989, between Del Monte Corporr ration and Del Monte
Tropical Fruit Company, North America (the “NAJ License”) (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.3 License Agreement, dated as of December 5, 1989, between Del Monte Corporrr ation and Del Monte Fresh
Fruirr t International, Inc. (incorporr rated by referff ence to Exhibit 10.3 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of
our fisff cal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.4 Amendment No. 1 to DMC-Waferff License, dated as of October 12, 1992, between Del Monte
Corporation and Wafer Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of our Annual Report on Form
10-K of our fiscal year ended December 30, 2022).

10.5 Amendment No. 1 to NAJ License, dated as of October 12, 1992, between Del Monte Corporrr ation and
Del Monte Fresh Produce N.A., Inc. (incorporr rated by referff ence to Exhibit 10.5 of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 30, 2022).

10.6 Amendment No. 1 to Direct DMC-DMFFI License, dated as of October 12, 1992, between Del Monte
Corporation and Del Monte Fresh Producd e International, Inc. (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 15, 1997, by and between Fresh Del Monte and FG
Holdings Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.8 Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated as of August 29, 1997, by and between the Registrant and IAT
Group Inc. (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021).

10.9** Amended and Restated Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. 1999 Share Incentive Plan, effeff ctive as of April 30,
2008 (reflects Amendment No. 1, dated May 1, 2002, Amendments No. 2 through 5 dated April 27, 2005
and Amendment No. 6 dated April 30, 2008) (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended June 27, 2008).

10.10** 2011 Performance Incentive Plan forff the Chief Executive Offiff cer (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended April 1, 2011).

10.11** Executive Retention and Severance Agreement (Chairman & CEO) (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended March 28, 2008).

10.14** 2011 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A in the Company's Definff itive
Proxy Statement on Scheduld e 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 24,
2011).

10.15** 2014 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A in the Company's Definff itive
Proxy Statement on Scheduld e 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31,
2014).
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10.16** Amendment to the Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. 2014 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan effective
November 1, 2017 (incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of
our fiscal year ended December 29, 2017).

10.17 Settlement Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2017, by and among Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc., Del Monte
Pacific Limited and Del Monte Foods, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended June 29, 2018).

10.18 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2019 by and among Fresh Del
Monte Produce Inc., and certain subsu idiaries named therein and the lenders and agents named therein
(incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 7, 2019).

10.18(a) Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 30,
2022 by and among Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc., and certain subsu idiaries named therein and the lenders
and agents named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18(a) of our Annual Report on Form
10-K of our fiscal year ended December 30, 2022).

10.19 Second Amended and Restated Company Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2019, between
Fresh Del Monte Produce Inc. and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporrr ated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 7, 2019).

10.20 Second Amended and Restated Subsu idiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2019, by and
among each of the Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent
(incorporrr ated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 7, 2019).

10.21** Severance Agreement and General and Full Release, dated as of January 21, 2022, by and among Del
Monte Fresh Produce Company and Youssef Zakharia (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 2rr 7, 2022).

10.22** Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award issued pursuant to the provisions of the 2014
Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of our Annual Report on Form
10-K of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.23** Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award issued pursuant to the provisions of the 2014 Omnibus Share
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.24** Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award issued pursuant to the provisions of the
2014 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021).

10.25** 2022 Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Form S-8 fileff d with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 9, 2022).

10.26** Form of 2022 Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.25 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2022).

10.27** Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award issued pursuant to the provisions of the 2022
Omnibus Share Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of our fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2022).
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10.28** Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award issued pursuant to the provisions of the 2022 Omnibus Share
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of our
fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2022).

10.29* Form of Indemnificff ation and Advancement Agreement between individual directors and Fresh Del Monte
Inc.

21.1* List of Subsu idiaries.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm.

31.1* Certificff ation of Chief Executive Officer filed pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a).

31.2* Certificff ation of Chief Financial Officer filed pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a).

32* Certificff ations of Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to 17 CFR
240.13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

97.1* Dodd-Frank Executive Officer Clawback Policy

101.INS*,*** Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH*,***
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL*,***
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF*,*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB*,***
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document.

101.PRE*,*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data fileff does not appear in the Interactive
Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Exhibit No. Description

* Filed herewith.

** Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

*** Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the folff lowing formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2023 and December 30, 2022, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021,
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income forff the years ended December 29, 2023, December 30,
2022 and December 31, 2021, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows forff the years ended December 29,
2023, December 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not appla icable.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized.

FRESH DEL MONTE PRODUCE INC.

Date: February 2rr 6, 2024 By: /s/ Mss ohamMM mad Abu-Ghazaleh

Mohammad Abu-Ghazaleh

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 2rr 6, 2024 By: /s/ Mss oniMM ca Vicente

Monica Vicente

Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folff lowing

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated below on the 26th day of Februarr ry, 2024:

/s/ Mss ohamMM mad Abu-Ghazaleh

By Mohammad Abu-Ghazaleh

Chairman & Chief Executive Offiff cer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Mss oniMM ca Vicente

By Monica Vicente

Senior Vice President & Chief Financial
Offiff cer (Principal Financial & Accounting

Offiff cer)

/s/ Ass mir Abu-Ghazaleh

By Amir Abu-Ghazaleh

Director

/s/ Mss icMM hael J. BJJ erthelot

By Michael J. Berthelot

Director

/s/ Mss arMM y Ar nn Cloyd

By Mary Ann Cloyd

Director

/s/ Css harCC les E. Beard Jr.

By Charles E. Beard Jr.

Director

/s/ Ass jaA i Puri

By Ajai Puri

Director

/s/ Lss ori TaubeTT r MarMM cus

By Lori Tauber Marcus

Director

By /s/ Ass hmad Abu-Ghazaleh

Ahmad Abu-Ghazaleh

Director
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